
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 5 November 2019 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 3.00 pm, 
Queen Elizabeth Room, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Joyce Plummer, Loraine Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 26) 
 
To approve the minutes of the last meeting of the Cabinet held on 12th September 2019. 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

4.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

5.   Gypsy and Traveller Planning Policy (Local Plan Regulation 18(3) Consultation)  
(Pages 27 - 166) 
 
Report attached. 
 

6.   Political Canvassing on Broadway Accrington and Town Square Great Harwood  
(Pages 167 - 174) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council (Councillor Paul Cox) 
 

7.   Littering and Dog Fouling Enforcement - 12 Month Update  (Pages 175 - 180) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Accrington Markets - Review of Rents and Charges  (Pages 181 - 184) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

9.   Annual Ombudsman Letter 2019  (Pages 185 - 188) 
 
Report attached. 
 

10.   Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing  (Pages 189 - 194) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration (Councillor Loraine Cox) 
 

11.   Lease Renewal - Hyndburn Voluntary & Community Resource Centre, St James 
Old School Building, Cannon Street, Accrington  (Pages 195 - 202) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

12.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended  That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 

Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
following items, when it is likely, in view of the nature of the 
proceedings that there will otherwise be disclosure of exempt 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

information within the Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act 
specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 
 
NIL 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Thursday, 12th September, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox, 

Munsif Dad BEM JP, Joyce Plummer, Loraine Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Tony Dobson, Marlene Haworth, June Harrison, Dave Parkins 
and Paddy Short. 

  

 
106 Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair 
of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, who may attend the meeting in 
accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B11. 
 

107 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 

Councillors M Parkinson, P Cox and T Dobson declared a personal interest in 
Agenda Item 13 – Barnfield & Hyndburn Partnership, on the basis that they served 
as directors on the Partnership’s Management Board.  There were no reported 
dispensations. 
 

108 Minutes of Cabinet 
 

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 17th July 2019 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
In connection with Minute 68 – Housing Renewal Policy, The Leader of the 
Conservative Group, Councillor Tony Dobson, enquired about the promotion of and 
levels of awareness of the new Policy, particularly in the light of greater accessibility 
by those in need to additional Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funding.  Councillor 
Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder Housing and Regeneration, responded that a cross-
party working group had now been established and indications were that key 
partners were already aware of the new Policy.  The Leader of the Council indicated 
that the Lancashire Leaders Group had recently discussed the issue of maximising 
DFG funding. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

109 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 

The minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group – 10th June 2019 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

110 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 

Councillor Munsif Dad, Portfolio Holder Education, Leisure and Arts, reported that a 
family fun day had been held within the Asian community to enhance the entrance 
to Woodnook Vale Nature Reserve by planting wild flowers to provide a vibrant 
colony of native vegetation and habitat for bees and butterflies.  The wild flower mix 
included yellow rattle seed, which supresses the growth of grasses.  The event was 
well attended by young people who were passionate about the project and who 
would continue to support the environment through litter picks. 
 
Councillor Dobson reported that a similar scheme by Onward Homes to plant wild 
flowers in Oswaldtwistle had produced a spectacular display.  However, the flower 
tubs in the town centre needed some attention.  The Leader of the Council 
commented that the planting of traditional flower tubs had been affected by budget 
pressures, although it might be possible to introduce green plants which required 
lower levels of maintenance and to review the financial situation next spring. 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, reported that the Council had 
been successful in receiving its eighth Green Flag award in connection with 
Rhyddings Park.  That meant that Hyndburn was number one in Lancashire for 
Green Flag status and could be justifiably proud.  Members were pleased with the 
awards, which could be achieved at little extra cost by harnessing the passion and 
desire of local people.  Tribute was paid to the various ‘Friends of’ groups who had 
contributed their time and energy to the parks.  The Leader of the Council reiterated 
that the Council was often an enabler, working with community and voluntary 
groups to bring investment into the Borough. 
 
Councillor Paul Cox also reminded Members of the success of Amazing 
Accrington’s Big Weekend held from 23rd to 25th August 2019.  The festivities 
included Accrington’s Biggest Quiz on Friday, a Pop Party on Saturday and the 
Fantastical Forest Parade on Sunday.  Over 5,000 people had attended the events.  
Activities such as this were helping to generate more footfall in the town centre. 
 

111 Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD - Regulation 18(2) Consultation 
Summary and Representations 
 

The Leader of the Council reported on the outcome of the second public 
consultation exercise held on the Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD 
(held 26th February 2019 – 8th April 2019), and sought Cabinet approval of the next 
stages of work on the Local Plan.  Members were also advised that a Member 
Briefing was due to be held on Monday 16th September 2019 on ‘The Future of 
Housing in the Borough’. 
 
Councillor Dave Parkins commented that he had noted that the majority of 
responses about Huncoat Garden Village had been positive, with only a small 
number of negative replies.  The proposals dealt with wider issues including the 
provision of schools.  The Leader of the Council reminded Members of Hyndburn’s 
previous success in regeneration issues including the Pickle Factory in 
Oswaldtwistle and the Rishton Canalside development.  Huncoat Garden Village 
was a much larger scale project and broad engagement would be required.  The 
scheme would involve education and healthcare provision, as well as green spaces. 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
Approval of the Report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD form central parts of the new 
Local Plan for Hyndburn; the Core Strategy sets the strategic overarching planning 
policy framework for the Borough, including setting housing and employment growth 
figures; the Site Allocations DPD will identify specific sites for development to help 
meet the planned growth over the plan period, and also the sites to be protected 
from development. 
 
In February 2019, Council approved three consultation papers to be the subject of a 
public consultation exercise on the Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD.  
The consultation papers were: 
 

 Core Strategy Review: Regulation 18(2) Consultation Draft; 

 Core Strategy Review: Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper; 

and 

 Site Allocations DPD: Regulation 18(2) Consultation Draft. 

 
The report included further information on the following: 
 

 The consultation process; 

 Consultation responses; 

 Overview of representations; 

 Call for Sites update; and 

 Local Plan – next steps 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the outcome of the public 

consultation exercise and the representations 
received during the second stage of public 
consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

 
(2) That Cabinet agrees the ‘Proposed Council 

Response’ to representations and notes the 
proposed approach set out in this report on the next 
steps in preparing the Local Plan. 

 
112 Food and Safety Service Plan 2019/20 

 

Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, reported on a proposed Food 
and Safety Service Plan. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Food and Safety Service Plan is a document that is reviewed annually to 
ensure the service can meet demands and set out priorities for the coming year. 
 
The Plan has been updated to include inspection targets for 2019/20 and includes 
the following performance indicators: 
 

 To complete all inspections due in 2019/20 in the required timeframes; 

 To improve the % number of premises who have a food hygiene rating of 

zero, 1 or 2 that achieve a level of compliance within 6 months of the initial 

inspection (hygiene rating of 3 or above); and 

 To visit all new premises within 28 days of registration upon receipt by the 

Council. 

 
The Plan details work undertaken in the Borough and current levels of compliance.  
It also includes areas of health and safety work which are being undertaken this 
year in accordance with Health and Safety Executives (HSE) National Code for 
Local Authorities. 
 
The Plan provides focus to the team, Councillors, food business operators and 
consumers.  The Plan provides information on areas of work outside the Council’s 
statutory function such as the allergen initiative and allergen workshops for food 
businesses. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Without a Food and Safety Service Plan the Team cannot demonstrate the 
demands of the service against current resources as required by the Food 
Standards Agency (FSA) nor can they meet their statutory requirements. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approve the proposed Food and Safety 

Service Plan as appended to the report. 
 

113 Report of Urgent Cabinet Decision - Mercer Park Skate Boarding Facility 
 

Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, reported on an urgent decision 
taken under Executive Procedure Rule B16, in relation to the proposal to refurbish 
and improve the skate boarding facility at Mercer Park in Clayton le Moors.  The 
decision, taken on 20th August 2019, was as follows: 
 
That Cabinet continues to support the refurbishment and improvement of the skate 
boarding facility in Mercer Park as outlined in the report. 
 
That Cabinet agrees to the Council being the accountable body in respect of the 
project funding in accordance with the terms and conditions of relevant funding 
bodies. 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Deputy Head of Environmental Services in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder to take all reasonable steps to implement and 
complete the project, entering into necessary contractual agreements and obtaining 
all necessary permissions and consents. 
 
That Cabinet agrees to waive the Contract Procedure Rules to engage Proffitts CIC 
as Project Manager for the delivery phase of this scheme, as set out in paragraphs 
3.5 & 3.6 of the report. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Friends of Mercer Park are the longest standing Friends of Group in the 
Borough associated with a park.  Over the years the Friends of Mercer Park have 
worked with the Council to undertake numerous community projects and fund 
raising events which have benefitted the park.  
 
The outcome of a consultation undertaken by the Friends of Mercer Park showed 
that local residents and young people would like to see the refurbishment of the 
skate park facilities in Mercer Park. 
 
Funding bids were submitted to relevant funding bodies between July and 
December 2018.  The outcome was that funding bids to Sport England, Lancashire 
Environment Fund and Tesco were all successful. 
 
In addition to this external funding being secured, Cabinet agreed to contribute 
£25,000 to the project via the capital programme for financial year 2019/20, Friends 
of Mercer Park contributed £3,000 and Lancashire County Council contributed 
£600. 
 
Proffitts CIC, a community interest company who have expertise in green space 
improvement projects and audience development, submitted the funding bids as a 
co-applicant with the Council, at no cost to the Council.  This is because the 
mechanism used by the funding bodies allows any fees for time spent on 
developing a funding bid to be claimed directly from them during the delivery phase 
of the project.  
 
The Council and Proffitts CIC were co-applicants in securing the funding for this 
project and Proffitts CIC has the necessary skills fulfil the Project Manager role.  As 
such, the Council intends for Proffitts CIC to act as Project Manager for the delivery 
phase of the Project. 
 
The refurbished and improved skate boarding facility will provide a much better 
resource for the young people of the Borough to use. 
 
A tender exercise has been undertaken in line with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules and a successful contractor appointed.  The new skate facility is 
expected to be completed by the end of September 2019. 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not to continue with the delivery stage of skate park refurbishment in Mercer Park 
Clayton le Moors.  This is not recommended as grant funding has now been 
secured and the work can be undertaken as per the wishes of the local community. 
 
Resolved - To note the progress in relation to the proposal to 

refurbish and improve the skate boarding facility at 
Mercer Park in Clayton le Moors and the urgent 
decision taken on 20th August 2019 

 
114 Council Tax Support Consultation 

 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder Resources, reported on a proposal to 

commence a public consultation on plans to revise Hyndburn Council’s Council Tax 

Support Scheme for 2020/21.  It was envisaged that the outcome of the consultation 

would be reported to the Council in January 2020. 

 
Councillor Tony Dobson enquired about the possible provision of an All Member 
Briefing to consider the implications of the Funding Options highlighted. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In 2020/21, Council Tax Support (CTS) will be in its seventh year, having been 
devolved to Local Authorities nationally in 2013 following the abolition of Council 
Tax Benefit.  In 2013, Local Authorities were given a broad remit to design their own 
local CTS schemes for working age claimants, with pension age claimants still 
subject to a national scheme allowing up to 100% CTS. 
 
Prior to 2013, Council Tax Benefit was funded in full by the Government: when 
Council Tax Support was introduced, the Government reduced Hyndburn’s grant by 
10% of the previous year’s expenditure for all claimants and rolled future funding 
into the Revenue Support Grant. 
 
Along with the majority of other Local Authorities, the Council introduced a minimum 
payment level for working age CTS claimants in 2013/14.  The scheme also 
included four other changes designed to make the scheme fairer and to provide 
streamlined administration.  The Hyndburn scheme otherwise mirrored the old 
Council Tax Benefit scheme. 
 
Subsequent changes to Hyndburn’s CTS schemes have included provisions to 
mirror national changes to Housing Benefit and Universal Credit and minimum 
payment level increases from 20% to 27% in 2016/17 and to 30% from 2017/18.  
The Council’s scheme has been reviewed annually to ensure that it remains 
sustainable and the minimum payment levels remain at 30% today. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Council Tax Support cannot be considered in isolation: any changes to the scheme 
must be viewed in the context of national changes to benefits, (Universal Credit in 
particular), overall Council Tax increases (which increase CTS expenditure) and the 
end of the Revenue Support Grant from 2020/21.  In light of uncertainty around the 
Local Government Spending Review and the UK’s exit from the European Union, it 
is considered prudent at this point to review the Council’s CTS scheme and to 
conduct a public consultation on potential changes. 
 
The report included further information on the following: 
 

 Council Tax Increases; 

 Universal Credit; 

 Revenue Support Grant and Council Funding; 

 Consultation Proposals: 

o Funding Option 1: Increase the minimum payment level; 

o Funding Option 2: Increase Council Tax levels for all taxpayers; 

o Funding Option 3: Making savings by cutting or reducing other 

services; 

 Scheme Administration Changes; and 

 Impact of CTS Scheme Changes and Wider Considerations. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could choose not to consult on the Council Tax Support scheme and as 
such no changes could be made in 2020/21.  This would not allow the Council to 
consider the views of the local population or interested parties and would limit the 
authority’s options to fund the Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21 to either 
cutting services or raising Council Tax levels. 
 
This report requests only that a consultation is conducted at this stage and any 
eventual changes to the CTS scheme will be considered in light of responses 
received.  The option to continue with the current scheme remains after 
consultation. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet authorises the Deputy Chief Executive 

to commence a public consultation on plans to 
revise the current Council Tax Support Scheme from 
April 2020. 

 

(2) That Cabinet notes that the consultation will run for 

12 weeks from the 13th September 2019 to 5th 

December 2019 and will guide the final 

recommendations to be placed before Full Council 

for approval of the Council Tax Support Scheme by 

31st January 2020. 

 
115 Financial Position July 2019 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2020 

 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder Resources, reported on financial 
spending of the Council up to the end of July 2019 and the financial forecast outturn 
position for the Accounting Year 2019/20.  Members considered a table within the 
report, which set out the core financial details. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 4 months of the financial year to the end of July 2019 is 
£3,587,000 compared to a Budget of £3,651,000 giving a positive variance of 
£64,000 over the first 4 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2020 is 
£10,960,000 compared to a Budget of £10,994,000.  This forecast produces a 
positive variance of £34,000 by the end of the financial year.  There are small 
adverse forecasts on the outturn position for Planning & Transportation and 
Regeneration & Property Services, but larger adverse forecasts on Environmental 
Services and Policy & Corporate Governance.  All other areas are indicating a 
break even or surplus for the year. 
 
Environmental Services  
 
Environmental Services are predicting a year end adverse variance of £87,000.  
This stems from salary savings of £7,000 on Food Safety, £10,000 of additional 
expenditure on salaries on Waste Services and £2,000 of additional miscellaneous 
costs and £9,000 of less income generation against £103,000 of positive variance 
against Budgets on Recycling.  Parks & Cemeteries are predicting a break-even 
year end position, while the Town Centre and Market Halls Budget is indicating an 
overall adverse variance of £176,000, comprising £190,000 reduced income at the 
Market Hall and income from CCTV down by £10,000 less £13,000 of salary 
savings and £11,000 of miscellaneous cost savings. 
 
Culture & Leisure Services 
 
Culture and Leisure Services are indicating a breakeven position by the year-end. 
 
Planning & Transportation  
 
Planning & Transportation are predicting an adverse variance for the year of 
£21,000.  This is due to a predicted shortfall in income compared to budget on 
Building Control of £65,000.  Elsewhere on the Budget there are £17,000 of staff 
saving and £46,000 of additional income less £19,000 of miscellaneous additional 
expenditure. 
 
Regeneration & Property Services 
 
Regeneration & Property Services are predicting an adverse variance of £8,000 at 
year-end with salary costs up by £109,000 over the year compared to budget and 
expected additional costs of £41,000, less £142,000 of additional income. 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
Policy & Corporate Governance 
 
Policy & Corporate Governance are predicting an adverse variance of £171,000.  
This stems from salary savings of £75,000 less the Corporate Savings Target for 
the year of £165,000, predicted increases of £150,000 on Housing Benefit Costs, 
along with £21,000 of additional miscellaneous costs less £90,000 of additional 
income. 
 
Non Service Items 
 
The current estimate for the year is a positive variance of £321,000. 
 
There were no alternative options considered or reasons proposed for rejection 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report and asks the Corporate 

Management Team to continue to identify savings 

and increase income over the coming year to boost 

the overall surplus of the Council. 
 

116 Payments & Income Management System (PARIS) Replacement 
 

Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder Resources, reported on a proposal to 
waive standing order G7, as to contracts over £75,000, to upgrade the Council’s 
Payments and Income Management System.  The contract would be for a period of 
five years. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The existing software supplier is unable to support the outdated Paris software 
beyond the 12th January 2020 and the tight timescale to implement and test a new 
software system with the same functionality that also meets the requirements of the 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), means that officers 
have to identify a successful supplier by the 30th September 2019. 
 
The report refers to the corporate software known as Paris used throughout the 
Council for the collection of debit and credit card payments via the Council’s 
website, mediated payments processed by Council staff over the phone and the 
24/7 automated telephone service.  Additionally the software receives and 
processes all payment files from the Council’s bank accounts, Pay Points, 
Enforcement Agents and the Department for Work and Pensions.  The processing 
of these files includes validation and production of separate cash files for numerous 
services and systems in use throughout the Council, including an interface to the 
main accounting system.  The overall annual income that is processed is over 
£180m, which includes significant amounts in Council Tax and business Rates on 
behalf of the major preceptors, the Government, Lancashire County Council, the 
Lancashire Police and Crime Commissioner and the Lancashire Combined Fire 
Authority. 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 
This area of business is subject to the ever increasing demands of the Payment 
Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) and the upgrade will result in the 
provision of a fully hosted (by the supplier) solution which will meet the required 
standards and reduce the burden on the Council to demonstrate on-going 
compliance with these requirements through the required annual self-assessment 
process which is required by the Council’s Merchant Acquirer (Worldpay).  The 
consequences of any data breach could involve an imposition of significant fines on 
the Council, cause reputational damage, and even lead to the withdrawal of the 
Councils’ ability to process debit and credit card payments. 
 
To improve the Council’s PCI DSS compliance and protect both the Council and its 
customers from potential data breaches, it is necessary to upgrade both the 
Payments and Income Management systems. 
 
Upgrading the Payments and Income Management systems will provide the Council 
with the tools to better consolidate all its payment processes and improve 
compliance to PCI DSS going forward, as well as satisfying a number of other 
business requirements which the current systems do not meet. 
 
Failure to place a contract for a replacement system by 30th September will almost 
certainly place the Council in a position where it cannot accept debit and credit card 
payments from 13th January, 2020 for an unknown period.  This is a category 1 risk 
to the Council from a financial and reputational perspective. 
 
The report included further information on the following matters; 
 

 Current contract and existing system; 

 Proposed replacement solution; 

 Evaluation of quotations; 

 Main issues and procurement options; and  

 Financial / budget implications. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Alternative methods of procuring a supplier were considered not acceptable due to 
the restrictive timescale and the lack of alternative providers beyond the three from 
whom quotations are to be sought. 
 
Resolved (1) That the Cabinet waive contract standing orders G7 

(for contracts with a value of over £75,000) in not 
using the open tendering procedure with regard to 
this purchase on the grounds that it represents best 
value for money for the Council and the timescale 
does not allow a full tendering process. 

 
(2) Authorise the Deputy Chief Executive to accept the 

most economically advantageous proposal from 
three quotations and to award the successful 
supplier with a contract for a period of five years. 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 
117 Proposed Disposal of the Charter Street Site, Accrington 

 

Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder Regeneration and Housing, reported on a 
proposal to approve the disposal of the Council’s interest in the site at Charter 
Street, Accrington, for residential development, including accommodation for 
households on the Council’s housing register, with priority for homeless households 
and veterans. 
 
Councillor Tony Dobson indicated that he had been initially unsure about the 
proposal to discount the land and to provide additional one bed apartments in the 
Borough.  However, the Opposition Group was now happy to support the 
development based upon the model proposed.  The Leader of the Council 
commented that Councillor Paddy Short, Armed Forces Champion, had worked 
hard to bring this scheme to fruition.  The Council had previously signed the Armed 
Forces Covenant.  Given that the North West was a significant recruitment area for 
the Armed Forces, there was a strong argument for supporting this development.  A 
quality design would be produced in partnership with the Council. 
 
Councillor Paddy Short indicated that he had been involved in this project for over 
two years.  He explained the background to Building for Humanity CIC and its 
proposals to work with veterans and those requiring support around mental health 
issues.  Councillor Munsif Dad also commented that the proposals tied in closely 
with his Lancashire County Council and Borough Council responsibilities and that 
he viewed this as an exciting development, which would also reduce fly tipping in 
the area. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Over the last two years the Council has been in discussions with a local Community 
Interest Company known as Building for Humanity.  It is a not for profit construction 
company set-up in Hyndburn, but with its temporary address registered in Cornwall.  
Building for Humanity aims to provide affordable housing for deprived households 
on low income including homeless households and veterans. 
 
Building for Humanity has identified the Charter Street site, which is in the Council’s 
ownership, for the development of affordable housing for rent and a small number of 
affordable sales including shared ownership.  The proposed development will 
comprise of:- 
 

 15 one bedroom apartments; 

 15 two bedroom apartments; 

 3 four bedroom town houses; and 

 12 x 2 and 3 bedroom semi-detached houses. 

 
The Council is proposing to discount the land and therefore the purchaser would 
need to agree the standard of accommodation with the Council to ensure high 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

standards that are consistent with Homes England’s Design and Quality Standards, 
and that the apartments are self-contained with full facilities and not bedsits. 
 
The accommodation is a proposed mix of housing for sale, shared ownership and 
rent with the apartments let at affordable rents.  In return for a discounted land 
value, Building for Humanity would be required to grant the Council at least 50% 
nomination rights to the rented accommodation for initial lets and all relets. 
 
To date, Building for Humanity has not developed any accommodation units and 
therefore has no track record in developing and managing rented accommodation.  
For this reason the Council has insisted Building for Humanity have key 
reassurances in place to develop a residential scheme of this scale, which includes: 
 

 Written testimonials and commitments of finance from individual personal 

backers; 

 Offer of funding in principle subject to legal and financial terms from a 

specialist finance broker and lender; and 

 Partnership with a construction company with a track record in construction 

and development. 

 
There has been very limited interest in the Charter Street site for development for 
commercial, industrial or housing uses.  The only interest within the last ten years 
has been for a similar housing project, by a charity, for a combined industrial and 
housing use.  The site has a number of constraints that make it unattractive for 
development, including: 

 

 Steel works immediately south, and adjacent to the site; 

 Railway immediately to the north of the site; 

 Potentially contaminated land; and 

 Restricted access with no site frontage. 

 
The site extends to a gross area of approximately 2.25 acres.  The majority of the 
site is covered by one registered title in the Council’s ownership, but there may be 
some minor unregistered titles to the edge of the site but not significant at this 
stage.  In addition, the site is subject to restrictive covenants in favour of the 
adjoining railway, Network rail etc.  Any development proposals will require prior 
consent from these.  The actual site proposed for disposal may need to be adjusted 
to the north of the site to allow for the existing footpath and cycle way to be retained 
and therefore there is likely to be some adjustment to the site boundary, which 
would be agreed with the purchaser during legal transaction. 
 
The Council has valued the site for residential purposes at approximately £200,000.  
The Council are proposing to dispose of the site to Building for Humanity at nil value 
which would represent a sale at an under value.  In return, the Council would expect 
to set minimum design expectations and benefit from nomination rights for 
households on the housing register. 
 
The Council is permitted to sell land at an under value if it is satisfied that the 
disposal promotes the social, environmental or economic wellbeing of the Borough 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

or part of it or its residents.  In this case, the proposed disposal meets the wellbeing 
criteria for the following reasons: 
 

 Environmental – this is a less than attractive site that cannot be described as 

a good quality open space and therefore through development of the site 

there is an opportunity to improve on the local built environment. 

 Social – development of the site will provide much needed new housing 

accommodation for households in housing need including households on the 

Council’s housing register. 

 Economic – development of the site would help support the wider economy 

of Hyndburn. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could choose at this stage not to agree in principle to disposal of the 
site to Building for Humanity; however, this could mean forgoing an opportunity to 
provide new housing for households in housing need including homeless 
households and veterans. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the proposal made for the 

Council’s interest in the Charter Street site and 

agrees, in principle, to the proposed disposal of the 

site to Building for Humanity at nil value (being 

satisfied that the proposed disposal promotes the 

social, environmental or economic wellbeing of the 

Borough or part of it or its residents as set out in 

paragraph “3.8” of the report) subject to 

recommendations (2) and (3) below. 

 
(2) That Cabinet approves the advertisement of the 

Council’s intention to dispose of public open space 
in accordance with Section 123 (2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972  

(3) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of 
Regeneration and Housing as follows: 

 
i) to consider any responses received and, following 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing 

and Regeneration, to decide whether to proceed 

with the disposal of the Charter Street Site 

 
ii) subject to a decision being taken to proceed with 

the sale of the Charter Street site following 

consideration of the comments received in 

response to the consultation referred to in 

recommendation (2) above, to determine the terms 

of the disposal of the Charter Street site to 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

Building for Humanity, including design 

standards, disposal mechanism and the site 

boundaries, following consultation with the 

Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 

Services) and provided the sale is made subject to 

the following preconditions:  

 
a) The purchaser securing full planning consent 

for a residential development within nine 

months of this in principle Cabinet decision to 

dispose of the site that is acceptable to the 

purchaser and the landowner, and 

 
b) The purchaser commencing development 

within 6 months of securing a satisfactory 

planning consent for residential development. 

 
c) For the rented accommodation, the purchaser 

agreeing to grant the Council a minimum 50% 

nomination rights in perpetuity i.e. new lets 

and re-lettings of accommodation, and 

 
d) The purchaser becoming a registered provider 

with the Regulator of Social Housing before 

the transfer of ownership can be concluded. 

 
(4) That, following agreement and finalising terms for 

the disposal of the Council’s interest in the Charter 
Street site, Cabinet authorises the Executive Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) to finalise and 
execute all legal documents and arrangements to 
secure the disposal of the Charter Street site to the 
purchaser. 

 
118 Requests for Funding for the Operational Management of Council Buildings 

 

The Leader of the Council introduced a report of Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of 
the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which set out that Committee’s 
recommendations with regards to three individual requests for financial support 
towards the operational management of Council buildings. 
 
The Leader of the Council confirmed that a letter had been sent to Mercer House 
1842 requesting further information, following the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, but no response had been received to date.  Accordingly, the 
Cabinet would not consider this matter further today, but it was hoped that 
information would be available later in the year.  The matter might also be referred 
back to the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee at that time. 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 
15 

Councillor Marlene Haworth reported that she had attended the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meetings and was satisfied that the issues had been handled 
fairly and professionally by the Chair and the Committee and that recommendations 
had been proposed which ensured the use of public money was properly accounted 
for.  Councillor Munsif Dad indicated his support for the work of Hyndburn Arts Ltd 
and commented that Oswaldtwistle Civic Theatre and Arts Centre remained an 
important venue in the Borough.  In the interests of transparency, the Leader of the 
Council indicated that Gayle Knight, Managing Director of Hyndburn Arts was a 
member of the Labour Party and her husband was a serving Borough Councillor.  
However, her involvement with the Arts Centre pre-dated her political connections.  
In addition, the Management Board of the company comprised cross-party 
representation.  The Centre worked across the Borough and further afield to provide 
a vibrant arts and cultural offer.  The public were rallying to support the Centre and 
a special show would be provided soon by local actress and celebrity, Julie 
Hesmondhalgh. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee were asked to review three 
individual requests from external organisations for financial support towards the 
operational management of Council buildings. 
 
The requests were as follows: 
 
Hyndburn Arts Ltd – requesting £30,000 towards the operational management of 
the Civic Theatre and Arts Centre.  The main reason for the request was due to a 
number of unforeseen circumstances, particularly the cancellation of several high 
profile events (which was out of the control of Hyndburn Arts Ltd) occurring in a 
short space of time. 
 
Churchfield House Ltd – requesting £10,000 towards the operational management 
of Churchfield House, Great Harwood.  The main reason for the request was due to 
an unexpected water bill of over £6,000.  In order to prevent this happening year on 
year, Churchfield House Ltd will apply for charitable status which requires a certain 
level of reserves to be held. 
 
Mercer House 1842 – requesting £5,000 towards the operational management of 
Mercer House and the Arthur Wilson Centre.  The main reason for the request was 
for maintenance needs. 
 
The three organisations were invited to report to the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 30th July 2019 and to respond to questions.  The Committee 
asked a series of questions in advance of the meeting to all three organisations, 
designed to increase understanding of the financial circumstances of the requesting 
bodies.  Additional questions were also asked by Committee members at the 
meeting. 
 

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
16 

After the meeting on 30th July 2019, the Chair of the Committee received some 
further information relating to the request from Hyndburn Arts Trust.  The Chair 
therefore called this particular request back to Overview and Scrutiny for further 
review at a meeting on 5th September 2019.  At this meeting, additional financial 
information was provided by the Trust.  Upon consideration of this further 
information and questioning of the Director, the Committee decided to amend their 
original recommendation (which was to award £30,000 urgently) to awarding the full 
amount in instalments.  
 
The Committee thoroughly reviewed all information made available to them over the 
course of the two meetings and are confident that the recommendations made are 
in the best interests of the Council. 
 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Cabinet may choose to agree to any or none of the recommendations made by the 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet grant £30,000 of funding to Hyndburn 

Arts Ltd over 3 instalments, subject to the following: 
 

Tranche 1: £10,000.00 to be released immediately 
 

Tranche 2: £10,000.00 to be released subject to the 
following (expected to be on or after 31st October 
2019) 

 
1. A documented plan to be submitted to the next 

Overview and Scrutiny meeting undertaking a 

review of the board of directors including a skills 

audit to identify any skills gap on the board as 

well a strategy to attract new board members to 

offer advice and guidance in addressing any 

shortfall identified in the Skills Audit. 

 
2. With assistance from Finance Officers at 

Hyndburn BC revamp and overhaul the finance 

report that is submitted to the board to include 

commentary as well as submission in a timely 

manner.  This report on a bimonthly basis will be 

submitted to O&S with a review by the finance 

officer to state it agrees to underlying records. 

 
3. To have a set schedule of monthly board 

meetings out to March 2020. 

 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
17 

4. To start and give a time frame for when the 

accounts for Year Ending 31/03/19 will be 

finalised and submitted to Companies House. 

 
5. To provide an update on the fundraising plan and 

provide commentary where variances have 

occurred. 

 
6. To undertake a review of cost savings measures 

and submit to board for discussions as well as 

create an action plan. 

 
7. To highlight any funding opportunities that 

Hyndburn Arts have bid for and the outcome. 

 
Tranche 3: £10,000.00 (19th December 2019) 

 
1. To have met all the conditions set out in Tranche 

2 and submit evidence of this to O&S over a 3 

month period to highlight the changes. 

 
2. To provide the forecast 2020/21 using the new 

format from the financial review. 

 
(2) That Cabinet provide urgent funding of £10,000 to 

Churchfield House Ltd to contribute towards the 
unexpected water costs and application for 
charitable status, on the understanding that should 
Churchfield House Ltd manage to negotiate a 
reduction in their water bill, the remaining balance is 
returned to the Council. 

 
(3) That Cabinet notes that, due to a failure by Mercer 

House 1842 to provide the financial and other 
background information requested by the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, that Committee 
was unable to make a recommendation with regards 
to Mercer House 1842’s request for £5,000 and 
therefore referred the request back to Cabinet to 
make further enquiries and to determine the matter. 

 
(4) That Cabinet notes that a request for further 

information from Mercer House 1842, as referred to 
in (3) above has been made on behalf of the Cabinet. 

 
(5) That Cabinet notes that, over the next 2 years, the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
intends to invite all organisations, charities or 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
18 

community groups which manage Council buildings 
to report on usage and their financial position.  

 
119 Exclusion of the Public 

 

Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting during the following items, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
120 Report of Urgent Cabinet Decision - Waive contract procedure rules to extend the 

current contract to install and maintain Christmas Decorations and Amenity Lighting 
in Hyndburn 
 

In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
approval was given by Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 12th 
September 2019 in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could 
not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
Time was of the essence to award the extension to the contract in advance of the 
Christmas period.  Executive Procedure Rule B16(c) requires the urgent decision, 
the reason for it and for the use of urgency, to be reported to the next meeting of the 
Cabinet. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, 
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
The Leader of the Council, had submitted an exempt report on an urgent decision 
taken under Executive Procedure Rule B16, in relation to the proposal to waive the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules to permit the extension of the current contract 
in place to install, maintain and remove Christmas decorations and carry out safety 
checks to amenity lighting throughout the Borough of Hyndburn.  The decision, 
taken on 20th August 2019, was set out in the exempt report. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

 
19 

The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the 
exempt report. 
 
Resolved - To note the urgent decision taken on 20th August 

2019 to waive Contract Procedure Rules to extend 
the current contract to install and maintain 
Christmas decorations and amenity lighting in 
Hyndburn 

 
121 Barnfield & Hyndburn Partnership 

 

In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
approval was given by Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 12th 
September 2019 in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could 
not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
It is considered that it would not be prudent to await the next meeting of the Cabinet 
on 13th November 2019, in order to approve the closure of the Partnership, in view 
of the need to progress the necessary legal, accounting and audit work required in a 
timely manner. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, 
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
The Leader of the Council had submitted an exempt report seeking approval from 
Cabinet on a proposal to close the Barnfield & Hyndburn Partnership. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the 
exempt report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

122 Emergency Decision to Waive Contract Procedure Rules to Appoint a Fire Safety 
Consultant 
 

In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 

Page 23



 
 
 

 

 
20 

approval was given by Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 12th 
September 2019 in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could 
not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
The current fire consultancy arrangements are due to end in the very near future.  
To appoint a Fire Safety Consultant who will ensure continuity of approach, it would 
not be prudent to await the next meeting of the Cabinet on 13th November 2019 
before taking a decision on this matter. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, 
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder Regeneration and Housing, had submitted 
an exempt report seeking approval from Cabinet on a proposal to waive Contract 
Procedure Rules and to appoint the Council’s most recently used consultant as Fire 
Safety Consultant until 31st December 2021. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the 
exempt report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

123 Loan to Hyndburn Leisure Ltd 
 

In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
approval was given by Councillor Noordad Aziz, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 12th 
September 2019 in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could 
not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
In order to maximise the financial benefits to both parties of the revised funding 
arrangements, as soon as possible, it is not considered prudent to await the 
meeting of the Cabinet on 13th November 2019 before taking a decision on this 
matter. 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
21 

 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, 
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad, Portfolio Holder Education, Leisure and Arts, had submitted 
an exempt report seeking approval from Cabinet on a proposal to translate current 
amounts owed by Hyndburn Leisure Ltd into loans repayable at interest over a 10 
year period. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the 
exempt report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 13 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Principal Planning Officer - Policy 

TITLE OF REPORT: Gypsy and Traveller Planning Policy (Local Plan 
Regulation 18(3) Consultation) 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: No 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To notify Cabinet of the completion of a new part of the Local Plan evidence base, the 

Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson Accommodation Assessment (GTAA), 

and its key findings. 

 

1.2 To set out a proposed planning policy approach to address the needs of travellers in 

the new Local Plan and to seek approval for a consultation process under Regulation 

18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 – 

to be referred to as the Regulation 18(3) consultation. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That Cabinet: 

 

1. notes the content and findings of the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 

Showperson Accommodation Assessment 2019 (attached as background paper 

1); 

2. notes and approves the content of the Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site 

Options Consultation paper (attached as background paper 2); 

3. delegates authority to  the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer, following 

consultation with the portfolio holder for Planning, to make any final minor 

changes to the Consultation paper as they consider necessary or appropriate; 

and 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5.



4. approves publication of the Consultation paper for a 6 week consultation period 

recommended to commence on Friday 29th November 2019 (concluding on 

Friday 10th January 2020).  
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

Background 

 

3.1 Work is continuing on preparation of the new Local Plan for Hyndburn. The emerging 

new Local Plan is comprised of four key policy documents: 

 

1. The Core Strategy (first adopted in 2012 – now under review) 

2. The Site Allocations DPD (work underway – subject in part of this report); 

3. The Development Management DPD (adopted in 2018); and 

4. The Accrington Area Action Plan (adopted in 2012) 

 

3.2 In 20181 Cabinet approved an initial set of documents for consultation on the Core 

Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPDs under Regulation 18 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The consultation 

documents set out a range of options for planning for future housing and employment 

growth in the Borough, the distribution of that growth, and how the Council should 

assess specific sites to allocate. Consultation took place between February and April of 

2018. The outcomes of that consultation were reported to Cabinet in July 2018.  

 

3.3 In early 20192 Council approved a further set of documents for consultation. These 

included a draft Core Strategy setting out proposed new strategic planning policies for 

the Borough. They also included initial site assessments of 179 ‘reasonable alternative’ 

site options for allocation of land in the new Local Plan for housing, employment or 

mixed uses. A sustainability appraisal also accompanied the documents. Public 

consultation was undertaken between February and April of 2019 and the outcomes 

were reported to Cabinet in September 2019. 
 

3.4 The Council is continuing to complete the necessary evidence base documents to 

support preparation of the pre-Submission Publication Local Plan (under Regulation 19 

of the Regulations) for publication in 2020. It has now had a new piece of evidence 

published to identify the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople across the study area. The work was completed by external 

consultants (Arc4) and done jointly with neighbouring Blackburn with Darwen. 
 

 
 

                                                      
1
 Cabinet meeting of 14 February 2018 

2 Council meeting of 21
st
 February 2019 

Page 28



Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) 
 

3.5 The GTAA is attached to this Cabinet report as background paper 1. The GTAA details 

the planning policy requirement for needs assessments to take place, and the 

approach undertaken to ensure that the study is a robust and sound piece of evidence. 

It sets out the current provision of sites and pitches around the Borough and their 

associated occupancy in terms of gypsy and traveller households. For travelling 

showpeople it confirms the current yard provision in the Borough and occupancies of 

plots within that yard. The GTAA concludes by identifying future gypsy and traveller 

pitch requirements in Hyndburn over the new Local Plan period (to 2036). 

 

3.6 The GTAA distinguishes between a ‘cultural’ need for pitches and a ‘PPTS’ need for 

pitches. The ‘PPTS’ need reflects the anticipated need for families who meet the 

planning definition of a traveller as set out in national Planning Policy for Traveller 

Sites. For the purposes of the Local Plan it is the PPTS need that is planned for, not 

the higher ‘cultural’ need figure.   
 

Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements 
 

3.7 After considering existing provision and currently vacant pitches, the GTAA identifies a 

net ‘PPTS’ pitch requirement in Hyndburn over the plan period, set out in Table 1. The 

key driver of need identified in Table 1 is the number of children within existing 

households expected to form new households over the plan period. 
 

Table 1: Pitch requirements set out in the GTAA 

Period ‘PPTS’ Pitch Need 

Short-term need  

    5 year authorised pitch shortfall (2019/20 to 2023/24) 18 

Longer-term need  

    Over period 2024-2029 10 

    Over period 2029-2034 14 

    Over period 2034-2036 7 

Total net shortfall of pitches (2019/20 to 2035/36) 49 

 

3.8 Based on past trends, the GTAA highlights potential turnover on the Council run site 

over the plan period to 2036 as a source of 7 pitches. Taken from the overall net 

shortfall of 49 pitches set out in Table 1, this reduces the net need over the plan 

period to 42 pitches. 
 
 
Travelling Showpeople plot requirements 

 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites


3.9 After considering existing provision and vacant plots for the use of travelling 

showpeople, the GTAA identifies no further plot requirements in Hyndburn over the 

plan period to 2036. 

 

Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site Options Consultation paper 

 

3.10 The new Local Plan should seek to address the net requirement for 42 new gypsy and 

traveller pitches set out in the GTAA. A consultation paper is attached to this Cabinet 

report (background paper 2). It sets out a proposed 3-step sequential policy approach 

for the Local Plan to help meet the requirements: 

 

1. Allocate and safeguard all existing authorised traveller sites; 

2. Ensure all pitches on authorised traveller sites are fully utilised; and 

3. Identify additional new traveller sites either through the expansion of existing 

authorised sites or the identification of new sites. 

 

3.11 Step 1: allocate and safeguard all existing authorised traveller sites. The consultation 

paper sets out full details of sites proposed to be safeguarded under Step 13. This 

includes a site not listed in the GTAA that has recently been granted planning 

permission in the Borough4 and that is now under construction. It is therefore also 

considered to be a legitimate existing authorised site providing the equivalent of 5 

further pitches. This brings the net residual pitch need set out in the GTAA down from 

42 pitches to 37 pitches. 

 

3.12 Step 2: ensure all pitches on authorised traveller sites are fully utilised. Following a 

detailed review of the use of all existing authorised sites, a further 13 pitches are 

considered to be available for utilisation under existing planning permissions on those 

existing sites. These are spread over 3 existing authorised sties and are set out in 

Table 4 of the consultation paper. This brings the net residual pitch need down from 37 

pitches (after Step 1) to 24 pitches.  
 

3.13 Step 3: Identify additional new traveller sites. Under Step 3 of the proposed sequential 

policy approach the consultation paper goes on to identify a number of ‘reasonable 

alternative’ site options to address the identified residual pitch need of 24 pitches.  
 

3.14 In total 4 site options are currently identified which have either been submitted to the 

Council under the Call for Sites process, or that the Council considers to have potential 

merit, meeting the criteria for new sites set out in adopted Development Management 

Policy DM15 (Gypsy and Traveller Sites). In total these 4 site options have the 

potential to provide a further 44 pitches. The sites are listed below and site plans are 

provided in Appendix 4 of the consultation paper attached as background paper 2. 
 

 GT-OPT1 – Land off Whinney Hill Road (potential 15 pitches) 

                                                      
3
 see Table 3 of Background Paper 2 

4
 11/17/0537 – land to the rear of Milton Street, Oswaldtwistle 

Page 30

http://planning.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/WAM/findCaseFile.do;jsessionid=2F35139064CD73006CBD93FBC1B4B9DA?appNumber=11%2F17%2F0537&appType=Planning&action=Search


 GT-OPT2 – Land at Whitebirk, btw A6119 and Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

(potential 15 pitches) 

 GT-OPT3 – The Barn, Sough Lane (potential 4 pitches) 

 GT-OPT4 – Extension of existing authorised site at Sough Lane (potential 10 

pitches) 
 

3.15 These site options will be subject to the same site assessment methodology (involving 

red-amber-green assessments against a wide range of criteria) and separate, 

independent sustainability appraisal that was applied to the 179 ‘reasonable 

alternative’ site options considered in the Local plan Regulation 18(2) public 

consultation earlier in 2019.  

 

3.16 Cabinet is asked to approve publication of the consultation paper for a statutory 6 week 

consultation period, recommended to commence on Friday 29th November 2019. 

Public consultation would take place in accordance with the Council’s published 

Statement of Community Involvement. The consultation will seek views on the 

proposed policy approach and the specific site options put forward in the attached 

consultation paper. Further gypsy and traveller site options will be invited to be put 

forward through the consultation process.  

 
 

Local Plan Next Steps 
 

3.17 Following completion of any relevant Regulation 18 consultations the Council must 

prepare its Publication version of its plan under Regulation 19. The Publication version 

is in effect the final version that the Council would seek to adopt. For the Core Strategy 

this will mean refined policies over those presented in the Consultation Draft at 

Regulation 18(2) stage. For the Site Allocations DPD it will be confirmation of the 

Council’s preferred sites for allocation with any specific policy requirements attached to 

those sites. A further stage of public consultation is required on the Publication version 

of the plan, and the Council then submits the plan along with all representations 

received at the Publication stage, and its supporting evidence, to the Planning 

Inspectorate for independent examination. 
 

3.18 In order to move forward to pre-submission (Publication) stage of the new Local Plan, 

the Council will need to draw a line under further submissions under the Call for Sites 

process. As part of this Regulation 18(3) public consultation it is therefore proposed to 

set a final deadline for submissions of land for allocation (for any uses) at the close of 

the 6 week consultation. 

 

3.19 Any responses to this Regulation 18(3) consultation, including details of any further site 

option submissions, will be brought to Cabinet in early 2020. Further site assessment 

work and evidence base work5 will then be required before the Publication version of 

the new Local Plan can be prepared. A new Local Development Scheme confirming 
                                                      
5
 e.g. completion of an Open Space Audit, Habitat Surveys, and Transport Assessments will be required  

Page 31

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/statement-of-community-involvement/


the structure of the Local Plan and timetable to adoption, alongside details of any 

planning Supplementary Planning Documents, will be brought to a separate Cabinet. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1 The Local Plan is being prepared in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. As the preparation of a Local Plan is to 

be in accordance with this legal framework there are no alternative options for its 

preparation. Specific policy options have been considered and addressed through the 

previous Regulation 18(1) and (2) consultations, and are set out in the accompanying 

sustainability appraisal reports. A further sustainability appraisal will be published 

alongside the Regulation 18(3) consultation documents, along with other supporting 

justification papers. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 

5.1 A wide range of people and organisations have been involved in the evolution of the 

Local Plan documents up to this point. This includes public consultation events held in 

2018 and 2019. The GTAA has involved widespread and extensive consultation with 

the traveller community as set out in the report (background paper 1). The outcomes of 

this have been taken into account in preparing the consultation document.  

 

5.2 The Council is undertaking this statutory consultation period under Regulation 18 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. It will 

continue to fulfil its role under the duty to cooperate ensuring that neighbouring Local 

Authorities and other relevant statutory bodies are involved in the plan preparation.  

 

5.3 A further round of public consultation will also take place on the ‘Publication’ version of 

the Plan later in 2020.  

. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The direct financial implications of this work 
are costs relating to the consultation process 
itself, and publication of relevant material. 
This will be covered by the annual budget 
assigned to Local Plan work. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site 
Options consultation paper will help to form 
part of the statutory development plan for the 
Borough (the Local Plan). Once adopted the 
Local Plan is the starting point for considering 

Page 32



planning applications and should be given full 
weight in decision making. At this stage of 
preparation however, the issues raised can 
be given very little weight in decision making. 
Local plans are prepared in a manner that is 
prescribed by statute and by its very nature 
seeks to protect human rights. 

Assessment of risk 
 

There are no significant risks associated with 
this consultation exercise 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity between 
those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those who 
share a relevant protected characteristic 
and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. When making a decision in 
respect of the proposals in this report 
members should have regard to the 
Customer First Analysis annexed to this 
report.   

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 

7.1 The following background papers will form the proposed consultation documents: 

 

1. Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson Accommodation Assessment 

2019; 

2. Hyndburn Local Plan: Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site Options Consultation 

Paper. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 

Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson 

Accommodation Assessment 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough 
Councils 

 

 

Final Report 

July 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Main Contact: Dr Michael Bullock 
Email:   michael.bullock@arc4.co.uk   
Telephone: 0800 612 9133 
Website:   www.arc4.co.uk  
 
© 2019 arc

4
 Limited (Company No. 06205180) 

 

Page 35

http://www.arc4.co.uk/


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 2 

July  2019 

Please note that in this report some of the tables include rounded figures. This can result in 
some column or row totals not adding up to 100 or to the anticipated row or column ‘total’ 
due to the use of rounded decimal figures. We include this description here as it covers all 
tables and associated textual commentary included. If tables or figures are to be used in-
house then we recommend the addition of a similarly worded statement being included as 
a note to each table used. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report takes into account the particular instructions and requirements of our client. It is not intended for and 
should not be relied upon by any third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party. 

arc
4 

Limited accepts no responsibility or liability for, and makes no representation or warranty with respect to, the 
accuracy or completeness of any third party information (including data) that is contained in this document. 

 

 

Registered Address: arc4, 41 Clarendon Road, Sale Manchester M33 2DY 
Email:contact@arc4.co.ukwww.arc4.co.uk 

arc4  Limited Registered in England & Wales 6205180   VAT Registration No:  909 9814 77 
Directors - Helen Brzozowski – Michael Bullock 

Page 36

mailto:contact@arc4.co.uk
mailto:contact@arc4.co.uk


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 3 

July  2019 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 7 

Current provision and activity ............................................................................................ 7 

Planning policy requirements for needs assessments ........................................................ 8 

Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements: Blackburn with Darwen..................................... 9 

Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements: Hyndburn ........................................................ 11 

Travelling Showperson plot requirements ....................................................................... 12 

Transit site requirements .................................................................................................. 12 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 13 

GTAA 2019 overview ......................................................................................................... 13 

Who the study covers ....................................................................................................... 13 

Report structure ................................................................................................................ 15 

2. Policy and local context .................................................................................................... 16 

Government policy and guidance ..................................................................................... 16 

Planning policy context: ‘cultural’ and ‘PPTS’ need .......................................................... 19 

Strategic context ............................................................................................................... 20 

Local context ..................................................................................................................... 21 

Previous GTAA (Hyndburn BC) .......................................................................................... 21 

Responding to challenges ................................................................................................. 21 

3. Methodology ..................................................................................................................... 23 

Phase 1: Literature/desktop review and steering group discussions ............................... 23 

Phase 2: Fieldwork survey and interviews with Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople ...................................................................................................................... 23 

Phase 3: Stakeholder survey ............................................................................................. 25 

Phase 4: Needs assessment and production of report ..................................................... 26 

4. Review of the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople population and existing 
provision of pitches and plots ....................................................................................................... 29 

2011 Census population estimates ................................................................................... 29 

Caravan Count information .............................................................................................. 30 

Local information .............................................................................................................. 33 

5. Household survey findings ................................................................................................ 40 

Gypsy and Traveller households living in Blackburn with Darwen ................................... 40 

Gypsy and Traveller households living in Hyndburn ........................................................ 41 

6. Stakeholder consultation .................................................................................................. 43 

Overview ........................................................................................................................... 43 

New Permanent sites ........................................................................................................ 43 

Page 37



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 4 

July  2019 

Transit sites ....................................................................................................................... 44 

Planning policy .................................................................................................................. 46 

Houseboat need ................................................................................................................ 47 

Cross-boundary issues ...................................................................................................... 47 

Conclusions ....................................................................................................................... 48 

7. Gypsy and Traveller pitch, Travelling Showperson plot and transit site requirements ... 50 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 50 

Pitch requirement model overview .................................................................................. 50 

Blackburn with Darwen: Description of factors in the 5-year need model ...................... 51 

Longer-term pitch requirement modelling ....................................................................... 54 

Planning Policy for Traveller Site definition ...................................................................... 55 

New pitch provision .......................................................................................................... 55 

Plan Period pitch need ...................................................................................................... 55 

Household formation rates ............................................................................................... 56 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing sites ................................ 57 

Impact of turnover on pitch need ..................................................................................... 57 

Tenure preferences ........................................................................................................... 58 

Housing register evidence ................................................................................................ 58 

Transit site requirements .................................................................................................. 59 

Hyndburn: Description of factors in the 5-year need model............................................ 59 

Longer-term pitch requirement modelling ....................................................................... 63 

Planning Policy for Traveller Site definition ...................................................................... 63 

Plan Period pitch need ...................................................................................................... 64 

Household formation rates ............................................................................................... 65 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing sites ................................ 65 

Tenure preferences ........................................................................................................... 67 

Housing register evidence ................................................................................................ 67 

Transit site requirements .................................................................................................. 67 

8. Conclusion and strategic response ................................................................................... 68 

Meeting permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements ......................................... 68 

Meeting permanent Travelling Showperson requirements ............................................. 69 

Meeting transit site/stop over requirements ................................................................... 69 

Good practice in planning for Gypsy and Traveller provision .......................................... 69 

Concluding comments ...................................................................................................... 70 

Appendix A: Legislative background ............................................................................................. 72 

Appendix B: Review of policy, guidance and best practice .......................................................... 75 

Appendix C: Gypsy and Traveller Fieldwork Questionnaire ......................................................... 87 

Appendix D: Glossary of terms ..................................................................................................... 91 

Page 38



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 5 

July  2019 

 

List of Tables 

Table E1 Blackburn and Darwen pitch requirement before turnover/intensification .......... 9 

Table E2 Blackburn and Darwen pitch requirement taking into account turnover/ 
intensification ....................................................................................................... 10 

Table E4 Hyndburn pitch need ............................................................................................ 11 

Table E5 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn ....................................... 11 

Table 3.1 Household responses achieved by tenure and type of accommodation ............. 25 

Table 4.1a Households identifying as Gypsy Traveller by accommodation type ................... 29 

Table 4.1b People from households identifying as White Gypsy or Irish Traveller by 
accommodation type ............................................................................................ 30 

Table 4.1c People per Household, Calculation by Accommodation Type ............................. 30 

Table 4.2 Bi-annual Traveller caravan count figures January 2016 to January 2019 ........... 31 

Table 4.3 Bi-annual Traveller caravan count figures January 2016 to July 2018 ................. 31 

Table 4.4 Annual Travelling Showpeople caravan count figures January 2014 to January 
2018 ...................................................................................................................... 32 

Table 4.5 Traveller and Travelling Showpeople caravan sites provided by local authorities 
and registered providers in  Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn, July 2018 .. 32 

Table 4.6 List of Gypsy & Traveller sites and Travelling Showperson yards (as at 
November 2018) – Blackburn with Darwen ......................................................... 34 

Table 4.7 List of Gypsy & Traveller sites and Travelling Showperson yards (as at 
November 2018) – Hyndburn ............................................................................... 35 

Table 7.1 Summary of demand and supply factors: Gypsies and Travellers – 2019/20 to 
2023/24 ................................................................................................................. 53 

Table 7.2 Future pitch requirements based on the assumption that 50% of children form 
households on reaching 18 ................................................................................... 54 

Table 7.3 Plan period Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen for plan 
period 2018 – 2036 ............................................................................................... 56 

Table 7.4 Household formation rates: Blackburn with Darwen ........................................... 56 

Table 7.5 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen (plan 
period 2018 - 2036)............................................................................................... 58 

Table 7.6 Summary of demand and supply factors: Gypsies and Travellers – 2019/20 to 
2023/24 ................................................................................................................. 62 

Table 7.7 Future pitch requirements based on the assumption that 50% of children form 
households on reaching 18 ................................................................................... 63 

Table 7.8 Future pitch requirements based on the assumption that 50% of children form 
households on reaching 18 ................................................................................... 64 

Page 39



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 6 

July  2019 

Table 7.9 Plan period Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn ....................................... 64 

Table 7.10 Household formation rates: Hyndburn ................................................................. 65 

Table 7.11 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn ....................................... 66 

Table 8.1 Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen (Plan Period) ............... 70 

Table 8.2 Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn .......................................................... 71 

 

List of Maps 

Map 4.1 Location of sites in Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn ................................. 37 

 

  

Page 40



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 7 

July  2019 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

The Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn 2019 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) analyses the latest available evidence to identify the accommodation 
needs of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople across the study area. 

The GTAA  has comprised the following evidence sources: 

 A review of existing (secondary) data, 

 An online survey of key stakeholders yielding 7 responses, and 

 Interviews and data obtained for 104 Gypsy and Traveller households out of a total of 123 
households (representing an overall 84.5% response):   

- Blackburn with Darwen 35 out of 42 households = 83.3%; 

- Hyndburn 69 out of 80 households = 86.3%. 

In addition, data were obtained on 13 households who were doubled up on the Council site in 
Blackburn with Darwen. 

This data has been analysed to provide a picture of current provision and activity across the 
boroughs and an assessment of future need. The findings of the study provide an up-to-date, 
robust and defensible evidence base for policy development. 

 

Current provision and activity 

The 2011 Census identified a total of 43 households in Blackburn with Darwen and 43 
households in Hyndburn where the Household Reference Person had a ‘White: Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller’ ethnicity. In Blackburn with Darwen, 24 lived in a caravan or other mobile or 
temporary structure and 19 households lived in bricks and mortar (house, bungalow, flat, 
maisonette or apartment). In Hyndburn the figures were 11 in a caravan and 32 in bricks and 
mortar.  

The bi-annual DCLG Traveller caravan count has identified an average of 66 caravans over the 
last six counts across Blackburn with Darwen and 105 across Hyndburn. The annual Travelling 
Showperson caravan count (undertaken each January) found an average of around 14 
Travelling Showpeople caravans in Hyndburn and none in Blackburn with Darwen during the 
past five counts (2014-2018). 

In terms of Gypsy and Traveller site provision, in Blackburn with Darwen there is one Council 
site and six occupied private permanent sites (there are also two sites believed to be Gypsy 
and Traveller site but unoccupied). In Hyndburn there is one Council site (managed by 
Lancashire County Council), 13 private authorised sites and two unauthorised sites. There is 
one Travelling Showpersons’ yard in Hyndburn (accommodating 10 households). 

The triangulation of secondary data, Council records and fieldwork survey has identified a 
total of 49 Gypsy and Traveller pitches in Blackburn with Darwen and 79 in Hyndburn.  

 

Page 41



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 8 

July  2019 

 

Planning policy requirements for needs assessments 

Planning policy for traveller sites (PPTS) (first published in March 2012 and updated in August 
2015), requires an assessment of the current needs of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople and a projection of future needs. The calculation of pitch/plot requirements in 
the GTAA 2019 is based on established DCLG modelling methodology, as advocated in Gypsy 
and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment Guidance (DCLG, 2007). Although this 
Guidance was formally withdrawn in December 2016, in the absence of any updated guidance 
on the subject, it continues to provide a standard approach for needs modelling employed by 
most local planning authorities and also confirmed by inspectors at public inquiries.  

This approach comprises an assessment of the current needs of Gypsies and Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople and a projection of future needs. The Guidance advocates the use of a 
fieldwork survey to supplement secondary source information and derive key supply and 
demand information. 

 

‘Cultural’ and ‘PPTS need’ 

A major change in planning policy, introduced by PPTS 2015, was the amended definition of 
the group to which the policy applies. The definitions of both ‘Gypsy and Traveller’ and 
‘Travelling Showperson’ have been amended to exclude, for planning purposes, anyone who 
has stopped travelling on a permanent basis. It continues to include those who have ceased 
to travel temporarily. Essentially, this created a more restricted ‘PPTS 2015’ definition which 
applies to those who follow a nomadic habit of life.  

This GTAA expresses two levels of need for pitches: a ‘cultural’ and ‘PPTS’ need. This is to 
ensure that the overall needs of the Travelling community are fully reflected in the evidence 
base which needs to accord with planning and wider policies.  

Paragraph 61 of the 2019 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises the need to 
assess a range of community needs including those of Travellers. The February 2019 Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) which accompanies the NPPF states ‘the household projections that 
form the baseline of the standard method are inclusive of all households including Gypsies and 
Travellers as defined with Planning Policy for Travelling Sites’1.The NPPF states that the PPTS 
sets out how travellers’ housing needs should be assessed for those covered by the definition 
in Annex 1 of that document. The planning policy therefore differentiates between ‘travelling’ 
and ‘non travelling’ Gypsies and Travellers.  

For non-travelling Travellers, their needs should also be met by the requirements of the NPPF 
as non-travelling households are a component of overall housing need. Additionally, 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities Act 2010 protects the cultural choice of Gypsies 
and Travellers to live in mobile accommodation and therefore there is a need to plan for this 

                                                      

1 2019 PPG Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 2a-017-20190220 

Page 42



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 9 

July  2019 

type of accommodation. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 section 124 also makes specific 
reference to the needs of households living in caravans. 

Therefore, our GTAAs establish an overall ‘cultural’ need for pitches which accords with the 
overall need for the Travelling community and takes into account the Human Rights Act 1998, 
the Equalities Act 2010 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 section 124. A PPTS ‘policy 
filter’ is then applied to identify the level of need associated with those households meeting 
the definitions set out in the PPTS Annex 1. It is our understanding that the needs arising from 
the PPTS analysis establishes the level of need against which a 5 year land supply is assessed 
but Councils should be mindful of a wider obligation to consider overall ‘cultural’ need.  

 

Plan periods 

Blackburn with Darwen 

Need has been assessed over a short-term 2019/20 to 2023/24 and longer-term 2024/25 to 
2035/36 period. As the full plan period is 2018/19 to 2036/37, need over the first 5 years has 
been extrapolated to 6 years and data for longer-term need (2024/25 to 2035/36) has been 
extrapolated by one year. This ensures that the need evidenced relates to the full 19-year 
plan period 2018/19 to 2036/37.  

 

Hyndburn 

Need has been assessed over a short term 2019/20 to 2023/24 and longer-term 2024/25 to 
2035/36. The full plan period is 2019/20 to 2035/36. 

 

Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements: Blackburn with Darwen 

For the full Local Plan Period (2018/19 to 2036/37) the GTAA has identified the following 
Gypsy and Traveller pitch needs: cultural need of 50 pitches and a PPTS need for 25 pitches. 
This takes account of households currently doubling up on pitches but the key driver is the 
number of children expected to form households over the plan period. Needs figures are 
broken down into time periods as follows: 

 

Table E1 Blackburn and Darwen pitch requirement before turnover/intensification 

Blackburn with Darwen Cultural need PPTS NEED 

6yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2023/24) 19 7 

Longer-term need  
  

Over period 2024 to 2028 8 5 

Over period 2029 to 2033 13 8 

Over period 2034 to 2036 10 5 

Longer-term need TOTAL 31 18 

TOTAL NET SHORTFALL 2018/19 to 2036/37 50 25 

 

Page 43



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 10 

July  2019 

Two new sites with a total of 10 additional pitches have become authorised since the GTAA 
fieldwork was carried out and these have been included as part of supply. Supply through the 
potential turnover on Council sites and the expansion/intensification of existing sites has also 
been considered.  

In Blackburn with Darwen, turnover on the Council site is low and it is anticipated that 
annually 0.44 pitches come available (i.e. around one every two years). There is no scope to 
expand/intensify existing sites in Blackburn with Darwen.  

The overall impact of turnover has the potential to help address identified need and reduce 
the pitch shortfall for Blackburn with Darwen as follows: 

 

Table E2 Blackburn and Darwen pitch requirement taking into account turnover/ 
intensification 

Blackburn with Darwen 
Cultural 

need 

PPTS 
NEED 

6yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2023/24) (A) (This takes into account the 
additional new supply of 10 new pitches in 2018/2019) 

19 7 

Anticipated turnover (B) 3 3 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2023/24 (A-B) 16 4 

Plan period Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2036/37) (D) (including new 
supply) 

50 25 

Anticipated Turnover (E) 8 8 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2036/37 (D-E) 42 17 

 

Therefore, the Local Plan should recognise an overall need for 50 pitches (cultural) and 25 
PPTS. With turnover considered, the need would reduce to 42 (cultural) and 17 (PPTS).  

Using the PPTS definition, therefore, there is an identified need for an additional 17 pitches 
over the Plan period to 2037. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 11 

July  2019 

 

Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements: Hyndburn 

For the Local Plan Period (to 2036) the GTAA has identified the following Gypsy and Traveller 
pitch needs: cultural need of 60 pitches and a PPTS need for 49 pitches. A key driver is the 
number of children expected to form households over the plan period. Needs figures are 
broken down into time periods as follows: 

Table E3 Hyndburn pitch need 

Hyndburn Cultural need PPTS Need 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2019/20 to 2023/24) 21 18 

Longer-term need      

Over period 2024 to 2028 12 10 

Over period 2029 to 2033 18 14 

Over period 2034 to 2035 9 7 

Longer-term need TOTAL 39 31 

TOTAL NET SHORTFALL 2019/20 to 2035/36 60 49 

 

As part of the GTAA analysis, potential turnover on Council sites and the 
expansion/intensification of existing sites is considered. In Hyndburn, turnover on the Council 
site is low and turnover of 0.4 pitches each year is assumed in modelling. There is potential 
scope to expand one site by around 10 pitches. The overall impact of turnover and additional 
provision has the potential to help address identified need and reduce the pitch shortfall for 
Hyndburn as follows: 

 

Table E4 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn 

Hyndburn 
Cultural 

need 
PPTS 
NEED 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2019/20 to 2023/24) (A) 21 18 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (B) 2 2 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover (A- B) 19 16 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for identified 
households in need) (C) 

10 10 

Potential regularisation of unauthorised pitches (D) 5 5 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (A-B-C-D) 

4 1 

Plan period Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2019/20 to 2035/36) (E) 60 49 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (F) 7 7 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover (E-F) 53 42 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for identified 
households in need) (G) 

10 10 

Regularisation of unauthorised pitches (H) 5 5 

Page 45



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 12 

July  2019 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (E-F-G-H) 

38 27 

 

Therefore, the Local Plan should recognise an overall need for 60 pitches (cultural) and 49 
PPTS. There are a range of potential supply options which could reduce this shortfall, with an 
overall plan requirement reducing to 38 (cultural) and 28 (PPTS) if turnover rates continued in 
line with recent trends, more pitches are created on authorised sites and the regularisation of 
existing unauthorised sites. 

Using the PPTS definition, therefore, there is an identified need for an additional 27 pitches 
over the Plan period to 2037. 

 

 

Travelling Showperson plot requirements 

There is currently one Travelling Showperson yard in Hyndburn (and none in Blackburn with 
Darwen). The GTAA has not evidenced any need for additional Travelling Showperson plots in 
the either borough. 

 

Transit site requirements 

There is already a five-pitch transit site in Hyndburn. Based on analysis of unauthorised 
encampment activity, there is a need for a two-pitch transit site (and need is therefore 
addressed). For Blackburn with Darwen there is a need for up to 5 transit pitches. 

  

Page 46



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 13 

July  2019 

1. Introduction  

 

GTAA 2019 overview 

1.1 In October 2018, arc4 was commissioned jointly by Blackburn with Darwen and 
Hyndburn Borough Councils to undertake a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) to identify the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers, 
Travelling Showpeople and houseboat dwellers across both boroughs.   

1.2 The overall objective of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment is to 
form a clear evidence basis to inform the development of planning policies relating to 
Gypsy and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. 

1.3 The overall objectives of the GTAA 2019 are: 

 to carry out an assessment of Gypsy and Traveller, and Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation needs (including houseboat dwellers) over the plan period for 
each of the respective Councils in accordance with the NPPF and PPTS; and 

 make recommendations on pitch/plot provision (and moorings), including the split 
between permanent and transit requirements over the plan period and any further 
policy recommendations relevant to planning for the needs for Gypsy and 
Travellers, and Travelling Showpeople. 

1.4 The following specific points of detail are also to be addressed in the commission: 

 Determination of how Gypsy and Traveller status is decided with particular 
reference to the definitions set out in Annex 1 of the PPTS (and this brief); 

 An appraisal of previous studies and household formation rates, including 
examination of in/out migration and the specific impact of the levels of existing 
provision on future requirements; 

 A comprehensive audit of all known sites in terms of their number (quantity) and 
suitability (quality), including identification of the ethnic background of occupants 
on each site; 

 Contact with all relevant stakeholders including agents working for gypsy and 
traveller communities – a high interview rate will be expected to effectively assess 
need; and 

 A summary of key appeals and planning decisions relevant to the local context (this 
is set out in a separate note) 

 

Who the study covers 

1.5 The GTAA 2019 adopts the definition of ‘Gypsies and Travellers’ set out within 
Planning policy for traveller sites (PPTS), which was published by the Government in 
August 2015. This sets out the following definition of ‘Gypsies and Travellers’: 

Page 47



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 14 

July  2019 

‘Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons 
who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or 
health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of 
an organised group of Travelling Showpeople or circus people travelling together as 
such.’2 

1.6 In addition, PPTS 2015 provides the following ‘clarification’ for determining whether 
someone is a Gypsy or Traveller:  

‘In determining whether persons are “gypsies and travellers” for the purposes of this 
planning policy, consideration should be given to the following issues amongst other 
relevant matters:  

a) whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life 

b)  the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life 

c)  whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the future, and 
if so, how soon and in what circumstances.’3 

1.7 The following definition of ‘Travelling Showpeople’ is set out in PPTS 2015: 

‘Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows 
(whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the 
grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ more localised pattern of trading, 
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excludes 
Gypsies and Travellers as defined above.’4 

1.8 In addition: 

‘For the purposes of this planning policy, “pitch” means a pitch on a “gypsy and 
traveller” site and “plot” means a pitch on a “travelling showpeople” site (often called 
a “yard”). This terminology differentiates between residential pitches for “gypsies and 
travellers” and mixed-use pitches for “travelling showpeople”, which may/will need to 
incorporate space or to be split to allow for the storage of equipment.’5  

1.9 For the purposes of this study, therefore, Gypsies and Travellers live on pitches on 
sites, whilst Travelling Showpeople live on plots on yards.  

1.10 This GTAA expresses two levels of need for pitches: a ‘cultural’ and ‘PPTS’ need. This is 
to ensure that the overall needs of the Travelling community are fully reflected in the 
evidence base which needs to accord with planning and wider policies.  

 

  

                                                      

2 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 Annex 1, para 1 

3 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 Annex 1, para 2 

4 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 Annex 1, para 3 

5 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 Annex 1, para 5 

Page 48



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 15 

July  2019 

Report structure 

1.11 The GTAA 2019 report structure is as follows: 

 Chapter 1  Introduction: provides an overview of the study; 

 Chapter 2  Policy and local context: presents a review of the policy context 
which guides the study, including a consideration of the specific 
local context of Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Boroughs; 

 Chapter 3 Methodology: provides details of the study’s research 
methodology;  

 Chapter 4 Review of current Gypsy and Traveller population and provision of 
pitches/plots: reviews estimates of the Gypsy and Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople population across Blackburn with Darwen 
and Hyndburn Boroughs and existing site provision; 

 Chapter 5 Household survey findings: presents relevant data obtained from 
the household survey research; 

 Chapter 6 Stakeholder consultation: summarises views of stakeholders 
expressed through the online survey;  

 Chapter 7 Pitch/plot/transit requirements: focuses on current and future 
pitch/plot requirements. This chapter includes a detailed 
assessment of drivers of demand, supply and current shortfalls 
across the study area; and 

 Chapter 8  Conclusion and strategic response: concludes the report, bringing 
together the different strands of the research and identifying 
headline issues, including recommending ways in which these could 
be addressed.  

1.12 The report is supplemented by the following appendices: 

 Appendix A Which provides details of the legislative background underpinning 
accommodation issues for the Travelling community; 

 Appendix B Review of policy, guidance, reports and best practice notes; 

 Appendix C Fieldwork questionnaires; 

 Appendix D Glossary of terms. 

 

 

Page 49



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 16 

July  2019 

2. Policy and local context 
2.1 This study is grounded in an understanding of the national legislative and planning 

policy context that underpins the assessment and provision of accommodation for 
Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and houseboat dwellers.  

2.2 Appendix A sets out the legislative background that is relevant to accommodation 
issues and Appendix B provides a review of Government policy and guidance that has 
been published in recent years, alongside other key reports and best practice advice. 

2.3 This chapter sets out the policy context within which this GTAA has been prepared, 
including a consideration of the local context of Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn 
Boroughs. 

 

Government policy and guidance 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments Guidance 2007 
(withdrawn) 

2.4 The calculation of pitch/plot requirements in the GTAA 2019 is based on established 
DCLG modelling methodology, as advocated in Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Needs Assessment Guidance (DCLG, 2007). Although this Guidance was formally 
withdrawn in December 2016, in the absence of any updated guidance on the subject 
it continues to provide a best practice approach for needs modelling. This approach 
has also been adopted by arc4 in other Lancashire authorities.  

2.5 This approach comprises an assessment of the current needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople and a projection of future needs. The Guidance advocates 
the use of a fieldwork survey to supplement secondary source information and derive 
key supply and demand information. 

 

Planning policy for traveller sites, PPTS 2012 

2.6 In 2012, the Government published both the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF)6 and its accompanying National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) documents 
covering a range of topics. They also published some separate planning policy 
documents, including Planning policy for traveller sites7 (PPTS 2012). These documents 
replaced all previous national planning policy in respect of Gypsies and Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople.  

2.7 Previously, local planning authorities had been required to set aside enough land for 
Gypsy and Traveller sites, with their targets set in regional plans. However, the 
Coalition Government abolished regional planning under the provisions of the 

                                                      
6 DCLG National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 

7 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites March 2012 (now superseded) 

Page 50



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 17 

July  2019 

Localism Act 2011. The approach set out in PPTS 2012 instead, encouraged local 
planning authorities to form their own evidence base for accommodation needs in 
their area and use this to set their own pitch and plot targets for their Local Plan. 

 

Written Ministerial Statement, July 2015 

2.8 Technical adjustments were made to paragraphs 49 and 159 of the NPPF by a Written 
Ministerial Statement (WMS) on 22nd July 20158, following a High Court judgement 
(Wenman v Secretary of State).  

2.9 In relation to paragraph 49, the WMS stated that those persons who fall within the 
definition of ‘traveller’ under the PPTS, cannot rely on the lack of a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites under the NPPF to show that relevant policies for the supply 
of housing are not up to date. Such persons should have the lack of a five-year supply 
of deliverable traveller sites considered in accordance with Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites. 

2.10 Regarding paragraph 159, the WMS clarified that the PPTS sets out how ‘travellers’ 
accommodation needs should be assessed. However, those who do not fall under that 
definition should have their accommodation needs addressed under the provisions of 
the NPPF. 

 

PPTS 2015 

2.11 An updated Planning policy for traveller sites (PPTS 2015) was published in August 
20159. PPTS 2015 introduced some key changes to policy, including by changing the 
definitions of ‘Gypsy and Traveller’ and ‘Travelling Showperson’ by deleting the word 
‘permanently’ in relation to their travelling habits, so that for planning-related 
purposes the definitions of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople have 
been changed to exclude those who have permanently stopped travelling. In addition, 
the following ‘clarification’ was added: 

‘In determining whether persons are “gypsies and travellers” for the purposes of this 
planning policy, consideration should be given to the following issues amongst other 
relevant matters:  

a) whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life 

b) the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life 

c)  whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the future, and 
if so, how soon and in what circumstances.’10 

 

                                                      
8 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Lords/2015-07-22/HLWS167/ 

9 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 

10 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites August 2015 Annex 1, para 2 

Page 51



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 18 

July  2019 

Planning policy statement, August 2015 

2.12 Alongside the publication of the revised policy document on 31st August 2015, a letter 
and accompanying planning policy statement were issued by the DCLG Chief Planner 
(Steve Quartermain)11 to Chief Planning Officers in England. The letter and planning 
policy statement dealt specifically with the issue of Green Belt protection and 
intentional unauthorised development. On 17th December 2015, the Minister of State 
for Housing and Planning (Brandon Lewis) made a Written Statement confirming the 
changes to national policy set out in the letter and statement.12 

 

Intentional unauthorised development 

2.13 The planning policy statement issued with PPTS 201513 (and confirmed by Ministerial 
Statement14) makes clear that if a site is intentionally occupied without planning 
permission this would be a material consideration in any retrospective planning 
application for that site. Whilst this does not mean that retrospective applications will 
be automatically refused, it does mean that failure to seek permission in advance of 
occupation will count against the application. 

2.14 In addition, PPTS 2015 (paragraph 12) makes clear that in exceptional cases where a 
local authority is burdened by a large-scale unauthorised site that has significantly 
increased their need, and their area is subject to strict and special planning 
constraints, then there is no assumption that the local authority will be required to 
meet their Gypsy and Traveller site needs in full. This is intended to protect local 
planning authorities with significant land constraints from being required to provide 
for additional needs arising directly from large sites such as Dale Farm (a large 
unauthorised site in Essex). 

 

Draft Guidance to local housing authorities on the periodical review of 
housing needs: caravans and houseboats, March 2016 

2.15 In March 2016, the DCLG published Draft guidance on the periodical review of housing 
needs: Caravans and Houseboats. The draft Guidance related to Clause 115 of the 
Housing and Planning Bill, which has become Section 124 of the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 (passed in May 2016). 

                                                      
11https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_writte
n_statement.pdf 

12http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-
17/HCWS423/ 

13https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_writte
n_statement.pdf 

14http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-
17/HCWS423/ 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_written_statement.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_written_statement.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-17/HCWS423/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-17/HCWS423/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_written_statement.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457632/Final_Chief_Planning_Officer_letter_and_written_statement.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-17/HCWS423/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-12-17/HCWS423/


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 19 

July  2019 

2.16 The draft Guidance explains how Government wants local housing authorities to 
interpret changes to accommodation needs assessments (as required by Section 8 of 
the Housing Act 1985), specifically in relation to caravans and houseboats.  

2.17 In the carrying out of accommodation needs assessments, the draft Guidance stresses 
the importance of close engagement with the community. The use of existing data 
along with conducting a specialist survey is recommended. 

2.18 The draft guidance has been taken into account in the planning, preparation and 
undertaking of this GTAA for Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Council. 

 

Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2018 and 
February 2019 

2.19 In July 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published 
the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), with a further update 
published in February 2019. Updating the original NPPF which was published in 2012, 
the Revised NPPF sets out 17 topic-based chapters which reflect the Government’s 
development priorities. There is a particular focus on delivering solutions to the 
housing crisis through the plan-led system. 

2.20 Chapter 5, ‘Delivering a sufficient supply of homes’, sets out the Government’s 
objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes including meeting the needs of 
groups with specific housing requirements (paragraph 59).  

2.21 It is then sets out in paragraph 60 : 

‘Within this context, policies should identify the size, type and tenure of homes required 
for different groups in the community (including, but not limited to, those who require 
affordable housing, families with children, older people, students, people with 
disabilities, service families, travellers), people who rent their homes and people 
wishing to commission or build their own homes.’ 

2.22 An additional footnote to the word ‘travellers’ provides further definition: 

‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites sets out how travellers’ housing needs should be 
assessed for those covered by the definition in annex 1 of that document’ 

 

Planning policy context: ‘cultural’ and ‘PPTS’ need  

2.23 Further to the publication of updated PPTS in August 2015, the 2007 GTAA Guidance 
was withdrawn and there was considerable confusion regarding what accommodation 
needs should be assessed and the best methodological approach. 

2.24 A major change in planning policy, introduced by PPTS 2015, was the amended 
definition of the group to which the policy applies. The definitions of both ‘Gypsy and 
Traveller’ and ‘Travelling Showperson’ have been amended to exclude, for planning 
purposes, anyone who has stopped travelling on a permanent basis. It continues to 
include those who have ceased to travel temporarily. Essentially, this created a more 
restricted ‘PPTS 2015’ definition which applies to those who follow a nomadic habit of 
life.  

Page 53



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 20 

July  2019 

2.25 This GTAA expresses two levels of need for pitches: a ‘cultural’ and ‘PPTS’ need. This is 
to ensure that the overall needs of the Travelling community are fully reflected in the 
evidence base which needs to accord with planning and wider policies.  

2.26 Paragraph 61 of the 2019 NPPF recognises the need to assess a range of community 
needs including those of Travellers. The February 2019 Planning Practice Guidance 
which accompanies the NPPF states ‘the household projections that form the baseline 
of the standard method are inclusive of all households including Gypsies and Travellers 
as defined with Planning Policy for Travelling Sites’15 The NPPF states that the PPTS 
sets out how travellers’ housing needs should be assessed for those covered by the 
definition in Annex 1 of that document. The planning policy therefore differentiates 
between ‘travelling’ and ‘non travelling’ Gypsies and Travellers.  

2.27 For non-travelling Travellers, their needs should also be met by the requirements of 
the NPPF as non-travelling households are a component of overall housing need. The 
needs of non-travelling Gypsies and Travellers are therefore effectively contained 
within the general housing requirement that Local Plans will set out. Additionally, 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities Act 2010 protects the cultural choice of 
Gypsies and Travellers to live in mobile accommodation and therefore there is a need 
to plan for this type of accommodation. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 section 
124 also makes specific reference to the needs of households living in caravans. 

2.28 Therefore, our GTAAs establish an overall ‘cultural’ need for pitches which accords 
with the overall need for the Travelling community and takes into account the Human 
Rights Act 1998, the Equalities Act 2010 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
section 124. A PPTS ‘policy filter’ is then applied to identify the level of need 
associated with those households meeting the definitions set out in the PPTS Annex 1. 
It is our understanding that the needs arising from the PPTS analysis establishes the 
level of need against which a 5 year land supply is assessed but Councils should be 
mindful of a wider obligation to consider overall ‘cultural’ need.  

2.29 Our assessment methodology is set out in Chapter 3 and the outworking of this 
approach for the boroughs is set out in Chapter 7. 

 

Strategic context  

2.30 Despite the revocation of regional spatial strategies, the need for strategic planning 
remains, especially to ensure coherent planning beyond local authority boundaries. To 
this end the Localism Act 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set 
out that public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross 
administrative boundaries (NPPF, paragraph 178).  

2.31 National planning practice guidance (NPPG) includes a guidance document specific to 
the Duty to cooperate (March 2014). This states that duty to cooperate is not a duty to 
agree, but local planning authorities should make every effort to secure the necessary 

                                                      
15 2019 PPG Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 2a-017-20190220 

Page 54



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 21 

July  2019 

cooperation on strategic cross boundary matters before they submit their Local Plans 
for examination (paragraph 1). In addition, it states that the duty to cooperate seeks to 
ensure that local planning authorities lead strategic planning effectively through their 
Local Plans, addressing social, environmental and economic issues that can only be 
addressed effectively by working with other local planning authorities beyond their 
own administrative boundaries (paragraph 8). 

2.32 PPTS 2015 sets out that the preparation of Local Plans and setting of pitch and plot 
targets should be undertaken by local planning authorities working collaboratively 
with neighbouring planning authorities (paragraphs 8 and 9). It reiterates that local 
planning authorities have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross 
administrative boundaries (paragraph 10). 

 

Local context 

2.33 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council are preparing a new Local Plan which will 
have a plan period 2018-2037. The partial review of the Lancashire GTAA (January 
2014) established a five year need (April 2018 to March 2023) for 27 additional 
pitches.  

2.34 Hyndburn Borough Council is currently consulting on its new Local Plan which runs to 
2036. A GTAA was prepared in 2014 which established a need for 35 pitches over the 
period 2013 to 2028. 

2.35 The GTAA 2019 forms part of the evidence base for the emerging Local Plans for both 
Boroughs. 

 

Previous GTAA (Hyndburn BC) 

2.36 A Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson Accommodation Assessment was 
prepared in 2014. This evidenced an overall need for 35 additional pitches over the 
period 2013-2028. Regarding transit provision the study concluded that households 
visiting Hyndburn do need access to a transit site but no specific requirement for 
transit pitches within Hyndburn this would not necessarily have to be located in 
Hyndburn. The GTAA concluded there was no clear indication of future need for 
Travelling Showperson plots in Hyndburn and if any need does arise, the existing site 
(sic) does form a potential location to meet this need, but there may be issues for 
households to gain access to plots.  

 

Responding to challenges 

2.37 GTAAs are subject to intense scrutiny, particularly at Planning Inquiries and Hearings. 
The methodological approaches taken by arc4 aim to maximise the robustness of 
evidence and measures include: 

Page 55



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 22 

July  2019 

 An up to date assessment of the number of pitches on sites and the number of 
households living on pitches and any vacancies; 

 Maximising response rates from households; 

 Carefully considering the relationship between households and the pitches 
they occupy; 

 Sensitive analysis of the flows of existing households from and to districts; 

 Consideration of overcrowding and concealed households; 

 Careful consideration of turnover on Council pitches, with clear assumptions 
over future potential capacity from households moving away from pitches; 

 Longer-term modelling of need using detailed demographic information 
obtained from household survey work; 

 Reasonable assumptions around the number of households in bricks and 
mortar accommodation who may want to move to a pitch. 

Page 56



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 23 

July  2019 

3. Methodology 
 

Introduction 

3.1 The GTAA research method is grounded in an understanding of the requirement of the 
NPPF and based on an established methodology which regularly withstands scrutiny at 
planning inquiries and hearing.  

3.2 The methodology has comprised: 

 a desktop analysis of existing documents, including data on pitches/sites, 
plots/yards and unauthorised encampments;  

 the collection of primary data, including a household interviews with Gypsies 
and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople; and 

 an assessment of accommodation needs taking into account all available data 
and information. 

3.3 The information gathering has been carried out in three phases, as outlined below: 

 Phase 1: Literature/desktop review and stakeholder discussions; 

 Phase 2: Survey of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople across the 
districts; 

 Phase 3: Survey of stakeholders; and 

 Phase 4: Needs assessment and production of the GTAA 2019 report.  

 

Phase 1: Literature/desktop review and steering group 
discussions  

3.4 We have reviewed relevant literature, including legislative background and best 
practice information; and analysis of available secondary data relating to Gypsies and 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople in the districts.  

3.5 This information has helped to shape the development of this report, and in particular 
the review of the legislative and policy context set out in Chapter 2.  

3.6 The project steering group was fully consulted regarding the most appropriate 
methodology for undertaking the assessment work, including site fieldwork, and 
provided stakeholder contact information for undertaking the stakeholder survey. 

 

 Phase 2: Fieldwork survey and interviews with Gypsies and 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

3.7 Households living on sites were interviewed using a standard questionnaire which can 
be found at Appendix C. This questionnaire has been carefully designed in consultation 
with councils, feedback from community representative and planning agents.   

Page 57



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 24 

July  2019 

3.8 We aim to obtain responses from all households living on sites. All sites are visited 
prior to survey fieldwork so residents are aware the survey is taking place. The main 
period of fieldwork interviews took place between November 2018 and February 
2019. Responses achieved are presented in Table 3.1. 

3.9 The site observation and fieldwork survey confirmed that there are 55 households 
living on sites across Blackburn with Darwen (42 households living on pitches plus 13 
households doubling up on Council pitches) and 81 households in Hyndburn.  

3.10 Across Blackburn with Darwen, interviews were achieved with 24 Gypsy and Traveller 
households and additional household information was achieved for 11 households 
from other sources, resulting in overall data response from 35 households (83.3% 
response rate). 

3.11 Across Hyndburn, interviews were achieved with 68 out of 81 households (84% 
response rate). 

3.12 The owner of the Travelling Showperson’s yard in Hyndburn was interviewed but we 
were informed there was sufficient accommodation available and no further 
household interviews took place.  

3.13 The 2011 Census identified a total of 43 households in Blackburn with Darwen and 43 
households in Hyndburn where the Household Reference Person had a ‘White: Gypsy 
or Irish Traveller’ ethnicity. In Blackburn with Darwen, 24 lived in a caravan or other 
mobile or temporary structure and 19 households lived in bricks and mortar (house, 
bungalow, flat, maisonette or apartment). In Hyndburn the figures were 11 in a 
caravan and 32 in bricks and mortar.  

3.14 Several potential households living in bricks and mortar accommodation were 
identified but none responded to an invitation to be interviewed as part of the GTAA. 
Therefore the 2011 Census data has been used along with some statistical 
assumptions regarding the typical proportion of need arising from bricks and mortar 
households (based on other arc4 studies) (see Chapter 7). 

Page 58



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 25 

July  2019 

 

Table 3.1 Household responses achieved by tenure and type of accommodation  

Gypsies and Travellers: Blackburn with Darwen 

Tenure and type of site 

Pitch numbers Household numbers 

Total 
pitches 

Total 
vacant 

Occupied 
pitches 

Total 
households 

Interviews 
achieved 

Council (permanent) authorised 20 0 20 33* 20 

Private (permanent) authorised 29 0 22 22 15 

Unauthorised 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Gypsy and Traveller 49 0 42 55 35 

Gypsies and Travellers: Hyndburn 

Tenure and type of site 

Pitch numbers Household numbers 

Total 
pitches 

Total 
vacant 

Occupied 
pitches 

Total 
households 

Interviews 
achieved 

Council (permanent) authorised 15 0 15 15 15 

Private (permanent) authorised 58 1 57 57 46 

Unauthorised 5 0 5 8 8 

Total Gypsy and Traveller 78 1 77 80 69 

*20 households plus 13 households doubling up on pitches on the Council site 

 

3.15 Regarding the PPTS definition, the questionnaire asks if households have been 
travelling in the preceding year or within the past 5 years and/or intend to travel in the 
next year or in any year in the next five years. If households answer ‘yes’ to either 
question the household meets the travelling criteria set out in PPTS. By contrast, all 
households identifying as part of the Gypsy and Traveller or Travelling Showpeople 
community are contained within a broader ‘cultural’ definition. All households 
identifying as part of the Gypsy and Traveller or Travelling Showpeople community are 
contained within a broader ‘cultural’ definition 

3.16 Analysis of the household survey data established that 58.3% of respondent 
households on pitches across Blackburn with Darwen meet the PPTS 2015 definition of 
being a Gypsy/Traveller household and across Hyndburn 79.2% meet the definition. 
These households meet the definition by either travelling in the preceding year or 
within the past 5 years and/or intend to travel in the next year or in any year in the 
next five years. This is discussed further in the analysis in Chapter 7. 

 

Phase 3: Stakeholder survey 

3.17 The survey of stakeholders was conducted during January and February 2019 and 
using an online questionnaire. Contact information for key stakeholders was provided 
by Council officers. Stakeholders were contacted and asked to participate in the online 
questionnaire, answering whichever questions they felt were relevant to their 
knowledge and experience. The stakeholder consultation invited representatives from 
all of the neighbouring local authorities, who were requested to provide information 
regarding their local situation and provision, including issues such as unauthorised 

Page 59



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 26 

July  2019 

encampment activity. This approach assists the Council in meeting their requirements 
under the Duty to Cooperate. 

3.18 The questionnaire was initially made available from 28th January to 8th February 2019. 
A reminder email was sent out on the 6th Feb to encourage as many responses as 
possible. Following the reminder an extension was provided to the original deadline 
giving non-respondents an extra five days to reply (11th Feb to 15th Feb) to maximise 
participation. A total of 7 responses to the stakeholder survey were obtained and the 
findings of the online stakeholder survey are set out in Chapter 6 of this report. 

 

Phase 4: Needs assessment and production of report 

3.19 A detailed explanation of the analysis of pitch requirements is contained in Chapter 6 
but briefly comprises analysis of the following:  

 Current pitch supply, households living in bricks and mortar accommodation; 
households planning to move in the next five years, and emerging households to 
give total need for pitches; and 

 Supply based on the number of authorised pitches and turnover on sites on public 
pitches. 

3.20 The overall need for pitches is then compared with the overall supply. 

3.21 The need for transit pitches was calculated using unauthorised encampment data 
which set out how many encampments had taken place and the number of caravans 
on them. The survey also asked households if they felt there was a need for transit 
pitches.  

 

Pitches and households 

3.22 One of the key challenges faced when assessing Gypsy and Traveller pitch 
requirements is the actual nature of pitches and how this relates to the number of 
households they can support. 

3.23 PPTS 2015 refers to the need for Local Planning Authorities to ‘identify and update 
annually, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of 
sites against their locally set targets’ and ‘relate the number of pitches/plots to the 
circumstances of the specific size and location of the site and the surrounding 
population’s size and density’ (PPTS 2015, paragraph 10). 

3.24 Planning decision notices usually refer to the number of pitches on a site or the 
specifics of what can be on a pitch e.g. statics, tourers; or specific individuals and/or 
households.  

3.25 As part of the GTAA, it is essential that the characteristics of sites, the number of 
pitches and how many households these can support is carefully considered. There are 
a range of issues which need to be considered when reviewing site and pitch 
characteristics and their potential implications for future pitch and site requirements 
which are now summarised.  

Page 60



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 27 

July  2019 

 

Site and pitch size 

3.26 There are no definitive parameters for site or pitch sizes. Previous Design Guidance 
(DCLG, 2008) states in paragraph 4.4 that ‘Gypsy and Traveller sites are designed to 
provide land per household which is suitable for a mobile home, touring caravan and a 
utility building, together with space for parking. Sites of various sizes, layouts and pitch 
numbers operate successfully today and work best when they take into account the 
size of the site and the needs and demographics of the families resident on them’.  

3.27 Paragraph 4.47 states that ‘to ensure fire safety it is essential that every trailer, 
caravan or park home must be not less than 6 metres from any other trailer, caravan 
or park home that is occupied separately’.  

3.28 Paragraph 7.12 states that ‘as a general guide, it is possible to specify that an average 
family pitch must be capable of accommodating an amenity building, a large trailer 
and touring caravan (or two trailers, drying space for clothes, a lockable shed (for 
bicycles, wheelchair storage etc.), parking space for two vehicles and a small garden 
area’.  

3.29 Paragraph 4.13 states that ‘smaller pitches must be able to accommodate at least an 
amenity building, a large trailer, drying space for clothes and parking for at least one 
vehicle’. 

3.30 There is no guidance on the maximum size of a site but it is generally accepted 
amongst the Travelling community that sites of 6-10 pitches are appropriate. 

 

Occupancy 

3.31 A pitch may accommodate more than one family unit, for instance it could include a 
family, older children who have formed their own household and other family 
members. This could lead to potential overcrowding and this is considered as part of 
the GTAA household survey.  

3.32 Private sites may restrict occupancy to close family/friends. This limits opportunity for 
others to move onto the site but this restrictive occupancy may provide for emerging 
needs within a household, for example as grown-up children (previously living within a 
parent(s) or grandparent(s) home) form independent households of their own. 

3.33 Quality, size of pitch and proximity of caravans on pitches vary dramatically. 

 

Response 

3.34 For each site, a pragmatic and reasonable judgement should be made as part of the 
GTAA regarding the number of pitches or sub-divisions on sites. This may relate to the 
number of families living on sites, and could include a consideration of the potential 
intensification of sites (for instance through further sub-division, extension or use of 
vacant areas within the site). Capacity and layout of sites should be identified through 
site observation (directly or indirectly through Google maps or similar), planning 
history and local knowledge of planning, enforcement and liaison officers. 

Page 61



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 28 

July  2019 

3.35 Pitches can become intensified or sub-divided once planning applications have been 
approved. These sub-divisions tend to be tolerated by councils. Often pitches become 
subdivided to provide space for newly-forming households, particularly from family 
members. The potential for pitch intensification/sub-division was considered on site 
visits and respondents were asked whether intensification/sub-division was possible 
on the site they lived on.  

 

  

Page 62



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 29 

July  2019 

4. Review of the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople population and existing provision of 
pitches and plots 

4.1 This chapter looks at the current picture in terms of the current population and 
demography of Gypsies and Travellers across the study area before going on to 
explore the extent and nature of provision across the area. 

 

2011 Census population estimates 

4.2 Whilst it is recognised that some families may not identify themselves as Gypsies or 
Travellers in research, the 2011 Census16 identifies a total of 43 households in 
Blackburn with Darwen and 43 households in Hyndburn where the Household 
Reference Person (HRP) has a ‘White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller’ (WGoIT) ethnicity (Table 
4.1a). In Blackburn with Darwen, 44.2% (19 households) live in bricks and mortar 
accommodation (house or bungalow, or flat, maisonette or apartment) and 55.8% (24 
households) live in a caravan or other mobile or temporary structure. In Hyndburn, 
74.4% (32 households) live in bricks and mortar accommodation (house or bungalow, 
or flat, maisonette or apartment) and 25.6% (11 households) live in a caravan or other 
mobile or temporary structure. 

 

Table 4.1a Households identifying as Gypsy Traveller by accommodation type 

Borough 

Total: 
Accommodation 

type 
House or 
bungalow 

A flat, 
maisonette or 

apartment 

A caravan or other 
mobile or temporary 

structure 

Blackburn with Darwen 43 17 2 24 

Hyndburn 43 31 1 11 

Source: 2011 Census CT0128 

 

4.3 The 2011 Census provides further information on actual residents and Table 4.1b 
provides details of the number of people identifying as a White Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
by accommodation type. 

 

  

                                                      
16 Tables 5.1a to 5.1e are taken from the Census 2011. Special tables were commissioned by ONS to cover the ethnicity and several data sets 
were produced and made available on the ONS website on the 21st January 2014. See Tables CT0127 and CT0128. Main article: 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census-analysis/what-does-the-2011-census-tell-us-about-the-characteristics-of-gypsy-or-irish-
travellers-in-england-and-wales-/index.html 

Page 63

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census-analysis/what-does-the-2011-census-tell-us-about-the-characteristics-of-gypsy-or-irish-travellers-in-england-and-wales-/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census-analysis/what-does-the-2011-census-tell-us-about-the-characteristics-of-gypsy-or-irish-travellers-in-england-and-wales-/index.html


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 30 

July  2019 

Table 4.1b People from households identifying as White Gypsy or Irish Traveller by 
accommodation type 

Borough 

Total: 
Accommodation 

type 
House or 
bungalow 

A flat, 
maisonette or 

apartment 

A caravan or other 
mobile or temporary 

structure 

Blackburn with Darwen 160 65 5 90 

Hyndburn 97 58 1 38 

Source: 2011 Census  

 

4.4 Table 4.1c provides an analysis of people and households and shows that the average 
household size is 3.7 persons for Gypsies and Travellers in Blackburn with Darwen and 
2.3 in Hyndburn. This compares with an average household size of 2.3 (down from 2.4 
in 2001) for the UK as a whole across all households. In Blackburn with Darwen, there 
is only slight variation in average household size across dwelling types (with 
households in flats the lowest at 2.5 and those in caravans and house/bungalow the 
same at 3.8). In Hyndburn, there is notable variation in the average household size for 
those living in caravans/mobiles (3.5) compared with those in houses (1.9) and flats 
(1.0).  

 

Table 4.1c People per Household, Calculation by Accommodation Type 

Borough 

Total: 
Accommodation 

type 
House or 
bungalow 

A flat, 
maisonette or 

apartment 

A caravan or other 
mobile or temporary 

structure 

Blackburn with Darwen 3.7 3.8 2.5 3.8 

Hyndburn 2.3 1.9 1.0 3.5 

Source: 2011 Census 

 

Caravan Count information  

4.5 Snapshot counts of the number of Gypsy and Traveller caravans were requested by 
the Government in 1979, and have since been undertaken bi-annually by local 
authorities on a voluntary basis every January and July17. Their accuracy varies 
between local authorities and according to how information is included in the process. 
A major criticism is the non-involvement of Gypsies and Travellers themselves in the 
counts. However, the counts, conducted on a single day twice a year, are the only 
systematic source of information on the numbers and distribution of Gypsy and 
Traveller caravans and trailers. The counts include caravans (or trailers) on and off 

                                                      
17 Historically caravan counts have not included Travelling Showpeople. Since 2010 the Government has requested that January counts 
include Travelling Showpeople, however, the figures relating to Travelling Showpeople are reported separately and not included in the 
overall count figures.    

Page 64



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 31 

July  2019 

authorised sites (i.e. those with planning permission) but do not relate necessarily to 
the actual number of pitches on sites. 

4.6 The figures for the last seven Traveller caravan counts for Blackburn with Darwen are 
set out in Table 4.2 and Hyndburn in Table 4.3. For Blackburn with Darwen, data shows 
that an average of 66 caravans have been recorded on sites across the borough during 
the seven-count period. Of these, virtually all (98.5%) are on authorised sites with 
planning permission and 1.5% are on unauthorised sites. Overall 60% are on social 
rented sites, 38.5% on authorised private sites and 1.5% are on unauthorised sites.  

4.7 For Hyndburn, data shows that an average of 111 caravans have been recorded on 
sites across the borough during the seven-count period. Of these 95.6% are on 
authorised sites with planning permission and 4.4% are on unauthorised sites. Overall 
21.6% are on social rented sites, 74% on authorised private sites and 4.4% are on 
unauthorised sites.  

Table 4.2 Bi-annual Traveller caravan count figures January 2016 to January 2019 

Blackburn with Darwen 

Authorised sites with planning 
permission 

Unauthorised sites 
without planning 

permission 

Total Social Rented Total Private Total Unauthorised 

Jan 2016 40 31 5 76 

Jul 2016 38 6 2 46 

Jan 2017 39 30 0 69 

Jul 2017 39 27 0 66 

Jan 2018 42 29 0 71 

Jul 2018 39 27 0 66 

Jan 2019 40 28 0 68 

Seven-Count Average 39.6 25.4 1.0 66.0 

Seven-Count % Average 60.0 38.5 1.5 100.0 

Source: MHCLG Traveller Caravan Count, Live Table 1 (January 2019) 

 

Table 4.3 Bi-annual Traveller caravan count figures January 2016 to January 2019 

Hyndburn Count 

Authorised sites with planning 
permission 

Unauthorised sites 
without planning 

permission 

Total Social Rented Total Private Total Unauthorised 

Jan 2016 25 69 3 97 

Jul 2016 25 75 4 104 

Jan 2017 25 81 5 111 

Jul 2017 25 68 6 99 

Jan 2018 23 85 6 114 

Jul 2018 22 77 5 104 

Jan 2019 23 121 5 149 

Seven-Count Average 24 82 5 111 

Seven-Count % Average 21.6% 74.0% 4.4% 100.0% 

Source: MHCLG Traveller Caravan Count, Live Table 1 (January 2019) 

Page 65



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 32 

July  2019 

 

4.8 In addition to the bi-annual Traveller Caravan Count, there is an annual snapshot count 
of the number of Travelling Showpeople caravans, which is undertaken alongside the 
January count of Gypsy and Traveller caravans (as above). The most recently-available 
published data is therefore January 2018.  

4.9 Over the period 2014-2019, there were no reported Travelling Showperson caravans 
across Blackburn with Darwen. Across Hyndburn there were an average of 16 caravans 
and in 2019 24 caravans were recorded.  

Table 4.4 Annual Travelling Showpeople caravan count figures January 2014 to January 2018 

Hyndburn Count 

Authorised sites with planning 
permission 

Unauthorised sites 
without planning 

permission 

Total Social Rented Total Private Total Unauthorised 

2014 0 8 0 8 

2015 0 13 0 13 

2016 0 15 0 15 

2017 0 10 0 10 

2018 0 24 0 24 

2019 0 24 0 24 

Six-Count Average 0 16 0 16 

Six-Count % Average 0 100% 0 100% 

Source: MHCLG Travelling Showpeople Caravan Count, Live Table 3 (January 2019) 

 

4.10 The MHCLG caravan count data also records Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
caravan sites provided by local authorities and private registered providers in 
England18. The most up-to-date data from July 2018 is summarised in Table 4.5. 

Table 4.5 Traveller and Travelling Showpeople caravan sites provided by local authorities and 
registered providers in  Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn, July 2018 

Site and address 
Date 
site 

opened 

Date of 
last site 
changes 

Total no. 
of 

pitches 

of which 
Caravan 
capacity residential transit 

Blackburn with Darwen: Ewood 
Caravan Site, Aqueduct Road, 
Blackburn 

2003  20 20 0 40 

Hyndburn: 
Whinney Hill Caravan Site, Whinney 
Hill Road, Altham Accrington BB5 5UU 

1974  15 15 0 30 

Source: DCLG Traveller Caravan Count, Live Table 2 (July 2019) 

                                                      
18 DCLG Count of Traveller Caravans July 2017 England, Housing Statistical Release 17 November 2017, Live Table 2 

Page 66



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 33 

July  2019 

 

Local information 

4.11 Data on the provision of sites considers both authorised and unauthorised sites across 
Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Boroughs. 

4.12 Broadly speaking, authorised sites are those with planning permission and can be on 
either public or privately-owned land. Unauthorised sites are made up of either longer 
term19 unauthorised encampments20, that have been in existence for some 
considerable time and so can be considered to be indicative of a permanent need for 
accommodation (in some instances local authorities class these as tolerated sites and 
do not take enforcement action to remove them); and unauthorised developments, 
where Travellers are residing upon land that they own and that does not have 
planning permission (see Appendix D for more detailed definitions).  

4.13 In terms of Gypsy and Traveller site provision across Blackburn with Darwen (Table 
4.6), there is one permanent local authority site and six private authorised sites. 
Across Hyndburn (Table 4.7), there is one local authority site, 12 private sites and two 
unauthorised sites. There is also one Travelling Showperson yard in Hyndburn. Site 
locations are shown on Map 4.1.  

4.14 Across Blackburn with Darwen there are two further locations which are owned by 
Gypsies and Travellers and which are to be brought forward for new pitch 
development: 

 Eden Street/Milton Street (former 8 pitch site; this was semi-derelict at the time of 
site observation but a Certificate of Lawful use was granted in January 2019);  

 St. James Street, Mill Hill, Blackburn (land has been bought by a Gypsy and 
Traveller family for developing two pitches).  

4.15 Table 4.8 (Blackburn with Darwen) and Table 4.9 (Hyndburn) provides summary 
observations regarding the quality of each site and the predominant ethnicity of 
residents on each site. This indicates that all sites are considered to provide 
appropriate accommodation for the Gypsy and Traveller community of whom the vast 
majority are English Gypsies/Romany. The Travelling Showpersons yard is extensive 
and provides plots for residential use and equipment storage.   

 

                                                      
19 Approximately three months or longer 

20 Please note that unauthorised encampments also encompass short-term illegal encampments, which are more indicative of transit need, 
see para 7.10 for more information on these encampments.   

Page 67



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 34 

 
July 2019 

Table 4.6 List of Gypsy & Traveller sites and Travelling Showperson yards (as at November 2018) – Blackburn with Darwen 

Site/Yard 
Code 

Site/Yard Name Address Postcode Ownership Type Pitches Households Response 

LA1 Ewood caravan site 
Off Alan Shearer Way, 
Blackburn, 

BB2 4HT Council Permanent Authorised 20 
20+13 

doubling up 
20 

Priv1 Acorn Park Vincent Street, Blackburn BB2 4JL Private Permanent Authorised 2 1 1 

Priv2 next to Acorn Park Vincent Street, Blackburn BB2 4JL Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

Priv3 Sunny Ray  
New Wellington Street, 
Blackburn 

BB2 4HA Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

Priv4 Loverridges Sandy Lane, Darwen BB3 0PL Private Permanent Authorised 4 1 1 

Priv5 Oak hill caravan park 
Eccleshill Road, Lower 
Darwen 

BB3 0RP Private Permanent Authorised 17 17 10 

Priv6 Johnsons 
Haslingden Road, 
Blackburn 

BB2 3HW Private Permanent Authorised 4 1 1 

 

Summary Council Permanent Authorised 20 
20 + 13 

doubling up 
20 

 
Private Permanent Authorised 29 22 15 

TOTAL 49 
42 plus 13 

doubling up 
35 

Source: Council data 2018, site survey fieldwork 2018 

  

P
age 68



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 35 

 
July 2019 

Table 4.7 List of Gypsy & Traveller sites and Travelling Showperson yards (as at November 2018) – Hyndburn 

Site/Yard 
Code 

Site/Yard Name Address Postcode Ownership Type Pitches Households Response 

LA1 Whinney Hill Road 
Whinney Hill Road, 
Huncoat 

BB5 6NX Council Permanent Authorised 15 15 15 

Priv1 Whinney Hill House 
Whinney Hill Road, 
Huncoat 

BB5 6NX Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

Priv2 
The Yard, Whinney 
Hill (next to Council 
site) 

Whinney Hill Road, 
Huncoat 

BB5 6NX Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

Priv3 
Sankey House Farm, 
Whinney Hill Road 

Sankey House Farm, 
Whinney Hill Road, 
Huncoat 

BB5 6NX Private Permanent Authorised 10 10 6 

Priv4 Dineley Street Dineley Street, Church BB5 4JG Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

Priv5 
Sunnydale Caravan 
Park 

Sunnydale Caravan Park, 
Charter Street, Accrington 

BB5 0LQ Private Permanent Authorised 15 15 11 

Priv6 Blythes Sidings 
Blythes Sidings (The Old 
Sidings) Off Blackburn 
Road, Accrington 

BB5 0AE Private Permanent Authorised 3 3 3 

Priv7 Parsonage Street 
Parsonage Street Sites 1 
and 2 

BB5 0HS Private Permanent Authorised 2 1 1 

Priv8 Springvale 
Springvale Off Springhill 
Road (behind Coal Pit 
Lane). 

BB5 0EX Private Permanent Authorised 3 1 1 

Priv9 
The Green/Duncan 
Square 

The Green/Duncan 
Square, Rear of 
Palladium, Union Road 
(on road opposite 
Oswaldtwistle Mills) 

BB5 0EW Private Permanent Authorised 9 8* 8* 

Priv10 
Heyes 
Lane/Stonebridge 
Lane 

Heyes Lane/Stonebridge 
Lane, Oswaldtwistle 

BB5 3HX Private Permanent Authorised 1 1 1 

P
age 69



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 36 

 
July 2019 

Table 4.7 List of Gypsy & Traveller sites and Travelling Showperson yards (as at November 2018) – Hyndburn 

Site/Yard 
Code 

Site/Yard Name Address Postcode Ownership Type Pitches Households Response 

Priv11 James Street 
James Street, 
Oswaldtwistle 

BB5 3LJ Private Permanent Authorised 6 6 2 

Priv12 
Fir Trees, Sough 
Lane 

Fir Tree, Sough Lane, 
Oswaldtwistle 

BB1 2LR Private Permanent Authorised 6 9 9 

Unauth1 
Smithfield Stables, 
Moss Lane 

Smithfield Stables, Moss 
Lane, Stanhill, 
Oswaldtwistle 

BB5 3RF Private Unauthorised 1 4 4 

Unauth2 
Smithacres, Back 
Lane 

Back Lane, Baxenden BB5 2RE Private Unauthorised 4 4 4 

TSP1 
Silcocks, Burnley 
Road 

Silcocks, Burnley Road, 
Altham 

BB2 4HA Private Permanent Authorised 20 10 ** 

 Summary 

Gypsy and 
Traveller 

Council Permanent Authorised 15 15 15 

Private Permanent Authorised 58 57 45 

Private Unauthorised 5 8 8 

Total G&T Total 78 80 68 

Travelling 
Showperson 

Private and 
Total TSP 

Permanent Authorised 20 10 ** 

Source: Council data 2018, site survey fieldwork 2018 

*A family has moved from The Green/Duncan Square to Smithacres, Back Lane, Baxenden. It is understood the family were living on an 
overcrowded pitch at The Green/Duncan Square. We therefore are assuming that there are 8 households remaining at The Green/Duncan 

**information discussion held with owner who stated no need for additional plots 

  

P
age 70



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 37 

 
July 2019 

Map 4.1 Location of sites in Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn 

  

P
age 71



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 38 

 
July 2019 

 

Table 4.8 Site condition and ethnicity : Blackburn with Darwen 

Site Code Site Name Site Comments Main Ethnicity 

LA1 
Ewood 
caravan site Fully occupied. Site manager. Well maintained 

Romany/English Gypsy 

Priv1 Acorn Park Bricks and mortar dwelling and hardstanding for caravans. Well maintained Irish Traveller 

Priv2 
next to Acorn 
Park Bricks and mortar dwelling and hardstanding for caravans. Well maintained 

Irish Traveller 

Priv3 Sunny Ray  Small family site. Hardstanding throughout. Well maintained Romany 

Priv4 Loverridges Fully occupied by owner and family Unable to confirm 

Priv5 
Oak hill 
caravan park 

Fully occupied. Owner lives on site and range of households live on the site. Well 
maintained and hardstanding throughout 

Romany/English Gypsy 

Priv6 Johnsons Hardstanding throughout. Well maintained - one static on site no longer used Scottish Traveller 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 72



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 39 

 
July 2019 

Table 4.9 Site condition and ethnicity : Hyndburn 

Site Code Site Name Site Comments Main ethnicity 

Council1 Whinney Hill Road Well maintained and good quality site 
English Gypsy/Romany 
with some Irish Travellers 

Priv1 Whinney Hill House Bricks and mortar property English Gypsy 

Priv2 The Yard, Whinney Hill  Small private site. Well maintained and good quality site Irish Traveller 

Priv3 
Sankey House Farm, 
Whinney Hill Road 10 pitch site. Mainly hardstanding and basic facilities.  English Gypsy/Romany 

Priv4 Dineley Street Small family site - well maintained and good quality English Traveller 

Priv5 Sunnydale Caravan Park Larger site but not well maintained  English Gypsy/Romany 

Priv6 Blythes Sidings Family site - well maintained and good quality English Gypsy 

Priv7a Parsonage Street Small family site. Completely paved over and well maintained English Gypsy 

Priv7b Parsonage Street Small family site. Completely paved over and well maintained English Gypsy 

Priv8 Springvale Bricks and mortar property with pitches behind property. Well maintained English Traveller 

Priv9 The Green/Duncan Sq  
Site comprises two separate groups of caravans. Part is overcrowded (and 
family have since moved off). Very longstanding site and adequate provision Romany Gypsy 

Priv10 Heyes Lane/Stonebridge La. Bricks and mortar property with pitches in garden. Well maintained English Gypsy  

Priv11 James Street Well maintained and good quality site English Gypsy  

Priv12 Fir Trees, Sough Lane Well maintained and good quality site English Gypsy  

Unauth1 
Smithfield Stables, Moss 
Lane Well maintained and good quality site Romany Gypsy 

Unauth2 Smithacres, Back Lane Well maintained and good quality site Romany Gypsy 

TSP1 Silcocks, Burnley Road 
Large Traveller Showperson site - substantial site for residential occupation 
and storage of equipment but not fully occupied  Travelling Showperson P

age 73



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 40 

 
July 2019 

 

5. Household survey findings 
5.1 This chapter presents the findings of the household survey, which was carried out to 

provide primary data to inform this GTAA. The survey aimed to reach as many Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople living in the boroughs as possible. It was 
conducted using the questionnaires which are set out in Appendix C.  

 

Gypsy and Traveller households living in Blackburn with Darwen 

5.2 There were a total of 24 responses to the household survey. Of these: 

 9 were Gypsies and Traveller households living on the Council site; 

 15 were living on permanent authorised pitches; 

5.3 Additional information sourced from site management information provided data for 
the remaining 11 households living on the council site.  

5.4 Household information was therefore achieved for 35 households living on sites, 
results for the survey have not been weighted.  

5.5 It would not be appropriate to provide a detailed analysis of the survey information as 
this has the potential to identify individual responses. Broad summaries of the 
household survey data findings are presented below in order to maintain respondent 
confidentiality. 

5.6 Of household representatives interviewed (base=25), 48% described themselves as 
Gypsy (including Romany, Romany Gypsy and English Gypsy and English Romany), 40% 
as English Traveller and 12% as Irish Traveller. 

5.7 Data from the household survey and supplementary information from housing 
management data provided an insight into household size, type and the age of 
residents living on pitches.  

5.8 There was significant variation in the size of households. 6.5% of households were 
single person; 30.4% were two person; 19.6% were three person; 17.4% were four 
person, 17.4% were five person and 8.6% were six or more person households.  

5.9 Regarding household type, 2.8% were singles, 5.6% couples, 30.6% couples with one 
or two children, 19.4% couples with 3 or more children, 5.6% were lone parents and 
36.1% were other types of household (which included multi-generational households 
who were doubling up on pitches).  

5.10 Across Blackburn with Darwen there are at least are 112 people living across 55 
households (42 households plus 13 doubled up households). There were a total of 54 
children aged 13 or under living on pitches along with 7 young people aged 14-17 
years. 

5.11 The household survey/management information indicates that the Gypsy and Traveller 
population is relatively youthful, with a large child and teenage contingent. Overall, 
48.2% of the Gypsy and Traveller population living on pitches were aged 13 or under 

Page 74



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 41 

 
July 2019 

and 6.3% were aged 14-17. In addition, 21.5% were aged 18-34, 9.8% aged 35-44, 7.1% 
aged 45-59 and 7.1% aged 60 and over. 

5.12 In terms of duration of residence, 26.1% of respondents answering the question 
(base=23) said  up to 5 years; 52.2% stated between 5 and 10 years; 8.7% stated 
between 11 and 20 years and 13% stated 20 years or more. Three households had 
moved into the borough in the preceding five years, had moved from existing sites 
onto vacant pitches and mainly had family connections in the area.  

5.13 When asked about overcrowding, 12% of respondents said that their home is 
overcrowded and 16% said their pitch was overcrowded.  

5.14 Regarding travelling behaviour, 50% of respondents lived in a household where 
someone had travelled in the previous year. 45.8% stated someone in their household 
planned to travel in the next year and overall 58.3% met the definition (either they or 
someone in their household had travelled or plans to travel in the next year and 
beyond). The main reasons for travelling were for work and visiting family/friends. 
Reasons for not travelling included being too old, working locally and childcare 
responsibilities.  

5.15 79.8% of respondents considered that there is a need for additional permanent pitch 
provision in Blackburn with Darwen. Most (72.2%) felt there was a need for up to 5 
additional pitches, 16.7% between 10 and 20 pitches and 11.1% stated ‘lots more’.  

 

Gypsy and Traveller households living in Hyndburn 

5.16 There were a total of 69 responses to the household survey. Of these: 

 15 were Gypsies and Traveller households living on the Council site; 

 46 were living on permanent authorised pitches; and 

 8 were living on unauthorised pitches 

5.17 Household information was therefore achieved for 69 households living on sites and 
results for the survey have not been weighted. 

5.18 It would not be appropriate to provide a detailed analysis of the survey information as 
this has the potential to identify individual responses. Broad summaries of the 
household survey data findings are presented below in order to maintain respondent 
confidentiality. 

5.19 Of household representatives interviewed (base=69), 92.8% described themselves as 
Gypsy (including Romany, Romany Gypsy and English Gypsy and English Romany), 
2.9% as English Traveller and 4.3% as Irish Traveller. 

5.20 Data from the household survey provided an insight into household size, type and the 
age of residents living on pitches.  

5.21 There was significant variation in the size of households. 18.5% of households were 
single person; 24.6% were two person; 23.1% were three person; 9.2% were four 
person, 13.8% were five person and 10.7% were six or more person households.  

Page 75



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 42 

 
July 2019 

5.22 Regarding household type, 16.9% were singles, 16.9% couples, 18.5% couples with one 
or two children, 20% couples with 3 or more children, 17.4% were lone parents and 
10.3% were other types of household. 

5.23 Across Hyndburn there are at least are 194 people living across 82 households. There 
were a total of 81 children aged 13 or under living in households on pitches along with 
8 young people aged 14-17 years. 

5.24 The household survey indicates that the Gypsy and Traveller population is relatively 
youthful, with a large child and teenage contingent. Overall, 41.8% of the Gypsy and 
Traveller population living on pitches were aged 13 or under and 4.1% were aged 14-
17. In addition, 29.4% were aged 18-34, 5.2% aged 35-44, 9.3% aged 45-59 and 10.3% 
aged 60 and over.  

5.25 In terms of duration of residence, 38.5% of respondents answering the question 
(base=39) said up to 5 years; 17.9% stated between 5 and 10 years; 20.5% stated 
between 11 and 20 years and 23.1% stated 20 years or more. Eight households had 
moved into the borough in the preceding five years; had moved from a combination of 
existing sites, bricks and mortar and from the roadside; had mainly moved onto vacant 
pitches; and mainly moved for family reasons.  

5.26 When asked about overcrowding, 5.5% of respondents said that their home is 
overcrowded and 5.5% said their pitch was overcrowded.  

5.27 Regarding travelling behaviour, 77.8% of respondents lived in a household where 
someone had travelled in the previous year. 79.6% stated someone in their household 
planned to travel in the next year and overall 79.6% met the definition (either they or 
someone in their household had travelled or plans to travel in the next year and 
beyond). The main reasons for travelling were for work and visiting family/friends. 
Reasons for not travelling included being too old and children were settled. 

5.28 84.8% of respondents considered that there is a need for additional permanent pitch 
provision in Hyndburn. Most (83.3%) felt there was a need for up to 5 additional 
pitches and 16.7% between 10 and 20 pitches.  

 

  

Page 76



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 43 

 
July 2019 

6. Stakeholder consultation 

Overview 

6.1 A stakeholder consultation exercise was carried out for the GTAA involved 
stakeholders from the boroughs and neighbouring local authority areas of South 
Ribble, Bolton, Chorley and Bury (for Blackburn with Darwen) and Burnley, Rossendale, 
Ribble Valley (for Hyndburn).  

6.2 Key stakeholders were identified by each of the participating local authorities. These 
individuals were invited by arc4to participate in an online survey to provide their views 
on a range of issues relating to the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
community within the council area and surrounding areas.  

6.3 A total of 7 separate responses (some only partial) to the stakeholder consultation 
were obtained from representatives from the borough councils, and a charity 
organisation. Respondents were asked to answer only the questions that they felt 
were relevant to their knowledge and experience. This is a qualitative summary of the 
views expressed by stakeholders responding to the online survey. 

 

New Permanent sites 

6.4 Stakeholders were asked whether or not they felt that there is sufficient provision of 
permanent sites, pitches and plots for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
across the boroughs. For Blackburn with Darwen, 4 respondents stated that they 
‘don’t know’ and 3 respondents stated they did not think that there is sufficient 
permanent provision of accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers in the study area. 
No respondents thought that there was sufficient provision. For Hyndburn, the 
majority of respondents (6) stated that they ‘don’t know’ whether there is sufficient 
permanent provision of accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers in the study area. 
One stakeholder thought that there is sufficient provision of accommodation when 
compared to neighbouring areas. No respondents explicitly stated that there is 
insufficient permanent pitch/plot provision. 

6.5 In terms of locations for new provision, the following points were made by 
respondents:  

 In sustainable locations in or adjacent to existing settlements to enable integration 
and close access to services and amenities; 

 In close proximity to services and facilities; 

 Spaced evenly throughout the boroughs and not be any larger than 10 pitches on 
each site to enable them to be manageable; 

 The identification of locations should have regard to national planning policy set 
out in traveller advice; 

 Bull Hill, Darwen was specifically mentioned as a location in Blackburn with 
Darwen. 

Page 77



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 44 

 
July 2019 

6.6 Respondents identified the following barriers to new site provision across the 
boroughs: 

 Suitable available land;  

 Overcoming land ownership constraints; 

 Political and public opposition; 

 Infrastructure costs 

 Lack of ability/willingness of travelling communities to purchase land and pursue 
planning applications; 

 Costs of building and maintenance of sites; and 

 In the case of Travelling Showpeople requirements for work and residential uses 
together with storage make site identification very difficult. 

 

Transit sites 

6.7 When asked whether transit sites are needed, stakeholders relevant to Blackburn with 
Darwen made the following comments:  

 A transit site to accommodate illegal encampments and then insist that they are 
relocated to the official transit site, would free up resources and costs related to 
undertaking an eviction; 

 Yes. There does need to be a provision to retain the culture of Travellers. The 
borough is very accessible when travelling to Appleby Fair; 

 There is only a small number of travellers who visit and travel through the borough 
as most travellers are based locally and remain local so transit sites are not 
required; 

6.8 Several respondents identified that barriers to transit provision were similar to those 
relating to new permanent site provision such as: suitable available land; overcoming 
land ownership constraints; political and public opposition, lack of ability/willingness 
of travelling communities to purchase land and pursue planning applications and costs 
of building and maintenance of sites. One stakeholder added that the growth of house 
building is limiting provision for new sites. 

6.9 In terms of additional comments or thoughts on these issues, stakeholders mentioned 
the following: 

 At the Council's permanent statutory site, residents reside permanently, so there is 
no provision for 'travelling’ Travellers/Gypsies; 

 Due to the negative exposure of Travellers and the recent events at the Thwaites 
brewery, Blackburn with Darwen residents are very anti-Travellers; 

 There is a growing number of families who whilst have Traveller heritage do not 
travel and are permanently based in Blackburn with Darwen. These families are 
living on sites that are becoming overcrowded as over the years their children have 
grown up and want their own pitch/plot but want to remain local but do not have 

Page 78



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 45 

 
July 2019 

any other sites to live on. There is increasing pressure on serviced sites due to 
increasing numbers of occupants / residents; 

 The primary issue is that need should be met where it arises in Blackburn with 
Darwen without resorting to negotiations with Bolton over taking provision. 

6.10 When asked whether transit sites are needed, stakeholders relevant to Hyndburn 
believed that it would be necessary to establish whether Hyndburn is on any regular 
‘travelling route’ and to assess the number of unauthorised encampments occurring in 
the borough. Transit sites were thought to be potentially useful, however stakeholders 
noted difficulties such as: the practicalities of monitoring the length of time residents 
remain on site, refusal of residents to leave, sufficient resources needed to enforce 
these etc. 

 Several respondents identified that barriers to transit provision were similar to 
those relating to new permanent site provision such as: suitable available land; 
overcoming land ownership constraints; neighbourhood resistance and 
infrastructure costs. 

 No respondents had any additional comments or thoughts to make on these 
issues. 

 

Bricks and mortar 

6.11 Some Blackburn with Darwen stakeholders confirmed that they are aware of members 
of the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople community living in bricks and 
mortar accommodation across the borough. 

6.12 Most respondents could not comment on the question relating to whether additional 
provision of sites/pitches need to be made to accommodate the requirements of 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople currently living in settled 
accommodation across Blackburn with Darwen. Two respondents believed that 
additional provision is needed to respect their way of life and culture. However one 
stakeholder felt that the approach should be to exclude those living in bricks and 
mortar. 

6.13 Stakeholders were asked if they were aware of whether Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople feel safe in bricks and mortar accommodation in the study 
area, however only one stakeholder had information to provide on this. This was 
regarding the racist comments that some Travellers experience and that they are 
sometimes fearful for their family. However, they also went on to note that they have 
come across housed Travellers who enjoy living in bricks and mortar as it gives them 
security and they have lovely neighbours.  

6.14 One stakeholder had an additional comment to make on these issues. This was that 
Travellers find it difficult when they are offered a property due to lack of literacy and 
numeracy skills to understand the concept of agreements and the area and conditions 
they are offered. They are unaware of the responsibilities and the domestic utility bills. 

Page 79



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 46 

 
July 2019 

6.15 Some Hyndburn stakeholders confirmed that they are aware of members of the 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople community living in bricks and mortar 
accommodation across Hyndburn.  

6.16 Most respondents could not comment on the question relating to whether additional 
provision of sites/pitches need to be made to accommodate the requirements of 
Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople currently living in settled 
accommodation across Hyndburn. One respondent said that their understanding is 
that most Gypsy and Travellers living in bricks and mortar move into 'houses' so their 
children can access local schools or because they are getting older and their health is 
being compromised by living in a caravan.  

6.17 Stakeholders were asked if they were aware of whether Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople feel safe in bricks and mortar accommodation in the study 
area, however no stakeholders had any information to provide on this. 

6.18 No stakeholders had any additional comments or thoughts to make on these issues. 
No stakeholders for Blackburn with Darwen commented on existing sites. 

 

Unauthorised encampments 

6.19 Four Blackburn with Darwen stakeholders commented on unauthorised encampment 
activity. Stakeholders noted that unauthorised encampments are a problem to their 
organisation, citing the following concerns: process of eviction is time consuming and 
costly, dealing with enforcement, clean-up, prevention of use of land for car parking, 
political and local resident concerns and obtaining court dates.  

6.20 Three Hyndburn stakeholders commented unauthorised encampment activity. It was 
noted that unauthorised encampments are a problem to their organisation in terms of 
dealing with enforcement, complaints from other residents and obtaining court dates.   

 

Accommodation providers 

6.21 Stakeholders who provide accommodation and/or support were asked if they had 
been approached by Gypsy/Traveller and Travelling Showperson households in the 
past 5 years for accommodation and/or support. 

6.22 Within Blackburn with Darwen, eight had been approached for accommodation and 
one for housing-related support.  

6.23 Within Hyndburn, one household had approached stakeholders for accommodation 
and five had approached them for housing-related support.  

 

Planning policy 

6.24 The survey asked stakeholders what they think the impact of the Government’s August 
2015 changes to planning policy ‘Planning policy for traveller sites’ PPTS will have on 
future provision.  

Page 80



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 47 

 
July 2019 

6.25 For Blackburn with Darwen, one stakeholder stated that changes to the definition of 
travellers will result in provision being made for fewer new pitches. This may of course 
make new provision more palatable and therefore encourage authorities to identify 
new provision.  Also, strengthening restraint on Green Belt and other valued areas 
may actually result in fewer opportunities. 

6.26 For Hyndburn, one stakeholder believes that the change of the definition will have an 
impact on the future provision of sites/pitches as there is evidence that the new 
definition only picks up on approximately 40% of all Gypsies and Travellers. They went 
on to say that reference to the ‘cultural’ definition of Gypsies and Travellers, which the 
new definition has removed, should be made to help redress the balance.  

6.27 The survey then asked stakeholders what impact, if any, do they think that the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 will have. One Blackburn with Darwen stakeholder 
commented that section 124 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 removes the duty 
on local authorities under the Housing Act 2004 to assess the accommodation needs 
of Gypsies and Travellers in their area as a distinct category.  Instead, it specifies that 
local housing authorities should consider the needs of people "residing in or resorting 
to their district with respect to the provision of sites on which caravans can be 
stationed, or places on inland waterways where houseboats can be moored".  This 
may have more limited impact as needs still have to be considered. 

6.28 No stakeholders from Hyndburn felt able to comment on this. 

 

Houseboat need 

6.29 In relation to sufficient provision of moorings for houseboat dwellers across Hyndburn, 
a representative from The Canal & River Trust told us that they do not have any 
residential moorings on the Leeds & Liverpool Canal. However, they went on to say 
that The Trust would be happy to work with the Council in identifying suitable sites to 
increase the provision of moorings for houseboat dwellers within the Hyndburn 
authority area.  

 

Cross-boundary issues 

6.30 In terms of cross-boundary issues, most Blackburn with Darwen stakeholders were 
unaware or unsure of any current issues. One stakeholder stated that Bolton is 
affected by those travelling through the borough through the number of instances of 
unauthorised encampments. It is possible that additional provision in Blackburn with 
Darwen Council area including transit sites could ameliorate effects in Bolton.   

6.31 In terms of the movement of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople within the 
Hyndburn area and to/from neighbouring areas, most stakeholders were not aware of 
any regular movements. However, two stakeholders stated movements from the 
Appleby Horse Fair event and from Accrington, Wigan and Leicester.  

6.32 Blackburn with Darwen stakeholders were asked whether they were aware of any 
sites/locations close to the boundary of the borough where difficulties had arisen, 
however most respondents were not aware of such difficulties. One stakeholder 

Page 81



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 48 

 
July 2019 

however stated that they were aware of an illegal encampment on a public park. 
Hyndburn stakeholders did not report any issues.  

 

Conclusions 

6.33 Blackburn with Darwen stakeholders were asked to give their view of the key issues 
affecting Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople living in the Blackburn with 
Darwen Council area. Stakeholders mentioned: 

 Children’s’ education; 

 Community cohesion;  

 Employment, accessing adult education and housing; and 

 Lack of affordable sites for the population of locally based Travellers. 

6.34 Overall, stakeholders considered that the key strategic messages of the study should 
be: 

 Prevention of illegal encampments; 

 Conclusive information on need and the adequate provision of sites; 

 To highlight living conditions on sites especially WCs and outdoor bathrooms. 
Better play areas for children and a general meeting building for all age ranges to 
access – this could result into education provision for adults, EHE pupils, health 
visitors and outside agencies to use; 

 More investment in sites; 

 Assessment of the level of need and whether any need from adjoining authorities 
can be accommodated; and 

 Needs arising within the area should be met within the Blackburn with Darwen 
Council area. 

6.35 Stakeholders were asked if they agree that the stakeholder survey contributes to the 
requirement under the Duty to Cooperate with neighbouring authorities. There was 
limited response to this question, but the vast majority of responses were in positive 
agreement that the consultation contributes in the Duty to Cooperate.  

6.36 Hyndburn stakeholders were asked to give their view of the key issues affecting Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople living in the Hyndburn Council area. Stakeholders 
mentioned: 

 The provision of a disproportionate number of sites and pitches when compared to 
neighbouring boroughs; 

 The proposal by Lancashire CC, as part of its budget savings proposals, to declare 
the public site at Whinney Hill in Huncoat as surplus to requirements and the 
uncertainty this brings; and 

 A choice of adequate provision and available pitches. 

Page 82



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 49 

 
July 2019 

6.37 Overall, stakeholders considered that the key strategic messages of the study should 
be: 

 Conclusive information on level of need and the adequate provision of sites; 

 A clear understanding of the future need for Gypsy and Traveller site provision in 
Hyndburn up to 2036 to help inform the Local Plan along with planning policy 
recommendations; 

 That due consideration has been given to all comments from all members of the 
local community; and 

 Assessment of the level of need and whether any need from adjoining authorities 
can be accommodated.  

6.38 Stakeholders were asked if they agree that the stakeholder survey contributes to the 
requirement under the Duty to Cooperate with neighbouring authorities. There was 
limited response to this question, but the vast majority of responses were positive 
agreement that the consultation contributes in the Duty to Cooperate.  

 

  

Page 83



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 50 

 
July 2019 

7. Gypsy and Traveller pitch, Travelling Showperson 
plot and transit site requirements  

 

Introduction 

7.1 This section reviews the overall pitch and plot requirements of Gypsies and Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople across Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Boroughs. It 
takes into account current supply and need, as well as future need, based on 
modelling of data. This chapter also considers transit pitch requirements for Gypsies 
and Travellers. Finally, it presents planning policy recommendations.  

7.2 The calculation of pitch requirements is based on modelling as advocated in Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment Guidance (DCLG, 2007). Although now formally 
withdrawn, the former DCLG Guidance still provides the best-practice approach 
towards the assessment of pitch and plot needs (see chapter 2 for further discussion). 

7.3 This approach requires an assessment of the current needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
and a projection of future needs. It advocates the use of a survey to supplement 
secondary source information and derive key supply and demand information. 

7.4 The GTAA has modelled current and future need and current and future supply 
separately for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. For both groups, the 
modelling shows an overall ‘cultural’ need and then a ‘policy-on’ ‘PPTS need which 
takes into account those households who met the PPTS planning definition.  

 

Pitch requirement model overview 

7.5 Pitch need  is assessed for two time periods. A short-term 5-year model looks a need 
over the next 5 years (2019/20 to 2023/24)21. A longer-term model looks at need over 
the remainder of the plan period (to 2035/36) arising from children likely to need a 
pitch. 

7.6 In terms of cultural need, the 5-year model considers:  

 The baseline number of households on all types of site (authorised, unauthorised 
and temporary authorised sites) as at November 2018;  

 Existing households planning to move in the next five years (currently on sites and 
also from bricks and mortar) and where they are planning to move to; and 

 Emerging households currently on sites and planning to emerge in the next five 
years and stay within the study area on a pitch; to derive a figure for 

 Total pitch need. 

                                                      
21 For Blackburn with Darwen, the short-term model has been extended  by one year to cover the full plan period which begins in 2018/29 
and runs to 2035/36. Data have been modelled for 2019/20 to 2023/24 and extrapolated to 2018/19 to 2023/24 

Page 84



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 51 

 
July 2019 

7.7 In terms of supply, the model considers: 

 Total supply of current pitches on authorised sites; and  

 Vacant pitches on authorised sites 

7.8 The model then reconciles total need and existing authorised supply over the next 5 
years by summarising: 

 Total need for pitches; and 

 Total supply of authorised pitches. 

7.9 The longer-term model then considers the cultural need over the period to 2035/36. 
This is based on the age profile of children under 13 living in Gypsy and Traveller 
households on pitches (the longer-term model). 

7.10 For each model, the likely pitch need from households meeting the PPTS definition is 
also calculated.  

 

 

Blackburn with Darwen: Description of factors in the 5-year need 
model 

7.11 Table 7.1 provides a summary of the 5-year pitch need calculation. Each component in 
the model is now discussed to ensure that the process is transparent and any 
assumptions clearly stated. 

 

Need  

7.12 Current households living on pitches (1a to 1f) 

These figures are derived from local authority data, site observation and household 
survey information. A total of 13 households were identified as being 
concealed/doubled up on pitches on the local authority site and these are included 
here. Site observation data indicates there are 55 households living across 42 pitches.  

7.13 Current households in bricks and mortar accommodation (2) 

The 2011 Census suggested there were 19 households living in bricks and mortar 
accommodation.  

7.14 Existing households planning to move in the next five years (3) 

This was derived from information from the household survey for respondents 
currently on authorised pitches. To account for non-response, the data in the model 
has been weighted by a factor of 1.222. 

                                                      
22 35 responses from 42 G&T households on pitches results in a weighting factor of 42/35= 1.2 

Page 85



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 52 

 
July 2019 

Of existing households currently on sites, 2 (rounded) plan to move in the next 5 years 
to another site in the district, so there is no net impact on need. 1 (round) household 
want to move to a site/bricks and mortar outside the borough and so results in a net 
reduction in need. 

For households currently in bricks and mortar, based on national arc4 studies it is 
estimated that 5.3% of households living in bricks and mortar would prefer to live on a 
site which would equate to 1 household. A need from 1 household is therefore 
included within the modelling at 3e. 

Regarding in-migration, analysis of household survey data indicates that around 4 
(rounded) households have moved into the borough in the previous 5 years. None of 
the households moving into the borough had moved from  neighbouring Hyndburn but 
from a variety of locations elsewhere in the country23. The overall net migration is  +3 
(rounded) over the next 5 years based on household survey evidence. 

The factors presented in section 3 of the model result in an overall net requirement of 
+3 pitches (rounded) from existing households planning to move in the next 5 years. 
Of the total need for pitches, 12.5% can be attributed to net in-migration.  

  

7.15 Emerging households (4) 

This is the number of households expected to emerge in the next 5 years based on 
household survey information. The total number is +7 (rounded). Note this results in 
an absolute increase in need.  

If children old enough to form their own household were living with family and have 
not specified that they want to form a new household, this is assumed to be through 
choice and the model does not assume they want to form a new household. 

7.16 Total need for pitches (5) 

This is a total of current households on authorised pitches, households on pitches 
planning to move in the next five years and demand from emerging households 
currently living on pitches. This indicates a total need for 66 pitches. 

 

Supply 

7.17 Current supply of authorised pitches (6) 

This is a summary of the total number of authorised pitches and the number of vacant 
authorised pitches. This shows a total supply of 42 authorised pitches plus zero vacant 
pitch resulting in a total supply of 42 authorised pitches.  

 

                                                      
23 Owing to the low number of response it would not be appropriate to report the precise origins of households for confidential reasons 

Page 86



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 53 

 
July 2019 

 

 

 

 

Table 7.1 Summary of demand and supply factors: Gypsies and Travellers – 2019/20 to 
2023/24 

CULTURAL NEED 
Blackburn with 

Darwen Borough 

1 
Total households living on 
pitches 

1a. On LA Site 20 

1b. On Private Site – Authorised 22 

1c. On Private Site - Temporary Authorised 0 

1d. On LA site - concealed/doubling up 13 

1e. Unauthorised 0 

1f. Total (1a to 1e) 55 

2 
Estimate of households in 
bricks and mortar 
accommodation  

2a. TOTAL (2011 Census) 19 

  
Weighting applied to stages 3 and 4 = 1.2  to account for G&T household 
no-response 

3 
Existing households planning 
to move in next 5 years 

Currently on sites 

3a. To another pitch/same site (no net impact) 0.0 

3b. To another site in District (no net impact) 2.4 

3c. From site to Bricks and Mortar (-) 0.0 

3d. To a site/bricks and mortar outside District (-) 1.2 

Currently in Bricks and Mortar  

3e. Planning to move to a site in LA (+) 1.0 

3f. Planning to move to another B&M property (no net 
impact) 0 

In-migrant households   

3g. Allowance for in-migration (+) 3.6 

3h. TOTAL Net impact (-3c-3d+3e+3g) 3.4 

4 Emerging households (5 years) 

4a. Currently on site and planning to live on current site 
(+) 0 

4b. Currently on sites and planning to live on another 
site in LA (+) 7.2 

4c. Currently on site and planning to live on site outside 
the study area (no net impact) 0 

4d. Currently in B&M planning to move to a site in LA 
(+) 0 

4e. Currently in B&M and moving to B&M (no net 
impact) 0 

4f. Currently on Site and moving to B&M (no net 
impact) 0 

4g. TOTAL (4a+4b+4c+4d)  7.2 

5 Total Need 1f+3h+4g 66 

SUPPLY 

6 
Current supply of authorised 
pitches 

6a Current occupied authorised pitches 42 

6b Current unoccupied authorised pitches 0 

6c. Total current authorised supply (6a+6b)  42 

Page 87



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 54 

 
July 2019 

RECONCILING NEED AND SUPPLY 

7 Total need for pitches  5 years (from 5) 66 

8 
Total supply of authorised 
pitches 

5 years (from 6c) 42 

5 YEAR AUTHORISED PITCH SHORTFALL 2019/20 TO 2023/24 24 

 

Reconciling supply and demand 

7.18 There is a total need over the next five years (2019/20 to 2023/24) for 66 pitches in 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough (Table 7.1) compared with a supply of 42 authorised 
pitches (including vacant pitches). The result is an overall cultural shortfall of 24 
pitches.  

 

Longer-term pitch requirement modelling 

7.19 Longer-term pitch need modelling has been carried out using known household 
structure information from the household survey of households living on pitches. On 
the basis of the age of children in households, it is possible to determine the extent of 
‘likely emergence’, which assumes that a child is likely to form a new household at the 
age of 18. 

7.20 The year when a child reaches 18 has been calculated and it is possible to assess how 
many newly forming households may emerge over the period 2024/25 to 2035/36. A 
reasonable assumption is that half of these children will form new households, bearing 
in mind culturally women tend to move away on marriage and men tend to stay in 
close proximity to their families on marriage. The model therefore assumes that 50% 
of children will form households when they reach 18 and that these households 
remain in Blackburn with Darwen Borough24. Analysis would suggest a total cultural 
need for 29 additional pitches over the period 2024/25-2035/36 (Table 7.2). 

 

Table 7.2 Future pitch requirements based on the assumption that 50% of children form 
households on reaching 18 

Time period* No. children 
Expected household 

formation 

2024/25 to 2028/29  15 8 

2029/30 to 2033/34 26 13 

2034/35 to 2035/36 17 8 

Total (2024/26 to 2035/36) 58 29 

                                                      
24 This approach has been tested at inquiry including Worcestershire and Shropshire; and the assumption has been corroborated by several 
Travelling interviewees 

Page 88



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 55 

 
July 2019 

*data are usually presented for 5 year periods but as the Local Plan period is to 2036 the final 
time period in this table relates to a 2 year period. 

 

Planning Policy for Traveller Site definition 

7.21 Analysis of household survey data establishes that 58.3% of Gypsies and Travellers 
living on pitches across Blackburn with Darwen Borough satisfy the PPTS definition of 
Gypsies and Travellers. 

7.22 When interpreting PPTS need, modelling is generally used to translate the cultural 
need to a PPTS need. However, it has been considered appropriate to identify those 
households living on unauthorised and temporary authorised and tolerated sites as an 
immediate need to be addressed over the next 5 years (although this does not apply 
to sites in Blackburn with Darwen). 

 

 

New pitch provision  

7.23 Since the GTAA fieldwork was carried out, two additional sites have been confirmed as 
providing additional capacity. At the time of fieldwork, both sites were unoccupied. In 
January 2019 a Certificate of Lawful Use was granted for 8 pitches at Eden 
Street/Milton Street, Blackburn, BB1 2AR;  there are also 2 pitches at St. James Street, 
Mill Hill, Blackburn, BB2 4HD. 

 

Overall Plan Period pitch need 

7.24 Table 7.3 summarises the overall need for pitches across Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough over the plan period to 2036/37. It presents the overall cultural need based 
on households identifying as Gypsy and Traveller and a ‘policy on’ PPTS need which is 
a subset of the cultural need and is based on those households who meet the PPTS 
definition of need. Need has been assessed over a short-term 2019/20 to 2023/24 and 
longer-term 2024/25 to 2035/36 period. As the full plan period is 2018/19 to 2036/37, 
need over the first 5 years has been extrapolated to 6 years and data for longer-term 
need (2024/25 to 2035/36) has been extrapolated by one year. This ensures that the 
need evidenced relates to the full 19-year plan period 2018/19 to 2036/37.  

7.25 For the 19-year plan period (2018/19 to 2036/37), and taking into account the 10 new 
pitches, there is an overall cultural need for 50 pitches and a PPTS need for 25 pitches.  

7.26 For the 6 year period 2018/19 to 2023/24 there is a cultural need for 19 pitches and a 
PPTS need for 7 pitches. The main drivers of need are: overcrowding/doubling up of 
households on the Council site and need from emerging households over the plan 
period based on the latest demographic evidence. 

 

 

Page 89



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 56 

 
July 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 7.3 Plan period Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen for plan period 2018 – 2037 

 
Cultural need PPTS NEED 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall  (2019/20 to 2023/24) (A) 24 14 

5yr Annualised need B=(A/5) 4.8 2.8 

6yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2023/24) C=(A+B) 29 17 

Longer-term need  
  

Over period 2024 to 2028 (D) 8 5 

Over period 2029 to 2033(E) 13 8 

Over period 2034 to 2035(F) 8 4 

Longer-term need TOTAL to 2035/36 (12 years) G=(D+E+F) 29 17 

Longer term need Extrapolated one year to 2036/37 H=(G/12*13) 31 18 

NET SHORTFALL 2018/29 to 2036/37 I= C+H 60 35 

New pitch provision (J) 10 10 

Final 6yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2023/24) (C-J) 19 7 

Final Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2036/37) (I-J) 50 25 

 

 

Household formation rates 

7.27 Table 7.4 summarises the household formation rates over 5 year periods from 
2019/20. An overall annual household growth rate of 2.5% is identified based on an 
overall assumed increase of 37 households over the period 2019/20 to 2036/37. This 
compares with a 3% household formation rate in the previous 2013 GTAA.  

 

Table 7.4 Household formation rates: Blackburn with Darwen 

 
Base number of 

households 
Expected increase 

in households 
Annualised 
growth rate 

Formation rate 2019/20 to 2023/24 55 7 2.6 

Formation rate 2024/25 to 2028/29 62 8 2.6 

Formation rate  2029/30 – 2033/34 70 13 3.7 

Formation rate 2034/35 to 2036/37 83 9 5.4 

Overall household formation rate 55 37 2.5 

Previous  2013 GTAA   3.0 

 

Page 90



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 57 

 
July 2019 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing 
sites 

Turnover on sites  

7.28 Turnover relates to the number of pitches that are expected to become available for 
occupancy. Analysis only includes expected turnover on public sites as this is 
referenced in (former) CLG guidance and more accurate data on changes in pitch 
occupancy is likely to be available. Although there is likely to be turnover on private 
sites, the ability of households to move onto private sites may be more restrictive (for 
instance the site may be restricted to a particular family) and less likely to be recorded.  

7.29 Household survey data indicates that none of the respondents had lived on their pitch 
on the local authority site for less than 5 years, implying no turnover. An analysis of 
households planning to move would suggest that only 1 respondent is planning to 
move in the next 5 years.  

7.30 Site management data for the local authority-owned Ewood site indicates only 7 
pitches have become available over the past 16 years, resulting in an annualised rate 
of 0.44 pitches.  

7.31 Taking into account the household survey and site management data, it is expected 
that turnover is only likely to generate a very small number of pitches available for re-
occupancy over the Plan Period. Modelling assumes a 0.44 pitch annual turnover 
which results in a 6-year supply of 3 pitches and a plan period supply of 8 pitches.  

 

Regularisation of sites 

7.32 There are no temporary authorised or unauthorised sites in Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough which could offset permanent pitch need by becoming regularised.  

 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing sites 

7.33 The household survey asked respondents if there was opportunity to expand or 
intensify existing sites to accommodate more pitches. However, no potential pitches 
were identified.  

 

Impact of turnover on pitch need 

7.34 Table 7.5 illustrates the impact of a pitch turnover and new pitch provision over the 
Plan Period on overall pitch need. Including an allowance for anticipated turnover 
reduces the overall plan period cultural need to 42 and the PPTS need to 17. Over the 
6-year period 2018/19 to 2023/24, the cultural need would be 16 pitches and the PPTS 
need 4 pitches. 

Page 91



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 58 

 
July 2019 

 

Table 7.5 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen (plan period 
2018 - 2037) 

  Cultural need 
Of which:  

PPTS need 

Pitch need over the 6 year period 2018/19 to 2023/24 

TOTAL pitch need for  the five year period 2018/19 to 2023/24 
(excluding new pitch provision) from Table 7.4 (A) 

29 17 

New pitch provision  (B) 10 10 

Adjusted need 2018/2019 to 2023/24 taking account of new provision 
(A-B) 

19 7 

Pitches expected to become available through turnover on pitches on 
Council site 2019/20 to 2023/24 (C) 

3 3 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2023/24 (A-B-C) 16 4 

TOTAL pitch need for the plan period 2018/19 to 2036/37 

TOTAL pitch need for the plan period 2018/19 to  2036/37  (D) 60 35 

New pitch provision (E) 10 10 

Pitches expected to become available through turnover on pitches on 
Council site 2019/20 to 2036/37 (F) 

8 8 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2036/37 (D-E-F) 42 17 

 

Tenure preferences 

7.35 Respondents planning to move and form new households were asked to consider their 
preferred tenure of pitches (social rented or private). For both existing and newly-
forming households planning to move, respondents either stated don’t know or 
specifically stated a private site preference.  

 

Housing register evidence 

7.36 The Council’s housing register currently has 16 applicants listed for a Council pitch. Of 
these, 6 are currently living on pitches but require their own accommodation; 6 are 
from private sites; and four are either from out of the area or living in bricks and 
mortar. For confidentiality reasons, it would not be appropriate to comment further 
on the current housing circumstances of these households, but it can be confirmed 
that the needs have been adequately reflected in the needs modelling carried out for 
Blackburn with Darwen and no further adjustment to the modelling is necessary.  

 

Page 92



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 59 

 
July 2019 

Transit site requirements 

7.37 The household survey found that 66.7% of Gypsies and Travellers felt that transit 
provision should be made in Blackburn with Darwen. When asked who should manage 
transit provision, 56.3% said the Council and 43.8% the Travelling community. A transit 
pitch normally has a hard standing, electric hook up and amenity shed. A good 
indicator of transit need is unauthorised encampment activity. 

7.38 The Council reports 59 incidences of unauthorised encampment activity over the five 
year and three month period May 2013 to September 2018. Some of the incidences 
related to the same family moving with the borough. Over this period: 

 The number of caravans on unauthorised encampments has ranged between 1 and 
20 (with one incidence in 2016 of encampments of 20 caravans, although since 
then the largest encampment has been 7 caravans); 

 The median number of caravans on an encampment has been 3 and mode (most 
frequently reported) has been 1 caravan. 

7.39 Given the level of unauthorised encampment, the Council should consider the 
provision of transit pitches either for the borough specifically or part of a wider sub-
regional response. A transit site of 5 pitches could accommodate up to 10 caravans 
and this would provide sufficient short-term accommodation to address the needs 
from 96.1% of encampments. A smaller transit site of 3 pitches would provide 
sufficient short-term accommodation to address the needs from 78.5% of 
encampments. The majority (60%) of household survey respondents felt that up to 4 
pitches should be provided.  

 

 

Hyndburn: Description of factors in the 5-year need model 

7.40 Table 7.6 provides a summary of the 5-year pitch need calculation. Each component in 
the model is now discussed to ensure that the process is transparent and any 
assumptions clearly stated. 

 

Need  

7.41 Current households living on pitches (1a to 1f) 

These figures are derived from local authority data, site observation and household 
survey information. No households were identified as being concealed/doubled up on 
pitches. Site observation data indicates there are 80 households living across 78 
pitches. However, no households were identified as being concealed/doubled up 
because households were adequately accommodated on existing sites (for instance on 
one site there are 9 households and 6 pitches but the size of the site means that the 
households were appropriately accommodated).  

7.42 Current households in bricks and mortar accommodation (2) 

Page 93



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 60 

 
July 2019 

The 2011 Census suggested there were 32 households living in bricks and mortar 
accommodation.  

7.43 Existing households planning to move in the next five years (3) 

This was derived from information from the household survey for respondents 
currently on authorised pitches. To account for non-response, the data in the model 
has been weighted by a factor of 1.15925. 

Of existing households currently on sites, 8 (rounded) plan to move in the next 5 years 
to another site in the district, so there is no net impact on need. 5 (rounded) 
households want to move to a site/bricks and mortar outside the borough and so 
results in a net reduction in need. 

For households currently in bricks and mortar, based on national arc4 studies it is 
estimated that 5.3% of households living in bricks and mortar would prefer to live on a 
site which would equate to 2 households (rounded). A need from 2 households 
(rounded) is therefore included within the modelling at 3e. 

Regarding in-migration, analysis of household survey data indicates that around 9 
(rounded) households have moved into the borough in the previous 5 years. None of 
the households had moved from neighbouring Blackburn with Darwen but 63% had 
moved from elsewhere in the UK and 37% had moved from Ireland. Overall, the net 
migration is 5 (rounded) over the next 5 years based on household survey data 

The factors presented in section 3 of the model result in an overall net requirement of 
+6 pitches (rounded) from existing households planning to move in the next 5 years.  
Of the total need for pitches, 22.4% can be attributed to net in-migration (4.7 pitches 
out of 21). 

7.44 Emerging households (4) 

This is the number of households expected to emerge in the next 5 years based on 
household survey information. The total number is +8 (rounded). Note this results in 
an absolute increase in need. 

If children old enough to form their own household were living with family and have 
not specified that they want to form a new household, this is assumed to be through 
choice and the model does not assume they want to form a new household. 

7.45 Total need for pitches (5) 

This is a total of current households on authorised pitches, households on pitches 
planning to move in the next five years and demand from emerging households 
currently living on pitches. This indicates a total need for 94 pitches. 

 

 

                                                      
25 69 responses from 80 G&T households on pitches results in a weighting factor of 69/80= 1.159 

Page 94



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 61 

 
July 2019 

Supply 

7.46 Current supply of authorised pitches (6) 

This is a summary of the total number of authorised pitches and the number of vacant 
authorised pitches. This shows a total supply of 72 authorised pitches plus 1 vacant 
pitch resulting in a total supply of 73 authorised pitches.  

 

Reconciling supply and demand 

7.47 There is a total need over the next five years (2019/20 to 2023/24) for 94 pitches in 
Hyndburn Borough compared with a supply of 73 authorised pitches (including vacant 
pitches). The result is an overall cultural shortfall of 21 pitches.  

  

Page 95



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 62 

 
July 2019 

Table 7.6 Summary of demand and supply factors: Gypsies and Travellers – 2019/20 to 
2023/24 

CULTURAL NEED Hyndburn Borough 

1 
Total households living on 
pitches 

1a. On LA Site 15 

1b. On Private Site – Authorised 57 

1c. On Private Site - Temporary Authorised 0 

1d. On LA site - concealed/doubling up 0 

1e. Unauthorised 8 

1f. Total (1a to 1e) 80 

2 
Estimate of households in 
bricks and mortar 
accommodation  

2a. TOTAL (2011 Census) 32 

  
Weighting applied to stages 3 and 4 = 1.159  to account for G&T household 
no-response 

3 
Existing households 
planning to move in next 5 
years 

Currently on sites 

3a. To another pitch/same site (no net impact) 0.0 

3b. To another site in District (no net impact) 8.1 

3c. From site to Bricks and Mortar (-) 0.0 

3d. To a site/bricks and mortar outside District (-) 4.6 

Currently in Bricks and Mortar  

3e. Planning to move to a site in LA (+) 1.7 

3f. Planning to move to another B&M property (no net 
impact) 0 

In-migrant households   

3g. Allowance for in-migration (+) 9.3 

3h. TOTAL Net impact (-3c-3d+3e+3g) 6.3 

4 
Emerging households (5 
years) 

4a. Currently on site and planning to live on current site 
(+) 0 

4b. Currently on sites and planning to live on another 
site in LA (+) 8.1 

4c. Currently on site and planning to live on site outside 
the study area (no net impact) 0 

4d. Currently in B&M planning to move to a site in LA 
(+) 0 

4e. Currently in B&M and moving to B&M (no net 
impact) 0 

4f. Currently on Site and moving to B&M (no net 
impact) 0 

4g. TOTAL (4a+4b+4c+4d)  8.1 

5 Total Need 1f+3h+4g 94 

SUPPLY 

6 
Current supply of 
authorised pitches 

6a Current occupied authorised pitches 72 

6b Current unoccupied authorised pitches 1 

6c. Total current authorised supply (6a+6b)  73 

RECONCILING NEED AND SUPPLY 

7 Total need for pitches  5 years (from 5) 94 

8 
Total supply of authorised 
pitches 

5 years (from 6c) 73 

5 YEAR AUTHORISED PITCH SHORTFALL 2019/20 TO 2023/24 21 

 

Page 96



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 63 

 
July 2019 

Longer-term pitch requirement modelling 

7.48 Longer-term pitch need modelling has been carried out using known household 
structure information from the household survey of households living on pitches. On 
the basis of the age of children in households, it is possible to determine the extent of 
‘likely emergence’, which assumes that a child is likely to form a new household at the 
age of 18. 

7.49 The year when a child reaches 18 has been calculated and it is possible to assess how 
many newly forming households may emerge over the period 2024/25 to 2035/36. A 
reasonable assumption is that half of these children will form new households, bearing 
in mind culturally women tend to move away on marriage and men tend to stay in 
close proximity to their families on marriage. The model therefore assumes that 50% 
of children will form households when they reach 18 and that these households 
remain in Hyndburn Borough26. Analysis would suggest a total cultural need for 39 
additional pitches over the period 2024/25-2035/36 (Table 7.7). This analysis provides 
an indicative level of need over the remainder of the plan period based on available 
demographic evidence. However, it is recommended that the Council reviews the 
evidence base every five years to ensure that it is up to date. 

 

Table 7.7 Future pitch requirements based on the assumption that 50% of children 
form households on reaching 18 

Time period* No. children Expected household formation 

2024/25 – 2028/29  24 12 

2029/30 to 2033/34 36 18 

2034/35 to 2035/36 17 9 

Total (2024/26 to 2035/36) 77 39 

Note data are usually presented for 5 year periods but as the Local Plan period is to 
2036 the final time period in this table relates to a 2 year period. 

 

 

Planning Policy for Traveller Site definition 

7.50 Analysis of household survey data establishes that 79.6% of Gypsies and Travellers 
living on pitches across Hyndburn Borough satisfy the PPTS definition of Gypsies and 
Travellers. 

7.51 When interpreting PPTS need, modelling is generally used to translate the cultural 
need to a PPTS need. However, it has been considered appropriate to identify those 
households living on unauthorised and temporary authorised and tolerated sites as an 
immediate need to be addressed over the next 5 years. The 5-year PPTS need is 

                                                      
26 This approach has been tested at inquiry including Worcestershire and Shropshire; and the assumption has been corroborated by several 
Travelling interviewees 

Page 97



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 64 

 
July 2019 

therefore adjusted as shown in Table 7.8. This results in a 5-year PPTS need of 18 
pitches. 

 

 

Table 7.8 Cultural and PPTS 5 year need calculation 

Total Cultural need 21 A 

Total Cultural need from unauthorised sites 8 B 

Total Cultural need from authorised sites 13 A-B 

  

How much need is PPTS need on unauthorised sites 

Total living on unauthorised sites and met definition 8 C 

On unauthorised sites and do not meet definition 0 D 

   

How much need is PPTS need on authorised sites 

Total cultural need 13 E 

Households on authorised who meet the definition 10 F 

Households on authorised sites who do not meet the definition 3 G 

   

Total who meet PPTS need in first 5 years 18 C+F 

Total who do not meet PPTS need in first 5 years 3 D+G 

TOTAL adjusted PPTS need therefore =  18   

 

Plan Period pitch need 

7.52 Table 7.9 summarises the overall need for pitches across Hyndburn Borough over the 
plan period to 2035/36. It presents the overall cultural need based on households 
identifying as Gypsy and Traveller and a ‘policy on’ PPTS need which is a subset of the 
cultural need and is based on those households who meet the PPTS definition of need. 
Assuming a 17-year period (2019/20 to 2035/36), this results in an overall need for the 
plan period for 60 pitches (cultural) and 49 (PPTS). This gives an annualised cultural 
need for 3.6 pitches and an annualised PPTS need for 3 pitches. 

 

Table 7.9 Plan period Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn 

 
Cultural need PPTS NEED 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall  (2019/20 to 2023/24) (A) 21 18 

Longer-term need  
  

Over period 2024 to 2028 (B) 12 10 

Over period 2029 to 2033 (C)  18 14 

Over period 2034 to 2035 (D) 9 7 

Longer-term need TOTAL E=B+C+D 39 31 

TOTAL NET SHORTFALL 2019/20 to 2035/36 (A+E) 60 49 

Page 98



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 65 

 
July 2019 

 

7.53 It is recommended that the Hyndburn Borough Local Plan recognises there is a cultural 
need for 60 pitches over the plan period to 2035/36 and a need for 49 pitches under 
the PPTS definition (or a PPTS ‘policy-on’ position). The main drivers of need are need 
from emerging households over the plan period based on the latest demographic 
evidence.  

 

Household formation rates 

7.54 Table 7.10 summarises the household formation rates over 5-year periods from 
2019/20. An overall annual household growth rate of 4.3% is identified based on an 
overall assumed increase of 60 households over the period 2019/20 to 2035/36. 

 

Table 7.10 Household formation rates: Hyndburn 

 
Base number of 

households 
Expected increase 

in households 
Annualised 

growth rate (%) 

Formation rate 2019/20 to 2023/24 80 21 5.3 

Formation rate 2024/25 to 2028/29 101 12 2.4 

Formation rate  2029/30 – 2033/34 113 18 3.2 

Formation rate 2034/35 to 2035/36 131 9 3.4 

Overall household formation rate 82 60 4.3 

Previous GTAA 63 35 3.7 

 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing 
sites 

Turnover on sites  

7.55 Turnover relates to the number of pitches that are expected to become available for 
occupancy. Analysis only includes expected turnover on public sites as this is 
referenced in (former) CLG guidance and more accurate data on changes in pitch 
occupancy is likely to be available. Although there is likely to be turnover on private 
sites, the ability of households to move onto private sites may be more restrictive (for 
instance the site may be restricted to a particular family) and less likely to be recorded.  

7.56 Household survey data indicates that only 2 respondents had lived on their pitch on 
the local authority site for less than 5 years, implying a low level of turnover. An 
analysis of households planning to move would suggest that only 2 respondents are 
planning to move in the next 5 years.  

7.57 Site management data for the local authority-owned site indicates a very low level of 
turnover.  

7.58 Taking into account the household survey and site management data, it is expected 
that turnover is only likely to generate a very small number of pitches available for re-

Page 99



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 66 

 
July 2019 

occupancy over the Plan Period. Modelling assumes a modest supply of two pitches 
over each 5 year period of the plan period.  

 

Regularisation of sites 

7.59 There are currently two unauthorised sites (5 pitches accommodating 8 households)  
in Hyndburn Borough which could offset permanent pitch need by becoming 
regularised.  

 

Potential capacity for Gypsy and Traveller pitches on existing sites 

7.60 The household survey asked respondents if there was opportunity to expand or 
intensify existing sites to accommodate more pitches. An estimated 10 pitches were 
identified through discussions with site owners, although this would have to be 
verified through detailed appraisal work by the Council.  

7.61 Table 7.11  illustrates the impact of a pitch turnover over the Plan Period on overall 
pitch need. The result of including expected turnover is a reduction in cultural need to 
53 pitches and PPTS need is reduced to 42 pitches over the plan period. Regularisation 
of pitches (5 pitches) and potential site expansion (10 pitches) could reduce the 
cultural need to 38 and PPTS need to 27.    

 

Table 7.11 Addressing Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn 

Hyndburn 
Cultural 

need 
PPTS 
NEED 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall  (2019/20 to 2023/24) (A) 21 18 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (B) 2 2 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover (A- B) 19 16 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for  identified 
households in need) (C) 

10 10 

Potential regularisation of unauthorised pitches (D) 5 5 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (A-B-C-D) 

4 1 

Plan period Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2019/20 to 2035/36) (E) 60 49 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (F) 7 7 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover (E-F) 53 42 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for identified 
households in need) (G) 

10 10 

Regularisation of unauthorised pitches (H) 5 5 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (E-F-G-H) 

38 27 

 

Page 100



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 67 

 
July 2019 

Tenure preferences 

7.62 Respondents planning to move and form new households were asked to consider their 
preferred tenure of pitches (social rented or private). For existing households planning 
to move (12 households) only three stated a tenure preference (2 stated Council and 1 
private). For newly-forming households planning to move, only three stated a tenure 
preference (2 state private and 1 Council). Results were therefore inconclusive and the 
Council should seek to develop sites where possible either through private or public 
funding. 

 

 Housing register evidence 

7.63 The Council’s housing register currently has two applicants listed for a Council pitch. 
For confidentiality reasons, it would not be appropriate to comment further on the 
current housing circumstances of these households, but it can be confirmed that the 
needs have been adequately reflected in the needs modelling carried out for 
Hyndburn.  

 

Transit site requirements 

7.64 The household survey found that 72.7% of Gypsies and Travellers felt that transit 
provision should be made in Hyndburn. When asked who should manage transit 
provision, 78.3% said the Council and 21.7% the Travelling community. A transit pitch 
normally has a hard standing, electric hook up and amenity shed. A good indicator of 
transit need is unauthorised encampment activity. 

7.65 The Council reports 15 incidences of unauthorised encampment activity over the three 
year and seven month period June 2014 to February 2018. Over this period: 

 Half of activity took place on Fife Street, Accrington; 

 The number of caravans on unauthorised encampments has ranged between 1 and 
11 (with one incidence in 2017 of an encampment of 11 caravans; 

 The median number of caravans on an encampment has been 2 and mode (most 
frequently reported) has been 2 caravans. Excluding the 11 caravan encampment, 
the maximum number of caravans has been 4. 

7.66 Given the level of unauthorised encampment, the Council should make use of the 
existing 5 transit pitches at Sankey House Farm. Evidence from unauthorised 
encampment activity would suggest a specific need for 2 pitches (to accommodate up 
to 4 caravans) and this would provide sufficient short-term accommodation to address 
the needs from 93.3% of encampments. The majority (65.2%) of household survey 
respondents felt that up to 4 pitches should be provided.  

 

  

Page 101



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 68 

 
July 2019 

8. Conclusion and strategic response  
8.1 This concluding chapter provides a brief summary of key issues emerging from the 

research; advice on the strategic responses available, including examples of good 
practice; and recommendations and next steps.  

 

Meeting permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitch requirements  

Blackburn with Darwen 

8.2 In terms of Gypsy and Traveller site provision currently within Blackburn with Darwen, 
there is one permanent local authority site (with 20 pitches) and six private authorised 
sites (with 22 pitches). There are two further sites (Eden Street/Milton Street and St. 
James Street, Mill Hill) owned by Gypsies and Travellers and which are to be brought 
forward for new pitch development. In January 2019 a Certificate of Lawful Use was 
granted for 8 pitches at Eden Street/Milton Street, Blackburn, BB1 2AR; there are also 
an estimated 2 pitches at St. James Street, Mill Hill, Blackburn, BB2 4HD. The GTAA has 
assumed a total of 42 occupied pitches and 55 households living in pitches – this 
variance is accounted for by 13 households currently concealed/doubling up on the 
Council site.  

8.3 For the plan period (2018/19 to 2035/36) the GTAA has identified a cultural need for 
50 pitches and a PPTS need for 25 pitches. This takes into account the new 10 pitch 
supply. It is recommended that the Local Plan acknowledges this range of need. It is 
also recommended that the Council considers future applications for small sites to 
meet the needs of additional families who may emerge over the Plan Period. 

8.4 The actual level of pitch need may be lowered through turnover on the existing 
Council site. Over the plan period, an estimated 8 pitches are likely to become 
available and this would reduce the overall need to 42 pitches (cultural) and 17 (PPTS).  

 

Hyndburn 

8.5 In terms of Gypsy and Traveller site provision currently within Hyndburn, there is one 
permanent local authority site (with 15 pitches), 12 private authorised sites (with 58 
pitches) and two unauthorised sites (with 5 pitches). The GTAA has assumed a total of 
78 occupied pitches and 80 households living in pitches – this variance is accounted for 
by 3 additional households living on unauthorised sites and one vacant pitch 
(previously occupied by a household moving onto an unauthorised site). There is one 
Travelling Showperson’s yard in Hyndburn with capacity for 20 plots with around 10 
households currently living on the yard. 

8.6 For the full Local Plan Period (to 2036) the GTAA has identified a cultural need for 60 
pitches and a PPTS need for 49 pitches. It is recommended that the Local Plan 
acknowledges this range of need.  

8.7 However, there are a range of supply-side factors which suggests that this need could 
be partially addressed. Taking into account an estimated 7-pitch turnover on the local 
authority site during the period, a residual pitch requirement of 53 (cultural definition) 

Page 102



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 69 

 
July 2019 

or 42 pitches (PPTS definition) is identified. There is also potential to develop 10 
pitches and assuming that these would be used to offset identified need, this would 
reduce the shortfall to 43 (cultural) and 32 (PPTS).  

8.8 It is therefore recommended that the Council engages with site owners to establish 
the potential for expansion/intensification and re-occupancy of existing pitches. It is 
also recommended that the Council considers future applications for small sites to 
meet the needs of additional families who may emerge over the Plan Period.  

 

Meeting permanent Travelling Showperson requirements 

8.9 There are currently no authorised yards in Blackburn with Darwen. There is one 
Travelling Showpersons yard in Hyndburn with a capacity for 20 plots and around 10 
households currently living on the yard. Site observation and discussion with the 
owner indicated there was sufficient space to accommodate existing households and 
no indication of a shortfall of plot provision.  

8.10 The 2019 GTAA has evidenced no need for Travelling Showpeople plot provision 
during the Plan Period across both Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Boroughs. 

 

Meeting transit site/stop over requirements  

8.11 For Hyndburn, given the level of unauthorised encampment, the Council should make 
use of the existing 5 transit pitches at Sankey House Farm. Evidence from 
unauthorised encampment activity would suggest a specific need for 2 pitches (to 
accommodate up to 4 caravans) and this would provide sufficient short-term 
accommodation to address the needs from 93.3% of encampments. 

8.12 For Blackburn with Darwen, given the level of unauthorised encampments, the Council 
should consider the provision of transit pitches either for the borough specifically or 
part of a wider sub-regional response. A transit site of 5 pitches could accommodate 
up to 10 caravans and this would provide sufficient short-term accommodation to 
address the needs from 96.1% of encampments. 

 

Good practice in planning for Gypsy and Traveller provision 

8.13 There are a number of resources available to local planning authorities to assist them 
in planning for Gypsy and Traveller provision, including resources from the Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) and the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI), which are 
presented in Appendix B. In addition, the Local Government Agency and Local 
Government Association have resources available for local authorities working with 
Traveller communities to identify sites for new provision, these include dedicated 
learning aids for elected members27.  

                                                      
27 I&De (now Local Government Agency) local leadership academy providing Gypsy and Traveller sites  

Page 103



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 70 

 
July 2019 

8.14 Work undertaken by PAS28 identified ways in which the planning process can increase 
the supply of authorised Gypsy and Traveller pitches. The RTPI has developed a series 
of Good Practice Notes for local planning authorities. Both are summarised at 
Appendix B.  

 

Concluding comments 

8.15 The overarching purpose of this study has been to identify the accommodation 
requirements of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople across Blackburn with 
Darwen and Hyndburn Boroughs. 

8.16 For Blackburn with Darwen (Table 8.1), over the plan period to 2037 there is an overall 
cultural need for 50 pitches and a PPTS need for 25 pitches. It is recommended that 
the Local Plan acknowledges this level of need. Over the six year period 2018/19 to 
2023/24, there is a cultural need for 19 pitches and a PPTS need for 7 pitches. An 
allowance for turnover reduces these figures to 16 (cultural) and 4 (PPTS). Over the 
plan period 2018/19 to 2036/37, if an allowance of turnover is included, the total need 
reduces to 42 (cultural) and 17 (PPTS).   

8.17 For Hyndburn (Table 8.2), over the plan period to 2036 there is an overall cultural 
need for 60 pitches and a PPTS need for 49 pitches. It is recommended that the Local 
Plan acknowledges this level of need. The study has also identified potential supply 
through turnover on the Council site, the regularisation of unauthorised pitches  and 
potential pitch development which could reduce the overall need to 38 (cultural) and 
27 (PPTS). 

8.18 For Hyndburn over the five year period 2019/20 to 2023/24, there is a cultural need 
for 21 pitches and a PPTS need for 18 pitches. By factoring in turnover (2) and 
potential pitch development (10) and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (5), these 
figures reduce to 4 cultural and 1 PPTS. 

 

Table 8.1 Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Blackburn with Darwen (Plan Period) 

Blackburn with Darwen Cultural need PPTS NEED 

Authorised Pitch Shortfall  (2018/19 to 2023/24) (A) 19 7 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (B) 3 3 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2023/24 (A-B) 16 4 

Plan period Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2018/19 to 2036/37) (C) 50 25 

Turnover (D) 8 8 

Residual need 2018/19 to 2036/37 (C-D) 42 17 

 
 

                                                      
28 PAS spaces and places for gypsies and travellers how planning can help 

Page 104



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 71 

 
July 2019 

Table 8.2 Gypsy and Traveller pitch need: Hyndburn 

Hyndburn 
Cultural 

need 
PPTS 
NEED 

5yr Authorised Pitch Shortfall  (2019/20 to 2023/24) (A) 21 18 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (B) 2 2 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover (A- B) 19 16 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for  identified 
households in need) (C) 

10 10 

Potential regularisation of unauthorised pitches (D) 5 5 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2023/24 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (A-B-C-D) 

4 1 

Plan period Authorised Pitch Shortfall (2019/20 to 2035/36) (E) 60 49 

Anticipated turnover on Council site (F) 7 7 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover (E-F) 53 43 

Potential pitch development (assuming that this provides pitches for identified 
households in need) (G) 

10 10 

Regularisation of unauthorised pitches (H) 5 5 

Residual need 2019/20 to 2035/36 after turnover, potential pitch development 
and regularisation of unauthorised pitches (E-F-G-H) 

38 27 

 

8.19 The GTAA has not evidenced any need for additional Travelling Showperson plots in 
either Blackburn with Darwen or Hyndburn. 

8.20 It is recommended that Hyndburn makes use of its existing transit pitches to address 
short-term transit need and Blackburn with Darwen Council considers developing a 
transit site of 5 pitches either within the borough specifically or part of a wider sub-
regional response.    

8.21 It is recommended that this evidence base is refreshed on a five-yearly basis to ensure 
that the level of pitch and pitch provision remains appropriate for the Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling Showpeople population across Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn 
Boroughs.  

Page 105



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 72 

 
July 2019 

Appendix A: Legislative background 
 

A.1 The 1960 Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act enabled councils to ban the 
siting of caravans for human occupation on common land, and led to the closure of 
many sites. 

A.2 The Caravan Sites Act 1968 (Part II) required local authorities 'so far as may be 
necessary to provide adequate accommodation for Gypsies residing in or resorting to 
their area'. It empowered the Secretary of State to make designation orders for areas 
where he was satisfied that there was adequate accommodation, or on grounds of 
expediency. Following the recommendations of the Cripps Commission in 1980, 
provision began to grow rapidly only after the allocation of 100% grants from central 
government. By 1994 a third of local authorities had achieved designation, which 
meant that they were not required to make further provision and were given 
additional powers to act against unauthorised encampments. The repeal of most of 
the Caravan Sites Act under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act in 1994 led to a 
reduction in provision, with some sites being closed over a period in which the Gypsy 
and Traveller population was increasing. 

A.3 The 1994 Criminal Justice and Public Order Act (CJ&POA): 

 Repealed most of the 1968 Caravan Sites Act;   

 Abolished all statutory obligation to provide accommodation; 

 Discontinued government grants for sites; and  

 Under Section 61 made it a criminal offence to camp on land without the owner’s 
consent.   

A.4 Since the CJ&POA the only places where Gypsies and Travellers can legally park their 
trailers and vehicles are: 

 Council Gypsy caravan sites; by 2000 nearly half of Gypsy caravans were 
accommodated on council sites, despite the fact that new council site provision 
stopped following the end of the statutory duty; 

 Privately owned land with appropriate planning permission; usually owned by 
Gypsies or Travellers. Such provision now accommodates approximately a third of 
Gypsy caravans in England; and 

 Land with established rights of use, other caravan sites or mobile home parks by 
agreement or licence, and land required for seasonal farm workers (under site 
licensing exemptions). 

A.5 By the late 1990s the impact of the 1994 Act was generating pressure for change on 
both local and national government. There was a major review of law and policy, 
which included: 

 A Parliamentary Committee report (House of Commons 2004). 

Page 106



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 73 

 
July 2019 

 The replacement of Circular 1/94 by Circular 1/2006 (which has since been 
cancelled and replaced by the Planning policy for traveller sites 2012 and updated 
in 2015). 

 Guidance on accommodation assessments (ODPM 2006). 

 The Housing Act 2004 which placed a requirement (s.225) on local authorities to 
assess Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs. 

A.6 Section 225: Housing Act 2004 imposed duties on local authorities in relation to the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers: 

 Every local housing authority was required as part of the general review of housing 
needs in their areas under section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 assess the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers residing in or resorting to their 
borough; 

 Where a local housing authority was required under section 87 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 to prepare a strategy to meet such accommodation needs, 
they had to take the strategy into account in exercising their functions; 

 A local housing authority was required to have regard to section 226 (‘Guidance in 
relation to section 225’) in:   

- carrying out such an assessment, and 

- preparing any strategy that they are required to prepare. 

 Section 124 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 deletes sections 225 and 226 of 
the Housing Act 2004 (see below). Additional requirements have been inserted 
into Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 to include an assessment of the need for 
sites for caravans and moorings for houseboats within the periodical review of 
housing needs. 

A.7 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 set out to introduce a simpler and 
more flexible planning system at regional and local levels. It also introduced new 
provisions which change the duration of planning permissions and consents, and allow 
local planning authorities to introduce local permitted development rights using ‘local 
development orders’. It made the compulsory purchase regime simpler, fairer and 
quicker, to support major infrastructure and regeneration initiatives. 

The Act introduced major changes to the way in which the planning system operates. 
Local planning authorities are required to prepare a Local Development Framework; 
however, the term Local Plan was reintroduced following the National Planning Policy 
Framework in March 2012.  

Part 8 of the Act contains a series of measures to reform the compulsory purchase 
regime and make it easier for local planning authorities to make a case for compulsory 
purchase orders where it will be of economic, social or environmental benefit to the 
area. This Act was subsequently amended to a Local Plan document with the 
introduction of the NPPF in March 2012. This section also brings in amended 
procedures for carrying out compulsory purchase orders, including a widening of the 
category of person with an interest in the land who can object, and deals with 
ownership issues and compensation. 

Page 107



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 74 

 
July 2019 

A.8 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number of reforms, including changes to planning 
enforcement rules, which strengthen the power of local planning authorities to tackle 
abuses of the planning system. The changes give local planning authorities the ability 
to take actions against people who deliberately conceal unauthorised development, 
and tackle abuses of retrospective planning applications.  The Act also introduced the 
Duty to Co-operate (see Section 3) on all local planning authorities planning 
sustainable development. The Duty requires ‘neighbouring local authorities, or groups 
of authorities, to work together on planning issues in the interests of all their local 
residents. … the Government thinks that local authorities and other public bodies 
should work together on planning issues in ways that reflect genuine shared interests 
and opportunities to make common cause. The duty requires local authorities and 
other public bodies to work together on planning issues.’29 The provision of Gypsy and 
Traveller sites falls within the Duty to Co-operate; which aims to ensure that 
neighbouring authorities work together to address issues such as provision of sites for 
Gypsies and Travellers in a planned and strategic way.  

A.9 Statutory Instrument 2013 No 830 Town and Country planning Act, England 
(Temporary Stop Notice) (England) (Revocation) Regulations 2013 came into force on 
4th May 2013. This Instrument revoked the regulations governing Temporary Stop 
Notices, which were in place to mitigate against the disproportionate impact of 
Temporary Stop Notices on Gypsies and Travellers in areas where there was a lack of 
sufficient pitches to meet the needs of the Travelling community.  

A.10 Section 124: Housing and Planning Act 2016 has two parts: 

 124(1) amends section 8 of the Housing Act 1985, inserting an additional reference 
to include a duty to consider the needs of people residing in or resorting to local 
authority boroughs with respect to the provision of sites for caravans and 
moorings for houseboats when undertaking housing needs assessments.  

 124(2) deletes sections 225 and 226 of the Housing Act 2004 (as set out above). 

                                                      
29 DCLG A plain English guide to the Localism Act Nov 2011 

Page 108



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 75 

 
July 2019 

Appendix B: Review of policy, guidance and best practice 
 

B.1 As part of this research, we have carried out a review of literature, which is presented 
in this Appendix. A considerable range of guidance documents has been prepared by 
Central Government to assist local authorities discharge their strategic housing and 
planning functions. In addition, there is considerable independent and academic 
research and guidance on these issues; some of the key documents are summarised 
here. The documents are reviewed in order of publication date. 

B.2 A Decent Home: Definition and Guidance for Implementation Update, DCLG, June 
2006 

Although not primarily about the provision of caravan sites, facilities or pitches, the 
June 2006 updated DCLG guidance for social landlords provides a standard for such 
provision. The guidance is set out under a number of key headings: 

 Community-based and tenant-led ownership and management; 

 Delivering Decent Homes Beyond 2010; 

 Delivering mixed communities; 

 Procurement value for money; and 

 Housing Health and Safety. 

The guidance defines four criteria against which to measure the standard of a home: 

 It meets the current statutory minimum standard for housing; 

 It is in a reasonable state of repair; 

 It has reasonably modern facilities and services; and 

 It provides a reasonable degree of thermal comfort. 

B.3 Guide to Effective Use of Enforcement Powers - Parts 1 (Unauthorised 
Encampments, ODPM, 2006) and 2 (Unauthorised Development of Caravan Sites, 
DCLG, 2007) 

The Guide (now cancelled) was the Government's response to unauthorised 
encampments which cause local disruption and conflict. 

B.4 Common Ground: Equality, good race relations and sites for Gypsies and Irish 
Travellers, Commission for Racial Equality, May 2006 

This report was written four years after the introduction of the statutory duty on 
public authorities under the Race Relations (Amendment) Act to promote equality of 
opportunity and good race relations and to eliminate unlawful racial discrimination. 
The CRE expressed concerns about relations between Gypsies and Irish Travellers and 
other members of the public, with widespread public hostility and, in many places, 
Gypsies and Irish Travellers leading separate, parallel lives. A dual concern about race 
relations and inequality led the Commission in October 2004 to launch the inquiry on 
which this report was based. 

Page 109



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 76 

 
July 2019 

The Report's recommendations include measures relating to Central Government, 
local authorities, police forces and the voluntary sector. Among those relating to 
Central Government are: 

 developing a realistic but ambitious timetable to identify land for sites, where 
necessary establishing them, and making sure it is met; 

 developing key performance indicators for public sites which set standards for 
quality and management that are comparable to those for conventional 
accommodation; 

 requiring local authorities to monitor and provide data on planning applications, 
outcomes and enforcement, and on housing and homelessness by racial group, 
using two separate categories for Gypsies and Irish Travellers; and 

 requiring police forces to collect information on Gypsies and Irish Travellers as two 
separate ethnic categories. 

Strategic recommendations affecting local authorities include: 

 developing a holistic corporate vision for all work on Gypsies and Irish Travellers,  

 reviewing all policies on accommodation for Gypsies and Irish Travellers, 

 designating a councillor at cabinet (or equivalent) level, and an officer at no less 
than assistant director level, to coordinate the authority’s work on all sites;  

 emphasising that the code of conduct for councillors applies to their work in 
relation to all racial groups, including Gypsies and Irish Travellers;  

 giving specific advice to Gypsies and Irish Travellers on the most suitable land for 
residential use, how to prepare applications, and help them to find the information 
they need to support their application; 

 identifying and reporting on actions by local groups or individuals in response to 
plans for Gypsy sites that may constitute unlawful pressure on the authority to 
discriminate against Gypsies and Irish Travellers; and 

 monitoring all planning applications and instances of enforcement action at every 
stage, by type and racial group, including Gypsies and Irish Travellers, in order to 
assess the effects of policies and practices on different racial groups. 

Among other recommendations, the Report states that police forces should:  

 include Gypsies and Irish Travellers in mainstream neighbourhood policing 
strategies, to promote race equality and good race relations;  

 target individual Gypsies and Irish Travellers suspected of anti-social behaviour and 
crime on public, private and unauthorised sites, and not whole communities;  

 treat Gypsies and Irish Travellers as members of the local community, and in ways 
that strengthen their trust and confidence in the police;  

 provide training for all relevant officers on Gypsies’ and Irish Travellers’ service 
needs, so that officers are able to do their jobs more effectively;  

Page 110



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 77 

 
July 2019 

 review formal and informal procedures for policing unauthorised encampments, to 
identify and eliminate potentially discriminatory practices, and ensure that the 
procedures promote race equality and good race relations; and 

 review the way policy is put into practice, to make sure organisations and 
individuals take a consistent approach, resources are used effectively and 
strategically, all procedures are formalised, and training needs are identified. 

Other recommendations relate to Parish and Community councils the Local 
Government Association, the Association of Chief Police Officers and the voluntary 
sector. 

B.5 Planning Advisory Service (PAS) Spaces and places for Gypsies and Travellers: how 
planning can help (2006) 

PAS list the following as key to successful delivery of new provision: 

 Involve Gypsy and Traveller communities: this needs to happen at an early stage, 
innovative methods of consultation need to be adopted due to low levels of 
literacy and high levels of social exclusion within Gypsy and Traveller communities 
and members of the Gypsy and Traveller community should be trained as 
interviewers on Accommodation Assessments (Cambridgeshire, Surrey, Dorset and 
Leicestershire). Other good practice examples include distribution of material via 
CD, so that information can be ‘listened to’ as opposed to read. The development 
of a dedicated Gypsy and Traveller Strategy is also seen to be good practice, 
helping agencies develop a co-ordinated approach and so prioritise the issue. The 
report also recommends the use of existing Gypsy and Traveller resources such as 
the planning guide published in Traveller’s Times, which aims to explain the 
planning process in an accessible way to members of the Gypsy and Traveller 
community. As well as consulting early, PAS also flags the need to consult often 
with communities;  

 Work collaboratively with neighbouring authorities to address the issues and 
avoid just ‘moving it on’ to a neighbouring local authority area. With the new Duty 
to Co-operate established within the NPPF, working collaboratively with 
neighbouring local authorities has never been more important. Adopting a 
collaborative approach recognises that local authorities cannot work in isolation to 
tackle this issue;  

 Be transparent: trust is highly valued within Gypsy and Traveller communities, and 
can take a long time to develop. The planning system needs to be transparent, so 
that members of the Gypsy and Traveller community can understand the decisions 
that have been taken and the reasoning behind them. PAS states that ‘ideally 
council work in this area should be led by an officer who is respected both within 
the Council and also within Gypsy and Traveller communities: trust is vital and can 
be broken easily.30’ Local planning authorities also need to revisit their approach to 

                                                      
30 PAS Spaces and places for gypsies and travellers how planning can help, page 8 

Page 111



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 78 

 
July 2019 

development management criteria for applications for Gypsy and Traveller sites ‘to 
ensure that criteria make it clear what applications are likely to be accepted by the 
council. Authorities need to ensure that these are reasonable and realistic.  
Transparent and criteria-based policies help everyone to understand what decisions 
have been made and why.’ 31 Kent and Hertsmere councils are listed as examples of 
good practice in this regard.  

 Integration: accommodation needs assessments need to be integrated into the 
Local Plan evidence base, with site locations and requirements set out within 
specific Development Plan Documents (DPDs); dedicated Gypsy and Traveller DPDs 
are advocated as a means of ensuring that the accommodation needs of Gypsies 
and Travellers are fully considered and addressed within the local planning 
process; and 

 Educate and work with councillors: members need to be aware of their 
responsibilities in terms of equality and diversity and ‘understand that there must 
be sound planning reasons for rejecting applications for Gypsy and Traveller 
sites’32. It is helpful for members to understand the wider benefits of providing 
suitable accommodation to meet the requirements of the Gypsy and Traveller 
community, such as: 

- An increase in site provision; 

- Reduced costs of enforcement; and  

- Greater community engagement and understanding of community need.  

B.6 RTPI Good Practice Note 4, Planning for Gypsies and Travellers (2007) 

The RTPI has developed a series of Good Practice notes for local planning authorities 
‘Planning for Gypsies and Travellers’; the notes cover four key areas:  

 Communication, consultation and participation; 

 Needs assessment;  

 Accommodation and site delivery; and 

 Enforcement.  

Whilst the notes were developed prior to the NPPF and the introduction of PPTS 2012 
and 2015, some of the key principles remain relevant. and it is worth considering some 
of the papers’ key recommendations. 

In terms of communication, consultation and participation the RTPI highlight the 
following good practice: 

 Define potentially confusing terminology used by professionals working in the 
area;  

                                                      
31 PAS spaces and places for gypsies and travellers how planning can help page 8 & 14 

32 PAS spaces and places for gypsies and travellers how planning can help page 10 

Page 112



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 79 

 
July 2019 

 Use appropriate methods of consultation: oral exchanges and face-to-face 
dealings are essential to effectively engage with Gypsy and Traveller communities, 
whilst service providers tend to use written exchanges;  

 Consultees and participants need to be involved in the entire plan making 
process; this includes in-house participants, external organisations, Gypsy and 
Traveller communities, and settled communities. The RTPI concludes that: 

- ‘Local authorities should encourage Gypsy and Traveller communities to engage 
with the planning system at an early stage. However, they may request other 
agencies that have well-established relationships with members of Gypsy and 
Traveller communities to undertake this role.’ and 

- ‘In the past, settled communities have often only become aware of the 
intention to develop Gypsy and Traveller accommodation when the local 
authority issues a notice or consultation. … cultivating the support of the settled 
community for the development of sites should start as soon as possible. … 
There is a sound case for front-loading and sharing information with small 
groups in the [settled] community, rather than trying to manage large public 
gatherings at the start of the process. Again, it may be beneficial for the local 
authority to work in partnership with organisations with established links in the 
community. The settled community is not a homogeneous whole. There will be 
separate groups with different perceptions and concerns, which the local 
authority must take account of.’33  

 Dialogue methods: the RTPI correctly identify that the experience of many Gypsies 
and Travellers of liaising with both public sector agencies and the settled 
community is both frightening and negative. As a result ‘there should be no 
expectation that Gypsies and Travellers will participate in open meetings. 
Stakeholders should investigate suitable methods of bringing together individuals 
from the respective communities in an environment that will facilitate a 
constructive exchange of information and smooth the process of breaking down 
animosity and hostility.’34 The use of public meetings is discouraged, and the use of 
organisations with experience of working within both Gypsy and Traveller, and 
settled communities encouraged – advice and support groups, assisted by the 
latter, holding regular local meetings can be an effective means of engaging 
constructively with both communities. Representatives from these groups can also 
be included on appropriate forums and advisory groups. The location and timing of 
meetings needs to be carefully considered to maximise participation, with a 
neutral venue being preferable.  

 The media has an important role to play in facilitating the delivery of sites locally, 
with past reporting being extremely damaging. Positive media liaison is important 
and requires: 

                                                      
33 RTPI Planning for Gypsies and Travellers Good Practice Note 4 Part A page 8 

34 RTPI Planning for Gypsies and Travellers Good Practice Note 4 Part A page 13 

Page 113



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 80 

 
July 2019 

- A single point of contact with the local authority; 

- A liaison officer responsible for compilation and release of briefings, and for 
building positive relationships with editors, journalists, radio and television 
presenters;  

- All stakeholders to provide accurate and timely briefings for the liaison officer; 

- Provision of media briefings on future activities;  

- Officers to anticipate when and where the most sensitive and contentious 
issues will arise and use of a risk assessment to mitigate any negative impact;  

- Use of the media to facilitate engagement with both settled and Gypsy and 
Traveller communities; and 

- Stakeholders to provide politicians with clear, accurate and comprehensive 
briefings.  

 On-going communication, participation and consultation are important. The 
continued use of the most effective methods of engagement once an initiative is 
completed ensures the maximum use of resources:  

- ‘The delivery of some services, such as the identification of sites in development 
plan documents, is the end of one process and the start of another. The various 
committees and advisory groups established to participate in the process of site 
identification and the accommodation needs assessment will have considerable 
background information and expertise embedded in their membership. This will 
prove useful in the management and monitoring of subsequent work. … Whilst 
on-going engagement with all service users is important, it is especially 
important with regard to Gypsies and Travellers, given their long history of 
marginalisation.’35 

Whilst the RTPI’s Good Practice Note Planning for Gypsies and Travellers predates the 
NPPF, the principles that it establishes at Part C remain largely relevant in terms of the 
role of local plan making. The Note advises that whilst the use of the site specific DPDs 
to identify sites for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation may seem less divisive, 
subsequent to identification of sufficient sites to meet identified need, local planning 
authorities should seek to integrate provision for Gypsies and Travellers within their 
general housing strategies and policies. Early involvement of stakeholders, the 
community and special interest groups will help achieve a consensus.  

However, the RTPI point out that, due to the contentious nature of Gypsy and 
Traveller provision, the use of a criteria based approach to the selection of 
development sites is unlikely to be successful ‘in instances where considerable public 
opposition to the development might be anticipated.’ The paper concludes that it is 

                                                      
35 RTPI Planning for Gypsies and Travellers Good Practice Note 4 Part A page 18 

Page 114



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 81 

 
July 2019 

not appropriate to rely solely on criteria as an alternative to site allocations where 
there is an identified need for the development.’36  

The RTPI advocate adopting a pragmatic approach, whereby local planning authorities 
work with the Gypsy and Traveller communities within their areas to identify a range 
of potentially suitable sites: 

‘The local authority and Gypsy and Traveller communities are both able to bring 
forward their suggested sites during this process, and the distribution and location 
of transit as well as permanent sites can be covered. The practicable options would 
then go forward for discussion with the local community, interest groups, and other 
stakeholders before the selection of preferred sites is finalised. The advantages of 
this approach are its transparency and the certainty it provides both for Gypsies 
and Travellers and for settled communities.’37  

The RTPI also advocates the use of supplementary planning guidance to provide 
additional detail on policies contained within a Local Plan; in terms of Gypsies and 
Travellers this could include: 

 Needs assessment evidence base;  

 Design principles; and  

 A design brief for the layout of sites.  

B.7 Guidance on Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments, DCLG, 
October 2007 

This Guidance (formally cancelled in December 2016) sets out a detailed framework 
for designing, planning and carrying out Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs 
assessments. It includes the needs of Showpeople. It acknowledges that the housing 
needs of Gypsies and Travellers are likely to differ from those of the settled 
community, and that they have hitherto been excluded from accommodation needs 
assessments.  

The guidance stresses the importance of understanding accommodation needs of the 
whole Gypsy and Traveller population; and that studies obtain robust data. It 
recognises the difficulty of surveying this population and recommends the use of: 

 Qualitative methods such as focus groups and group interviews; 

 Specialist surveys of those living on authorised sites that are willing to respond; 
and 

 Existing information, including local authority site records and the twice yearly 
caravan counts.  

                                                      
36 RTPI Planning for Gypsies and Travellers Good Practice Note 4 Part C page 11 

37 RTPI Planning for Gypsies and Travellers Good Practice Note 4 Part C page 11 

Page 115



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 82 

 
July 2019 

The Guidance recognises that there are challenges in carrying out these assessments, 
and accepts that while the approach should be as robust as possible it is very difficult 
to exactly quantify unmet need.  

B.8 Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide, DCLG, May 2008 

The Guide (now cancelled) attempted to establish and summarise the key elements 
needed to design a successful site. In particular, the guidance intended to assist: 

 Local authorities or Registered Providers looking to develop new sites or refurbish 
existing sites; 

 Architects or developers looking to develop sites or refurbish existing sites; and 

 Site residents looking to participate in the design/refurbishment process.  

B.9 The National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into effect in March 2012 and 
sets out the Government’s planning policies for England. It condenses previous 
guidance and places a strong emphasis on ‘sustainable development’. It provides more 
focussed guidance on plan-making and refers to ‘Local Plans’ rather than Local 
Development Frameworks or Development Plan Documents. Despite the difference in 
terminology it does not affect the provisions of the 2004 Act which remains the legal 
basis for plan-making. 

B.10 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites, March 2012 (subsequently updated August 
2015) 

In March 2012 the Government also published Planning policy for traveller sites, which 
together with the NPPF replaced all previous planning policy guidance in respect of 
Gypsies and Travellers. The policy approach encouraged provision of sites for Gypsies 
and Travellers where there is an identified need, to help maintain an appropriate level 
of supply. The policy also encouraged the use of plan making and decision taking to 
reduce unauthorised developments and encampments. This policy document was 
replaced by updated PPTS in August 2015 (see below). 

B.11 Progress report by the ministerial working group on tackling inequalities 
experienced by Gypsies and Travellers, April 2012 

In April 2012 the Government published a Progress Report by the ministerial working 
group on tackling inequalities experienced by Gypsies and Travellers, which 
summarised progress in terms of meeting ‘Government commitments to tackle 
inequalities and promote fairness for Gypsy and Traveller communities.’38 The report 
covers 28 measures from across Government aimed at tackling inequalities, these 
cover: 

 Improving education outcomes; 

 Improving health outcomes; 

                                                      
38 www.communities.gov.uk/news/corporate/2124322 

Page 116

http://www.communities.gov.uk/news/corporate/2124322


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 83 

 
July 2019 

 Providing appropriate accommodation; 

 Tackling hate crime; 

 Improving interaction with the National Offender Management Service; 

 Improving access to employment and financial services; and 

 Improving engagement with service providers.  

B.12 Dealing with illegal and unauthorised encampments: a summary of available powers, 
DCLG August 2012  

This guidance note (now superseded, March 2015) summarised the powers available 
to local authorities and landowners to remove encampments from both public and 
private land.  

B.13 Statutory Instrument 2013 No.830 Town and Country Planning (Temporary Stop 
Notice) (England) (Revocation) Regulations 2013: Made on 11th April 2013 and laid 
before Parliament on 12th April 2013 this Instrument revoking the regulations applying 
to Temporary Stop Notices (TSNs) in England came into force on 4th May 2013. The 
regulations were originally introduced to mitigate against the likely disproportionate 
impact of TSNs on Gypsies and Travellers in areas where there is a lack of sites to meet 
the needs of the Travelling community. Under the regulations, TSNs were prohibited 
where a caravan was a person’s main residence, unless there was a risk of harm to a 
serious public interest significant enough to outweigh any benefit to the occupier of 
the caravan. Under the new arrangements local planning authorities are to determine 
whether the use of a TSN is a proportionate and necessary response.  

B.14 Ministerial Statement 1st July 2013 by Brandon Lewis39 highlighted the issue of 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and revised the appeals recovery criteria 
issued on 30th June 2008 to enable an initial six-month period of scrutiny of Traveller 
site appeals in the Green Belt. This was so that the Secretary of State could assess the 
extent to which the national policy, Planning policy for traveller sites, was meeting the 
Government’s stated policy intentions. A number of appeals have subsequently been 
recovered. The Statement also revoked the practice guidance on ‘Diversity and 
equality in planning’40, deeming it to be outdated; the Government does not intend to 
replace this guidance.  

B.15 Dealing with illegal and unauthorised encampments: a summary of available powers 
9th August 2013. This guidance (now superseded, March 2015) replaced that published 
in August 2012, and updated it in respect of changes to Temporary Stop Notices.  

B.16 DCLG Consultation: Planning and Travellers, September 2014. This consultation 
document sought to: 

 Amend the Planning policy for Traveller sites’ definition of Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople to exclude those who have ceased to travel permanently; 

                                                      
39 https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-and-travellers 

40 ODPM Diversity and Equality in Planning: A good practice guide 2005 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-and-travellers


Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 84 

 
July 2019 

 Amend secondary legislation to bring the definition of Gypsies and Travellers, set 
out in the Housing (Assessment of Accommodation Needs)(Meaning of Gypsies 
and Travellers)(England) Regulations 2006 in line with the proposed changed 
definition set out above for the Planning policy for Traveller sites; 

 Make the intentional unauthorised occupation of land be regarded by decision 
takers as a material consideration that weighs against the granting of planning 
permission. In other words, failure to seek permission in advance of occupation of 
land would count against the grant of planning permission; 

 Protect ‘sensitive areas’ including the Green Belt; 

 Update guidance on how local authorities should assess future Traveller 
accommodation requirements, including sources of information that authorities 
should use. In terms of future needs assessments the consultation suggests that 
authorities should look at: 

- The change in the number of Traveller households that have or are likely to 
have accommodation needs to be addressed over the Plan period; 

- Broad locations where there is a demand for additional pitches; 

- The level, quality and types of accommodation and facilities needed (e.g. sites 
and housing); 

- The demographic profile of the Traveller community obtained from working 
directly with them; 

- Caravan count data at a local level; and 

- Whether there are needs at different times of the year. 

 The consultation closed on 23rd November 2014. 

B.17 Dealing with illegal and unauthorised encampments: a summary of available powers, 
March 2015. This Guidance also states that to plan and respond effectively, the police 
and landowners have to deal quickly with illegal and unauthorised encampments. The 
Guidance lists a series of questions that local authorities will want to consider 
including:  

 Is the land particularly vulnerable to unlawful occupation/trespass?  

 What is the status of that land? Who is the landowner?  

 Do any special rules apply to that land (e.g. byelaws, statutory schemes of 
management, etc.) and, if so, are any of those rules relevant to the 
occupation/trespass activity?  

 Has a process been established for the local authority to be notified about any 
unauthorised encampments?  

 If the police are notified of unauthorised encampments on local authority land, do 
they know who in the local authority should be notified?  

 If the power of persuasion by local authority officers (wardens/park 
officers/enforcement officers) does not result in people leaving the land/taking 
down tents, is there a clear decision making process, including liaison between 

Page 118



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 85 

 
July 2019 

councils and local police forces, on how to approach unauthorised encampments? 
At what level of the organisation will that decision be made? How will that 
decision-maker be notified? 

The Guidance also states that to plan and respond effectively local agencies should 
work together to consider:  

 Identifying vulnerable sites; 

 Working with landowners to physically secure vulnerable sites where possible; 

 Preparing any necessary paperwork, such as applications for possession orders or 
injunctions, in advance; 

 Working with private landowners to inform them of their powers in relation to 
unauthorised encampments, including advance preparation of any necessary 
paperwork;  

 Developing a clear notification and decision-making process to respond to 
instances of unauthorised encampments;  

 The prudence of applying for injunctions where intelligence suggests there may be 
a planned encampment and the site of the encampment might cause disruption to 
others;  

 Working to ensure that local wardens, park officers or enforcement officers are 
aware of who they should notify in the event of unauthorised encampments; 

 Working to ensure that local wardens or park officers are aware of the locations of 
authorised campsites or other alternatives; and 

 Identifying sites where protests could be directed / permitted. 

B.18 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites, August 2015 

To be read alongside the NPPF (March 2012), this national planning policy document 
replaces the original document of the same Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn 
Boroughs (published in March 2012). Planning policy for traveller sites sets out that, 
“the Government’s overarching aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, 
in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while 
respecting the interests of the settled community.”41 

The document sets out a series of nine policies (Policy A to Policy I), which address 
different issues associated with traveller sites: 

 Policy A: Using evidence to plan positively and manage development, 

 Policy B: Planning for traveller sites, 

 Policy C: Sites in rural areas and the countryside, 

 Policy D: Rural exception sites, 

                                                      
41 DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites, August 2015, paragraph 3 

Page 119



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 86 

 
July 2019 

 Policy E: Travellers sites in Green Belt, 

 Policy F: Mixed planning use traveller sites, 

 Policy G: Major development projects, 

 Policy H: Determining planning applications for traveller sites, and 

 Policy I: Implementation.  

B.19 DCLG Planning policy statement on Green Belt protection and intentional 
unauthorised development (31st August 2015) 

Issued as a letter to all Chief Planning Officers in England, this planning policy 
statement sets out changes to make intentional unauthorised development a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications, and also to provide 
stronger protection for the Green Belt. The statement explains that the Planning 
Inspectorate will monitor all appeal decisions involving unauthorised development in 
the Green Belt, and additionally the DCLG will consider the recovery of a proportion of 
relevant appeals for the Secretary of State’s decision “to enable him to illustrate how 
he would like his policy to apply in practice”, under the criteria set out in 2008. 

In addition, the planning policy statement of 31st August 2015 announced that the 
Government has cancelled the documents Guide to the effective use of enforcement 
powers, Part 1 (2006) and Part 2 (2007) and Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites – 
Good Practice Guide (2008). 

B.20 DCLG Draft guidance to local housing authorities on the periodical review of housing 
needs: Caravans and Houseboats, March 2016 

This draft guidance was published to explain how the Government wants local housing 
authorities to interpret changes to accommodation needs assessments (as required by 
Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985), specifically in relation to caravans and houseboats. 
It makes reference to Clause 115 of the Housing and Planning Bill, which has 
subsequently received royal assent and became legislation on 12 May 2016. The 
relevant clause has become Section 124 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

The draft guidance explains how Government wants local housing authorities to 
interpret changes to accommodation needs assessments (as required by Section 8 of 
the Housing Act 1985), specifically in relation to caravans and houseboats.  

In the carrying out of accommodation needs assessments, the draft guidance stresses 
the importance of close engagement with the community. The use of existing data 
along with conducting a specialist survey is recommended. 

B.21 The National Planning Policy Framework July 2018 and February 2019 

This updates the 2012 NPPF and provides a framework within which locally-prepared 
plans for housing and other development can be produced. Chapter 5 considers the 
delivery of a sufficient supply of homes and the size, type and tenure of housing need 
for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning 
policies. This includes travellers who meet the definition set out in the PPTS.  

 

 

Page 120



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report   Page | 87 

 
July 2019 

Appendix C: Gypsy and Traveller Fieldwork Questionnaire 
 

 
Date and Time   

 

 
Site Reference   

 

 
Address   

 1 Pitch/Property Type   
 2 No. Statics/mobiles/bricks and mortar   
 3 No. tourers   
 4 Description of pitch occupancy   
 5 No. households   
 6 No. concealed households   
 7 No. doubled up households   
 

8 
Does anyone else use this pitch as their 
home?   

 9 Household characteristics 
    

 

  Gender  Age Relationship to respondent 

 

 

Respondent       

 

 

Person 2       

 

 

Person 3       

 

 

Person 4       

 

 

Person 5       

 

 

Person 6       

 

 

Person 7       

 

 

Person 8       

   

P
age 121



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report   Page | 88 

 
July 2019 

10 Ethnicity   
   

11 
How many bed spaces are there on your 
pitch?   

   12 Overcrowding of home Y / N 
   13 Overcrowding of pitch Y / N 
     

 
Travelling questions 

  
   

14 
In the last year have you or someone in 
your household travelled Y / N 

   
15 

Previous to the last year, did you or 
someone in your household travel? Y / N 

   16 Reason(s) for travelling   
   

17 
Do you or a member of your household 
plan to travel next year? Y / N 

   

18 
Do you think you or a member of your 
household will travel each year for the 
next five years and/or beyond Y / N 

   
19 

What reasons do you have for not 
travelling now or in the future?   

     
 

Future moving intentions 
  

   
20 

Are you planning to move in the next 5 
years? Y / N 

   

21 
Where are you planning to move to? 
(Same Site, Other Site in District, Outside 
District (if so where)   

   
22 

What type of dwelling (caravan, trailer, 
house, flat, bungalow)   

   

P
age 122



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report   Page | 89 

 
July 2019 

23 
Emerging households: Are there any 
people in your household who want to 
move to their own pitch in the next 5 yrs? Y / N 

       HH1 HH2 HH3 HH4 

24 
Where are you planning to move to? 
(Same Site, Other Site in District, Outside 
District (if so where)         

25 
What type of dwelling (caravan, trailer, 
house, flat, bungalow)         

26 Have they travelled / plan to travel Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 

27 Scope to expand site Y / N 
   28 No. additional pitches   
   29 Scope to intensify pitches Y / N 
   30 No. additional pitches   
   

31 
Is there a need for transit pitches (for 
people stopping over temporarily) in the 
district? Y / N 

   32 If so, now many are needed?   
   

33 Who should manage them (Council, 
Traveller Community)   

   

34 
Is there a need for more authorised 
pitches (for people to live on all the 
time?) Y / N 

   35 If so, now many are needed?   
   

36 How many years have you lived here? 
  

If less than 6 years, please ask supplementary 
questions 

  P
age 123



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report   Page | 90 

 
July 2019 

Supplementary questions if relevant 
    37 Where did you move from? (District)   

   

38 
When you moved here, was the pitch 
vacant, a new pitch or was the pitch sub-
divided   

   39 What were the reasons for moving here?   
   

40 
Did you already have a connection with 
the area (e.g. family or friends living here; 
or you used to live here?)   

   

41 
Do you know anyone in bricks and mortar 
housing looking to live on a site? If so, can 
you provide contact details   

   

42 
Are there any vacant pitches on the site 
which could be used by another family? If 
so how many pitches   

   
 

 

P
age 124



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 91 

 
July 2019 

Appendix D: Glossary of terms  
 

Caravans: Mobile living vehicles used by Gypsies and Travellers; also referred to as trailers.  

CJ&POA: Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994; includes powers for local authorities and 
police to act against unauthorised encampments.  

CRE: Commission for Racial Equality.  

DCLG: Department for Communities and Local Government; created in May 2006. 
Responsible for the remit on Gypsies and Travellers, which was previously held by the Office 
of the Deputy Prime Minister (O.D.P.M.).  

Gypsies and Travellers: Defined by DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites (August 2015) as 
“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on 
grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old 
age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of 
travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such”. The planning policy goes 
on to state that, “In determining whether persons are “gypsies and travellers” for the purposes 
of this planning policy, consideration should be given to the following issues amongst other 
relevant matters: a) whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life b) the reasons for 
ceasing their nomadic habit of life c) whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of 
life in the future, and if so, how soon and in what circumstances”. 

Irish Traveller: Member of one of the main groups of Gypsies and Travellers in England. Irish 
Travellers have a distinct indigenous origin in Ireland and have been in England since the mid 
nineteenth century. They have been recognised as an ethnic group since August 2000 in 
England and Wales (O'Leary v Allied Domecq).  

Mobile home: Legally a ‘caravan’ but not usually capable of being moved by towing.  

Pitch: Area of land on a Gypsy/Traveller site occupied by one resident family; sometimes 
referred to as a plot, especially when referring to Travelling Showpeople. DCLG Planning 
policy for traveller sites (August 2015) states that “For the purposes of this planning policy, 
“pitch” means a pitch on a “gypsy and traveller” site and “plot” means a pitch on a “travelling 
showpeople” site (often called a “yard”). This terminology differentiates between residential 
pitches for “gypsies and travellers” and mixed-use plots for “travelling showpeople”, which 
may / will need to incorporate space or to be split to allow for the storage of equipment”. 

Plot: see pitch  

PPTS: Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (DCLG, 2012 and 2015 editions) 

Roadside: Term used here to indicate families on unauthorised encampments, whether 
literally on the roadside or on other locations such as fields, car parks or other open spaces.  

Romany: Member of one of the main groups of Gypsies and Travellers in England. Romany 
Gypsies trace their ethnic origin back to migrations, probably from India, taking place at 
intervals since before 1500. Gypsies have been a recognised ethnic group for the purposes of 
British race relations legislation since 1988 (CRE V Dutton).  

Page 125



Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Councils GTAA  – Final Report  Page | 92 

 
July 2019 

Sheds: On most residential Gypsy/Traveller sites 'shed' refers to a small basic building with 
plumbing amenities (bath/shower, WC, sink), which are provided at the rate of one per 
pitch/pitch. Some contain a cooker and basic kitchen facilities.  

Showpeople: Defined by DCLG Planning policy for traveller sites (August 2015) as “Members 
of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not 
travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or 
their family’s or dependants’ more localised pattern of trading, educational or health needs or 
old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers as defined 
above”. 

Site: An area of land laid out and used for Gypsy/Traveller caravans; often though not always 
comprising slabs and amenity blocks or ‘sheds’. An authorised site will have planning 
permission. An unauthorised development lacks planning permission.  

Slab: An area of concrete or tarmac on sites allocated to a household for the parking of 
trailers (caravans)  

Stopping places: A term used to denote an unauthorised temporary camping area tolerated 
by local authorities, used by Gypsies and Travellers for short-term encampments, and 
sometimes with the provision of temporary toilet facilities, water supplies and refuse 
collection services.  

Tolerated site: An unauthorised encampment/site where a local authority has decided not to 
take enforcement action to seek its removal.  

Trailers: Term used for mobile living vehicles used by Gypsies and Travellers; also referred to 
as caravans.  

Transit site: A site intended for short-term use while in transit. The site is usually permanent 
and authorised, but there is a limit on the length of time residents can stay.  

Unauthorised development: Establishment of Gypsy and Traveller sites without planning 
permission, usually on land owned by those establishing the site. Unauthorised development 
may involve ground works for roadways and hard standings. People parking caravans on their 
own land without planning permission are not Unauthorised Encampments in that they 
cannot trespass on their own land – they are therefore Unauthorised Developments and 
enforcement is always dealt with by Local Planning Authorities enforcing planning legislation.  

Unauthorised encampment: Land where Gypsies or Travellers reside in vehicles or tents 
without permission. Unauthorised encampments can occur in a variety of locations (roadside, 
car parks, parks, fields, etc.) and constitute trespass. The 1994 Criminal Justice and Public 
Order Act made it a criminal offence to camp on land without the owner’s consent. 
Unauthorised encampments fall into two main categories: those on land owned by local 
authorities and those on privately owned land. It is up to the land owner to take enforcement 
action in conjunction with the Police.  

Wagons: This is the preferred term for the vehicles used for accommodation by Showpeople.  

Yards: Showpeople travel in connection with their work and therefore live, almost universally, 
in wagons. During the winter months these are parked up in what was traditionally known as 
‘winter quarters’. These ‘yards’ are now often occupied all year around by some family 
members. 

Page 126



 

 
 

Hyndburn 2036: 

The Local Plan  

 

Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site 

Options Consultation Paper 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation 18(3) Consultation: November 2019 

  

Page 127



 

 
 

 

Executive Summary 

The Council continues to prepare its new Local Plan for Hyndburn which will set out a vision for 

the Borough in 2036, and how the planning system will help to facilitate achievement of that 

vision.  

This Regulation 18(3) consultation paper builds upon the public consultation exercise held 

earlier in 2019 on the Local Plan, the Regulation 18(2) consultation. That exercise presented a 

new Core Strategy and proposed housing, employment and mixed use site allocations to help 

ensure that the growth ambitions of the area are fulfilled. 

This consultation sets out a proposed policy approach to help address the specific needs of 

gypsy and travellers in Hyndburn. It takes account of new evidence published in the form of a 

Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment (GTAA). It 

details a proposed policy approach for how the Council will fully meet the anticipated 

requirements for new pitches over the plan period to 2036. 

Further details as to how to get involved with viewing and commenting on the Hyndburn 2036 

Local Plan are contained within this document. This is a key time for the Borough so please do 

get involved and help contribute to the debate.  

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 
 

Table of Contents 

 

1.0 Introduction .................................................................................... 1 

Definition of Gypsy and Travellers ..................................................................................... 1 

The Development Plan in Hyndburn .................................................................................. 2 

Structure of this consultation paper ................................................................................... 3 

How to get involved and comment ..................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Need in Hyndburn .......... 5 

Existing accommodation .................................................................................................... 5 

Future Need ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Approach to site identification ............................................................................................ 8 

3.0 The Policy Context ........................................................................ 9 

National Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) ........................................................... 9 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy (2012) ........................................................... 10 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Development Management DPD (2018) .............................. 10 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review Reg18 Consultation (2019) ............... 11 

4.0 Proposed Traveller Strategy in the Local Plan .......................... 12 

Sequential Approach ....................................................................................................... 12 

1.  Allocate and safeguard existing authorised sites ................................................... 12 

2. Fully utilise existing pitches on authorised sites .................................................... 14 

3. Identify additional new traveller sites ..................................................................... 15 

Unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller Sites ...................................................................... 16 

Sustainability Appraisal ................................................................................................ 17 

Appendix A: Site plans of existing authorised Gypsy and Traveller 

Sites identified in the GTAA ............................................................... 18 

Appendix B: Site plan of existing Travelling Showpeople Yard ...... 25 

Appendix C: Site plan of additional existing authorised Gypsy and 

Traveller Site ....................................................................................... 27 

Appendix D: Site plans and site assessments of ‘reasonable 

alternative’ site options for new Gypsy and Traveller Sites ............ 29 

Page 129



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

1 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 

1.1 Hyndburn Council is in the process of preparing its new Local Plan to cover 
the period to 2036. The Council is required, through national policy and 
legislation1, to objectively assess and meet the needs of the population within 
its area. In February 2019 the Council published Local Plan consultation 
documents 2 on a Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD. The 
consultation considered general housing and employment needs in the 
Borough along with ‘reasonable alternative’ site options for allocation in the 
new Local Plan. 
 

1.2 Recently published evidence3 demonstrates a future need in the Borough for 
new Gypsy and Traveller pitches. As part of the continuing preparation phase 
of the Local Plan the Council is therefore now considering the most 
appropriate policy approach to help meet the identified need. This paper sets 
out a proposed strategy and policy to be implemented in the Local Plan, and 
identifies suitable ‘reasonable alternative’ site options to help meet the 
identified need for pitches and plots in Hyndburn Borough over the plan 
period. 
 

1.3 The Government’s planning guidance Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 
(PPTS) published in 2015 states that ‘The Government’s overarching aim is to 
ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilitates the 
traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while respecting the interests 
of the settled community’ (paragraph 3).  
 

1.4 The Equality Act 2010 identifies ‘race’ (comprising ethnicity, colour and 
nationality) as a protected characteristic. Romany Gypsies and Travellers are 
a distinct ethnic group and are therefore protected from discrimination through 
provisions in the Equality Act. There is a statutory duty on public bodies to 
have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations in the course of developing policies and 
delivering services. The Council is undertaking this consultation to ensure that 
the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers are considered in the 
same way as other forms of housing requirement set out in the Local Plan. 

 

 Definition of Gypsy and Travellers 

1.5 The term ‘Gypsy and Travellers’ is difficult to define as it does not constitute a 
single, homogenous group, but encompasses a range of groups with different 
histories, cultures and beliefs including: Romany Gypsies, Irish Travellers, 
Scottish Gypsies/Travellers and Welsh Gypsies/Travellers. There are also 
Traveller groups that may be regarded as more ‘cultural’ travellers than 

                                                           
1
 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), Housing Act (2004), Equality Act (2010). 

2
 Under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

3
 Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Borough Council Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson 

Accommodation Assessment (2019) 

Page 130

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

2 

 

‘ethnic’ travellers, e.g. ‘New’ (Age) Travellers. There are also more 
occupational travellers such as travelling showpeople and waterway travellers. 
 

1.6 Reference in the PPTS to ‘travellers’ refers to gypsy and travellers and 
travelling showpeople. However Annex 1 of the PPTS provides separate 
definitions for each group: 

Gypsies and travellers: Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race 
or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their 
family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old age have ceased 
to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of 
travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.  

Travelling Showpeople: Members of a group organised for the purposes of 
holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). 
This includes such persons who on the grounds of their own or their family’s 
or dependants’ more localised pattern of trading, educational or health needs 
or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and 
Travellers as defined above.  

1.7 References in this paper and the Hyndburn Local Plan to ‘travellers’, ‘gypsies 
and travellers’ and ‘travelling showpeople’ should be read in the context of the 
definitions set out above and within PPTS. 

 

The Development Plan in Hyndburn 

1.8 The NPPF confirms that ‘the planning system should be genuinely plan-led. 
Succinct and up-to-date plans should provide a positive vision for the future of 
each area; a framework for addressing housing needs and other economic, 
social and environmental priorities; and a platform for local people to shape 
their surroundings’4. 
 

1.9 The Hyndburn Local Plan documents are set out in Figure 1 below, and the 
development plan also comprises the Lancashire County Council Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan (there are no Neighbourhood Plans at present in 
Hyndburn).  
 

1.10 The Core Strategy provides the overarching strategic planning policies and 
was first adopted in 2012. This is now under review. The Site Allocations DPD 
will identify the sites required to meet the development needs set out in the 
Core Strategy, as well as sites to be protected from development. Both the 
Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPDs were subject to previous 
Regulation 18 public consultation papers (in 2018 and 2019). A Proposals 
Map will be published alongside the policies of the Site Allocations DPD once 
it is finalised. The Council proposes to incorporate Gypsy and traveller policy 
and site issues within these existing Local Plan documents.  

                                                           
4
 NPPF, Paragraph 15 

Page 131



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

3 

 

 
1.11 The Development Management DPD provides more detailed planning policies 

used in determining planning applications. This was adopted by the Council in 
2018. Finally the Accrington Area Action Plan (AAP), adopted in 2012, 
provides specific planning policies for the town centre and environs. This has 
been reviewed by the Council in 2018 and will not be subject to any formal 
policy updates until adoption of the Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations 
DPD in 2021. 
 

Figure 1: Structure of the Hyndburn Local Plan 

 
 

1.12 The Town and Country Planning Act5 states that planning applications should 
be determined in accordance with the policies of the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

Structure of this consultation paper 

1.13 This paper begins by setting out the anticipated gypsy and traveller 
accommodation need in Hyndburn, as evidenced in recent evidence base 
work completed by the Council (See Section 2). This is followed by an 
overview of the relevant policy context (national and local) that Local 
Authorities need to take into account in undertaking this work (Section 3). 
 

1.14 In Section 4 the Council sets out the proposed Strategy for meeting policy 
requirements in Hyndburn. Specific questions are posed in Section 4 for which 
the Council is seeking comments on. Responses received will help to finalise 
the policy approach and site considerations in the new Local Plan. There are 
six questions set out in all, highlighted in boxes as per the example below. 

 

? 

Question 1:  

Do you agree with the approach … 

 

1.15 A draft Gypsy and Traveller policy was presented in the Core Strategy Review 
Reg18 consultation of 2019 (Policy CS11). This will be updated in light of the 

                                                           
555

 Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Core Strategy 
DPD 

Site 
Allocations 

DPD 

Development 
Management 

DPD 
Proposals Map 

Accrington 
Area Action 

Plan 

Page 132

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/core-strategy-review-reg18-feb19/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/core-strategy-review-reg18-feb19/


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

4 

 

outcomes of this public consultation at the Publication stage of the plan in 
2020. 
 

1.16 Location, site plans and site assessments of potential new sites are set out in 
Appendices A-D. 
 

How to get involved and comment 

1.17 This consultation paper invites you to comment on the proposed policy 
strategy and content of the Gypsy and Traveller site options consultation. You 
can view the document and all supporting documentation online6. Hard copies 
will also be made available at all libraries across the Borough and at Scaitcliffe 
House (Accrington) for the duration of the consultation period (Friday 29th 
November 2019 – Friday 10th January 2020). 
 

1.18 Comments must be received no later than 5pm on Friday 10th January 2020 
to be considered valid. You can submit comments in the following ways: 

 using the comments forms provided at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan, 
or available in hard copy format at all library locations across the Borough 
and at Scaitcliffe House; 

 e-mailing comments through to planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk; or 

 writing to the Council at the following address: Hyndburn Borough 
Council, Plans and Environment, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, 
Accrington, BB5 0PF 

1.19 Please note that all comments should clearly state the question and/or 
reference (e.g. paragraph ref, Site Ref) that your comment relates to. The 
Council is keen to receive feedback on aspects of policies or sites that are 
supported, and not just those that are objected to, or are seen to require 
improvement. 

                                                           
6
 www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan   

Page 133

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan
mailto:planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

5 

 

2.0 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Need in 
Hyndburn 
 

2.1 In October 2018 Hyndburn Council (along with Blackburn with Darwen 
Council) appointed Arc4 planning consultants to undertake a Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) for both Boroughs. This was 
completed in July 2019 and is available to view in full on the Council’s 
website7. 
 

2.2 The GTAA comprised a number of different evidence sources in coming to its 
conclusions on existing and future need for Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation: 

 A review of existing (secondary) data (e.g. Census, caravan counts); 

 An online survey of key stakeholders; and 

 Interviews and data obtained directly from 69 of 80 identified 
households in Hyndburn 

 
2.3 Data was analysed to provide an accurate picture of current provision around 

the Borough, as well as an assessment of future need. The Council considers 
the GTAA to provide an up-to-date, robust and defensible evidence base for 
policy development in the Local Plan. The key findings of the GTAA are set 
out below. 
 

Existing accommodation 

2.4 A total of 78 existing Gypsy and Traveller pitches are identified in the GTAA 
across Hyndburn, comprising 80 households. Of the total number of pitches 
58 are located on authorised private sites, 15 pitches on an authorised 
Council site, and 5 pitches on unauthorised private sites. Table 1 provides a 
summary of these and Appendix A provides a location/site plan of each. 

Table 1: Existing Gypsy and Traveller Sites in Hyndburn (GTAA, 2019) 

Ref Site name Type Pitches 

LA1 Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 15 

Sub-total (Council owned authorised sites) 15 

Priv1 Whinney Hill House, Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 1 

Priv2 The Yard, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 1 

Priv3 Sankey House Farm, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, 
BB5 6NX 

Auth. 10 

Priv4 Dineley St., Church, BB5 4NG Auth. 1 

Priv5 Sunnydale Caravan Park, Charter St., Accrington, 
BB5 0LQ 

Auth. 15 

Priv6 Blythes Sidings, Off Blackburn Old Rd., Accrington, 
BB5 0AE 

Auth. 3 

                                                           
7
 www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/evidence-base  

Page 134

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/evidence-base


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

6 

 

Priv7 Parsonage Street, Sites 1 and 2, Church, BB5 0HS  Auth. 2 

Priv8 Springvale Off Springhill Rd., behind Coal Pit Lane, 
BB5 0EX 

Auth. 3 

Priv9 The Green/Duncan Square, Union Rd., 
Oswaldtwistle, BB5 0EW 

Auth. 9 

Priv10 Heyes Lane/Stonebridge Lane, Oswaldtwistle, bb5 
3HX 

Auth. 1 

Priv11 James St., Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3LJ Auth. 6 

Priv12 Fir Trees, Sough Lane, Oswaldtwistle, BB1 2LR Auth. 6 

Sub-total (privately owned authorised sites) 58 

Unauth1 Smithfield Stables, Moss Lane, Stanhill, 
Oswaldtwistle, BB5 2RE 

Unauth. 1 

Unauth2 Smithacres, Back Lane, Baxenden, BB5, 2RE Unauth. 4 

Sub-total (privately owned unauthorised sites) 5 

 
2.5 The GTAA also identifies a total of 20 plots for travelling showpeople, all 

located on a single, authorised privately run yard. Table 2 provides a 
summary of this and Appendix B provides the location/site plan of the yard. 

Table 2: Existing Travelling Showpeople Yards in Hyndburn 

Ref Site name Type Plots 

TSP1 Silcocks, Burnley Rd., Altham, BB2 4HA Auth. 20 

 
2.6 Map 4.1 (below) is taken from the GTAA and shows the broad distribution of 

existing traveller sites around the Borough (and neighbouring Blackburn with 
Darwen). 

Page 135



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

7 

 

 

 

 
Future Need 

2.7 The GTAA considers in detail the likely future need for new traveller sites 
(gypsy and traveller pitches and travelling showpeople plots). The PPTS 
published in 2015 amended the definition of the groups to which this policy 
applies. The definitions now exclude, for planning purposes, anyone who has 
stopped travelling on a permanent basis. It does however continue to include 
those who have ceased to travel temporarily. The effect of this new definition 
is to create a more restricted ‘PPTS’ need which applies to those who 
continue to follow a nomadic habit of life. 
 

2.8 For this reason the GTAA expresses two levels of need for gypsy and traveller 
pitches: a higher ‘cultural’ need figure and a lower ‘PPTS’ need. The Local 
Plan must ensure that the identified ‘PPTS’ need is met through sufficient 
sites being made available. The additional ‘cultural’ need is considered to form 
a component of overall housing need. For this reason, whilst the Council is 
mindful of the obligation to consider it, specific sites for gypsy and travellers 
will not be identified to meet the additional uplift of ‘cultural’ need.  
 

2.9 In terms of future gypsy and traveller pitch need, the GTAA has considered 
the requirements for the full Local Plan period to 2036. It identifies a total 
‘cultural’ need of 60 pitches over the period 2019-2036, with a ‘PPTS’ need of 
49 pitches. Based on past trends the GTAA analysis considers potential 
turnover on the Council run site between 2019 and 2036 to likely be 7 pitches. 

Page 136



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

8 

 

This can be taken off the overall requirement to give a net residual PPTS 
need of 42 pitches for which the Local Plan should seek to identify sites. 
 

2.10 Table 3 below sets out the anticipated timeframe of pitch needs between now 
and the end of the plan period. 
 

Table 3: Pitch requirements set out in the GTAA – ‘PPTS’ need 

Period Pitches 

Short-term need  

       5 year authorised pitch shortfall (2019/20 to 2023/24) 18 

Longer-term need  

       Over period 2024-2029 10 

       Over period 2029-2034 14 

       Over period 2034-2036 7 

Total shortfall of pitches (2019/20 to 2035/36) 49 

       Anticipated turnover on the Council run site (2019/36) 7 

Total net shortfall of pitches (2019/20 to 2035/36) 42 

 

2.11 This consultation paper proposes a policy approach to ensure that sufficient, 
suitable sites are identified to meet the pitch requirement in full. 
 

2.12 The GTAA did not identify any specific need for further travelling showpeople 
plots over the Plan period, or additional transit pitches for gypsy and 
travellers. 

Approach to site identification 

2.13 A number of potential ‘reasonable alternative’ gypsy and traveller site options 
have been identified as part of preparing this consultation paper. These are 
set out in Section 4. Sites have been identified through a combination of sites 
being put forward by landowners themselves (under the Call for Sites 
process), land ownership investigations instigated by the Council, and 
consideration of suitable Council owned land.  
 

2.14 Criteria set out in Policy DM15: Gypsy and Traveller Sites of the Council’s 
recently adopted Development Management DPD have been used as in initial 
filter to determine which sites are considered to be ‘reasonable alternative’ 
options. Further details of the policy are set out in Section 3 of this paper. 

Page 137

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/dmdpd


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

9 

 

3.0 The Policy Context 

National Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) 

3.1 The Government’s PPTS, published August 2015, sets out the considerations 
that local planning authorities need to take into account in relation to planning 
for traveller sites.  
 

3.2 The following policies are of particular relevance to Plan-making: 
 

 Policy A: Using evidence to plan positively and manage development. 
Local Planning Authorities should pay particular attention to early and 
effective community engagement with both settled and traveller 
communities. They should also provide an up-to-date understanding of 
likely permanent and transit accommodation needs over the life of the 
Local Plan (for plan making and decision making purposes). 

 Policy B: Planning for traveller sites. Local Planning Authorities should 
set pitch targets for gypsies and travellers and plot targets for travelling 
showpeople using the evidence base available and working 
collaboratively with neighbouring local planning authorities. They should 
identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites to 
provide 5 years’ worth of sites against locally set targets. Specific, 
developable sites (or broad locations for growth) should be identified for 
years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 10-15. Criteria should be set 
to guide land supply allocations where a need is identified, and Policy B 
provides an overarching context for Local Planning Authority criteria 
based policies. 

 Policy C: Sites in rural areas and the countryside. Local Planning 
Authorities should ensure that the scale of sites in rural or semi-rural 
settings do not dominate the nearest settled community.  

 Policy D: Rural exception sites. A policy specifically aimed at providing 
exception sites in rural areas where there is a lack of affordable land to 
meet local traveller needs. 

 Policy E: Traveller sites in Green Belt. This policy sets the context for 
Local Planning Authorities considering allocating any sites in the green 
belt, and for assessing applications on green belt sites. 

 Policy F: Mixed planning use traveller sites. Policy to promote 
consideration of mixed-use sites (for residential and business use) in 
appropriate locations (excludes rural exception sites). 

 Policy G: Major development projects. Policy to ensure sites for the 
relocation of existing travellers are identified if existing authorised sites 
are to be affected by major development projects. 

 
3.3 Crucially therefore PPTS requires local planning authorities to make a robust 

assessment of need for sites for travellers. It also requires that local planning 
authorities ensure that traveller sites are sustainable economically, socially 
and environmentally. By ensuring that there is an adequate supply of pitches 
on authorised sites, the following can be achieved:  
 

 Conformity with national planning policy and the Equality Act 2010 

Page 138



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

10 

 

 Providing decent accommodation for the Travelling Community 

 Provide greater opportunities to access a range of facilities particularly 
health and education, therefore providing better opportunities for 
improved life outcomes.  

 Help to reduce the number of unauthorised sites where Traveller families 
are more likely to experience poor outcomes in terms of access to health 
and education services.  

 Opportunities for greater social interconnection between the travelling 
and settled community  

 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy (2012) 

3.4 The Council’s Core Strategy adopted in 2012 provides the current strategic 
policy approach for Gypsy and Travellers in the Borough. The recently 
published GTAA, Local Plan Review, and the outcomes of this consultation 
paper will help to update and replace existing Policy H3 of the Core Strategy.  
 

3.5 Existing Policy H3: Gypsy and Traveller Provision states that: 

Adequate provision will be made in the Borough for Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople by: 

o Protecting the existing site in Altham for the use of Travelling 
Showpeople; 

o Protecting existing permanent sites which are authorised for Gypsy and 
Traveller use; 

o Identifying land at Sankey House Farm to meet future needs. 

 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Development Management DPD 

(2018) 

3.6 Policy DM15: Gypsy and Traveller Sites in the adopted Development 
Management DPD (2018) provides the criteria based policy stipulated in 
PPTS. Policy DM15 states that: 
 

1. The Core Strategy identifies sufficient land to meet the needs of Gypsies 
and Travellers until at least 2018. Sufficient land will be identified, in 
suitable locations, to meet the needs for the remainder of the Plan period 
in the Council’s Site Allocations DPD. 

2. All development proposals for traveller sites will be assessed in 
accordance with ‘Planning policy for traveller sites’ and will be expected 
to: 

a. be located within a reasonable distance from services such as a 
school, bus stop, local shop and health services; 

b. be located in accessible locations with good access to public 
transport provision; and 

c. cause no unacceptable harm to: 
i. highway safety; 

Page 139



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

11 

 

ii. visual amenity; 
iii. residential amenity; 
iv. the biodiversity or geodiversity of the area; 
v. the character or appearance of a conservation area; or 
vi. heritage assets and their setting. 

3. Applications for new Gypsy and Travellers pitches will not be supported if 
there are sufficient vacant pitches on allocated or existing sites elsewhere 
in the Borough. 

 

3.7 The criteria set out in paragraph 2 of Policy DM15 have been used to help 
identify the ‘reasonable alternative’ site options set out in this consultation 
paper. 
 

The Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review Reg18 

Consultation (2019) 

3.8 The Council has already consulted on a draft replacement strategic policy 
(CS11) in the Core Strategy Review Regulation 18 Consultation Draft 
(February 2019). Policy CS11 is re-produced below. No formal responses 
were received in relation to this policy during the statutory 6-week consultation 
period. 

Policy CS11: Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Provision 

1) The Council will make adequate provision for the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 

and Travelling Showpeople up to 2036 by: 

a. allocating sufficient sites in the Site Allocations DPD to meet the identified 

need for pitches for Gypsies and Travellers (both permanent and transit 

pitches);  

b. allocating sufficient sites in the Site Allocations DPD to meet any identified 

need for additional yards for travelling showpeople; and  

c. protecting existing permanent sites which are authorised for Gypsy and 

Traveller use; 

 

2) Proposals for new gypsy and traveller and travelling showpeople sites will be 

considered in line with Development Management Policy DM15 

 

3.9 This consultation paper now seeks comments on proposals to update the 
strategic policy for traveller provision in the new Local Plan in light of the 
publication and findings of the new GTAA. In light of the findings for a net 
residual pitch requirement of 42 pitches over the plan period a more refined 
sequential policy approach is now proposed and set out in Section 4. 
 

 

  

Page 140



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

12 

 

4.0 Proposed Traveller Strategy in the Local Plan 

 

Sequential Approach 

4.1 Within the Local Plan, and for the purposes of meeting the identified need for 
pitches set out in the new GTAA, a sequential policy approach is proposed to 
be incorporated into the Core Strategy Review. This is proposed as: 

 

1. Allocate and safeguard all existing authorised traveller sites; 
2. Ensure all pitches on authorised traveller sites are fully utilised; 
3. Identify additional new traveller sites either through expansion of existing 

authorised sites or identification of new sites; 
4. If pitches are still required, consider regularising existing unauthorised 

traveller sites. 
 

4.2 In the rest of this section we set out further details of the impact of this 
proposed sequential approach on specific sites around the Borough, 
including potential site options to consider as new traveller sites. 
 

? 

Question 1:  

Do you agree in principle with the proposed sequential approach to 
meeting Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs in the Borough? If 
not, please state the reasons why and propose an alternative approach. 

 

1.  Allocate and safeguard existing authorised sites 

4.3 Table 1 lists all the existing authorised traveller sites in Hyndburn (Site Refs. 
LA1, Priv1 – Priv12) set out in the GTAA where households were interviewed 
as part of the research. Site plans are set out in Appendix 1. The GTAA was 
commissioned at the end of 2018 with site visits and survey work completed in 
early 2019. In February 2018 planning permission was granted on land to the 
rear of Milton Street, Oswaldtwistle (planning application reference 
11/17/0537) for the change of use from private allotments to a residential 
caravan park for 5 static caravans and 5 smaller caravans. At the time the 
GTAA was commissioned no work had started on site however in recent 
months this has progressed and it is now anticipated to be completed and 
occupied in the near future.  

 
4.4 The applicant and his family are settled travellers and therefore do not meet 

the PPTS definition of a traveller. They would however comprise part of the 
‘cultural’ need as set out in the GTAA. The planning committee report made 
clear that whilst the site is for the applicant and his family members to live on 
permanently (the 5 static caravan pitches), not all the caravans would be for 
the applicant or his extended families and therefore use may result in other 
occupiers including travellers renting or owning some of the caravans. There 
would also be nothing to preclude the caravans on site being occupied by 

Page 141

http://planning.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/WAM/findCaseFile.do;jsessionid=DFDD6159D8EC58D6CAC947FAE328821F?appNumber=11%2F17%2F0537&appType=Planning&action=Search


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

13 

 

travellers at some point in the future. On the balance of these points it is 
therefore considered appropriate to include land to the rear of Milton Street as 
an additional existing authorised site and count 5 traveller pitches as being 
available to meet the identified need over the plan period. 

 
4.5 A location/site plan showing land to the rear of Milton Street is set out in 

Appendix C. 
 

4.6 Table 4 summarises the position of existing authorised sites in the Borough, 
including those listed in the GTAA and including the additional site of land to 
the rear of Milton Street.  

 
Table 4: Existing authorised sites to be safeguarded and residual pitch requirement 
after Stage 1 of the sequential approach 

Site Ref Site name Pitches 

GTAA existing authorised sites 

LA1 Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX 15 

Priv1 Whinney Hill House, Huncoat, BB5 6NX 1 

Priv2 The Yard, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX 1 

Priv3 Sankey House Farm, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX 10 

Priv4 Dineley St., Church, BB5 4JG 1 

Priv5 Sunnydale Caravan Park, Charter St., Accrington, BB5 0LQ  15 

Priv6 Blythes Sidings, Off Blackburn Old Rd., Accrington, BB5 0AE 3 

Priv7 Parsonage Street, Sites 1 and 2, Church, BB5 0HS 2 

Priv8 Springvale Off Springhill Rd., behind Coal Pit Lane, BB5 0EX 3 

Priv9 The Green/Duncan Square, Union Rd., Oswaldtwistle, bb5 0EW 9 

Priv10 Heyes Lane/Stonebridge Lane, Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3HX 1 

Priv11 James St., Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3LJ 6 

Priv12 Fir Trees, Sough Lane, Oswaldtwistle, BB1 2LR 6 

Sub-total (authorised sites set out in the GTAA) 73 

Pitch shortfall (2019 – 2036) (set out in the GTAA) 49 

LA1 Anticipated turnover on Council Site (2019-2036) (GTAA) 7 

11/17/0537 Land to the rear of Milton St., Oswaldtwistle 5 

Residual pitch need  37 

 
4.7 In accordance with the sequential approach set out in paragraph 4.1, the 

Council will first seek to identify these sites on the Proposals Map as existing 
Gypsy and Traveller sites for the Local Plan at Publication Stage. This will 
ensure that Policy within the Core Strategy safeguards these sites for future 
use in the event that a site may become vacant. This approach is intended to 
ensure that the Council can maintain an appropriate level of supply of traveller 
sites8 and also to help reduce the number of unauthorised developments and 
encampments9. 

                                                           
8
 paragraph 4h of PPTS (2015) 

9
 paragraph 4f of PPTS (2015) 

Page 142



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

14 

 

 

? 

Question 2:  

Do you agree that the list of authorised sites referenced/set out in Table 
4 and Appendices A & C identify all existing authorised Gypsy and 
Traveller sites in the Borough?  If not, please provide further details of 
any additional sites. 

 

2. Fully utilise existing pitches on authorised sites 

4.8 The GTAA has identified the existing use of authorised sites in terms of the 
number of pitches currently provided on each site, their occupancy, and the 
number of households present. The Council has reviewed these findings on a 
site by site basis in light of the original planning permissions granted on each 
site.  
 

4.9 The potential to utilise additional pitches under existing planning permissions 
is set out in Table 5 below. The Council has identified a potential further 13 
pitches that it considers could help meet the requirement for pitches set out in 
the GTAA. 

Table 5: Potential additional pitches to be utilised on existing authorised sites 

Site 
Ref 

Site name (planning 
permission reference) 

Pitches 

Existing 
(in use) 
(GTAA)  

Approved 
(planning 
permission)  

Potential 
to meet 
need  

Priv6 Blythes Sidings, Off Blackburn 
Old Rd., Accrington (11/04/0668) 

3 10 
 

Up to 7 

Priv7 Parsonage Street, Sites 1 and 2, 
Church (11/99/0468) 

2 6 
 

Up to 4 

Priv10 Heyes Lane/Stonebridge Lane, 
Oswaldtwistle (11/03/0453) 

1 3 
 

Up to 2 

Total: Max. 13 

 
Table 6: Residual pitch requirement after Stage 2 of the sequential approach 

Site Ref Site name Pitches 

Residual need after Stage 1 (see Table 4) 37 

Potential additional pitches identified at Stage 2 (see Table 5) 13 

Residual need after Stage 2 24 

 

? 

Question 3:  

Do you agree with the approach proposed by the Council to utilise 
additional permitted pitches set out in Table 5 against the pitch 
requirement identified in the GTAA?  If not, please provide reasons why  

 

 

Page 143



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

15 

 

3. Identify additional new traveller sites 

 

4.10 Following Stages 1 and 2 of the proposed sequential policy approach, a 
residual need for 24 pitches is set out in Table 6. Additional new traveller sites 
therefore need to be identified to fully meet the identified need for the plan 
period to 2036. 
 

4.11 Criteria to be considered when allocating new sites for development are set 
out in paragraph 2 of the Council’s Development Management DPD Policy 
DM15 (set out in paragraph 3.6 of this consultation paper). It requires local 
planning authorities to ensure that traveller sites are sustainable economically, 
socially and environmentally. 
 

4.12 Using the criteria set out in Policy DM15, and the information currently 
available to it, the Council has identified 4 potential ‘reasonable alternative’ 
site options. All these sites are currently in private ownership. The purpose of 
this consultation is to further consider the potential for these sites to help meet 
the additional gypsy and traveller pitch requirements to 2036, and also to 
identify any additional site options that the Council has not yet highlighted. 
 

4.13 The potential new traveller site options are set out in Table 7 below.  

Table 7: Potential new traveller site options – pitches calculated at 30 per hectare 
(maximum of 15 on any one site) 

Site Ref Site name Site Source / Reason Owner-
ship  

Size 
(ha) 

Potential 
pitches  

GT-OPT1 Land off Whinney 
Hill Road, BB5 
6NX 

Local Plan Reg18(2) – 
Site Ref 25 (part of) 

Private 3.07 15 

GT-OPT2 Land at Whitebirk 
btw A6119 & L&L 
Canal, BB1 3HT 

Extant employment 
allocation.  
Local Plan Reg18(2) – 
Site Ref 169 

Private 1.58 15 

GT-OPT3 The Barn, Sough 
Lane, BB1 2LR 

Call for Sites 
submission CFS-115 
(GREEN BELT SITE) 

Private 0.14 4 

GT-OPT4 Extension of 
existing 
authorised site at 
Sough Lane, BB1 
2LR  

Considerable family 
need over plan period 
(GREEN BELT SITE) 

Private 0.53 10 

 Total potential pitches 44 

 

4.14 The Council has followed the agreed site assessment methodology from the 
Regulation 18(2) consultation phase of the Local Plan to undertake initial 
desktop based assessments of each of the four site options. The site plans 
and site assessments of each are set out in Appendix D   
 

Page 144



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

16 

 

 

 

? 

Question 4:  

Do you have any comments to make regarding the potential new traveller 
site options and site assessments set out in Table 7 and Appendix D?  

 

? 

Question 5:  

Do you have any additional new traveller site suggestions that can be 
considered as ‘reasonable alternative’ site options for the Publication 
stage (Regulation 19) of the Local Plan? Please provide details.  

 

Unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller Sites 

4.15 The GTAA highlights two further existing traveller sites in the Borough that are 
not reflected in any way in the sequential policy approach set out above. Both 
are existing unauthorised sites in the Green Belt:  
 

1. Smithfield Stables, Moss Lane, Stanhill (Unauth1); and  
2. Smithacres, Back Lane, Baxenden (Unauth2) 

 
4.16 The site at Smithacres has been submitted under the Council’s ongoing ‘Call 

for Sites’ process (ref. CFS-113). The site is not listed as a potential new 
traveller site option in Table 7 as the Council is currently undertaking 
enforcement action against unauthorised encampment at this privately owned 
site. Due to the recent decision by the Council to refuse planning permission 
on the site and ongoing litigation it is not considered to be a ‘reasonable 
alternative’ site option at this stage of the plan making process. 
 

4.17 Subject to the outcomes of the Regulation 18(3) consultation process the 
Council may look at existing unauthorised sites further. However at this stage 
there appears to be sufficient pitches following Steps 1-3 of the sequential 
policy approach set out in this paper. By the time the Council reaches its 
Publication stage of its Local plan under Regulation 19, a clearer view can be 
taken on the merits of each site in the context of the outcomes of the 
consultation process and the residual need for pitches around the Borough. 

 

? 

Question 6:  

Do you agree with the Council’s approach to unauthorised 
encampments? Please provide details.  

 

Page 145

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/site-allocations/4/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/site-allocations/4/


Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

17 

 

Sustainability Appraisal 

4.18 A separate sustainability appraisal addendum report is being prepared by 
consultants10 as part of the integrated appraisal of the Local Plan policies and 
site options.  
 

4.19 Although the two existing unauthorised sites at Moss Lane and Back Lane do 
not currently form part of the sequential policy approach, the Council has 
included these11 in the Sustainability Appraisal alongside the ‘reasonable 
alternative’ new site options listed in Table 7. A separate report sets out the 
findings of this work and will be used to help decide the most suitable 
additional new traveller sites to take forward to the Publication plan.  
 

? 

Question 7:  

Do you have any comments to make about the Sustainability Appraisal 
Addendum Report that accompanies this consultation paper?  

                                                           
10

 Land Use Consultants (LUC) provide an independent sustainability appraisal to inform the Council’s policy 
development and site selection process in the Local Plan. 
11

 The existing unauthorised sites have been assessed in the SA as a fall back option only. They do not currently 
form part of the proposed sequential policy approach to gypsy and traveller provision. 

Page 146



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

18 

 

Appendix A: Site plans of existing authorised Gypsy 
and Traveller Sites identified in the GTAA 

 

Table 1: Existing Gypsy and Traveller Sites in Hyndburn (GTAA, 2019) 

Ref Site name Type Pitches 

LA1 Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 15 

Priv1 Whinney Hill House, Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 1 

Priv2 The Yard, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 1 

Priv3 Sankey House Farm, Whinney Hill Rd., Huncoat, BB5 6NX Auth. 10 

Priv4 Dineley St., Church, BB5 4NG Auth. 1 

Priv5 Sunnydale Caravan Park, Charter St., Accrington, BB5 0LQ Auth. 15 

Priv6 Blythes Sidings, Off Blackburn Old Rd., Accrington, BB5 0AE Auth. 3 

Priv7 Parsonage Street, Sites 1 and 2, Church, BB5 0HS  Auth. 2 

Priv8 Springvale Off Springhill Rd., behind Coal Pit Lane, BB5 0EX Auth. 3 

Priv9 The Green/Duncan Square, Union Rd., Oswaldtwistle, BB5 
0EW 

Auth. 9 

Priv10 Heyes Lane/Stonebridge Lane, Oswaldtwistle, bb5 3HX Auth. 1 

Priv11 James St., Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3LJ Auth. 6 

Priv12 Fir Trees, Sough Lane, Oswaldtwistle, BB1 2LR Auth. 6 

  

Page 147



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

19 

 Page 148



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

20 

 Page 149



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

21 

 

P
age 150



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

22 

 

P
age 151



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

23 

 Page 152



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

24 

 

  

Page 153



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

25 

 

Appendix B: Site plan of existing Travelling 

Showpeople Yard 

 

 

Table 2: Existing Travelling Showpeople Yards in Hyndburn 

Ref Site name Type Plots 

TSP1 Silcocks, Burnley Rd., Altham, BB2 4HA Auth. 20 

Page 154



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

26 

 

P
age 155



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

27 

 

Appendix C: Site plan of additional existing 

authorised Gypsy and Traveller Site 

 

 

Site Ref Site name Pitches 

11/17/0537 Land to the rear of Milton St., Oswaldtwistle 5 

 

 

 

Page 156



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

28 

 

 

  

Page 157



Hyndburn Local Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Site Options Consultation Paper – November 2019 

29 

 

Appendix D: Site plans and site assessments of 

‘reasonable alternative’ site options for new Gypsy 

and Traveller Sites 

 

Site Ref Site name Potential 
pitches  

GT-OPT1 Land off Whinney Hill Road, BB5 6NX 15 

GT-OPT2 Land at Whitebirk btw A6119 & L&L Canal, BB1 3HT 15 

GT-OPT3 The Barn, Sough Lane, BB1 2LR 4 

GT-OPT4 Extension of existing authorised site at Sough Lane, BB1 2LR 10 

 

 

Page 158



 

 
 

 
Page 159



 

 
 Page 160



 

 
 

 
Page 161



 

 
 

Site Assessment Reports to follow once complete … 

Page 162



1 of 4 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Shaheen Amaan in Human Resources.  Shaheen 
can guide you through the process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 163



2 of 4 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
The Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site Options Consultation Paper forms part of the new 
Local Plan for Hyndburn. It will help to set the strategic planning policy for gypsy and traveller 
provision in the Borough against which planning applications for new development will be 
considered, and identify sites required to meet the proposed need for new pitches.  

 

 Who defines and manages it? 
Hyndburn Borough Council, through the Planning Service, including both the Plans and 
Environment and Development Management functions. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
Existing and future residents of the Borough will benefit through the provision of new gypsy and 
traveller pitches and sustainable long-term planning of the growth of the Borough. The traveller 
community will also gain greater upfront certainty on the type and location of development that 
the Council will support. 

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
Inadequate consultation – the accompanying Council Report sets out the detailed consultation 
that has taken place to date along with proposed future consultation. 

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
The Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site Options Consultation Paper will be consulted on in 
accordance with the relevant regulations and the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
The new Local Plan will include a section on monitoring and implementation at a later stage of 
its development. This will ensure the outcomes of all policies are as intended. 

 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
The local community and organisations have been involved with the production of the Local 
Plan in earlier stages. Where justified and appropriate, this version of the document 
incorporates representations received from the community and organisations in previous 
stages.  

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
The Local Plan as a whole is supported by an extensive evidence base which takes into 
account the socio-economic profile of the Borough. A new Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 
Showperson Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) provides an up to date, detailed picture of 
the travelling community in Hyndburn and their needs over the plan period. 
 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
N/A 

 

Page 164



3 of 4 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 
This has been considered where it is relevant to issues of spatial planning and design in the 
preparation of the Local Plan documents and evidence base (e.g. housing needs assessment 
evidence, GTAA). 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
These groups have all been involved in the formulation of the Local Plan documents in earlier 
consultation stages and preparation of these documents. 

 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
There is no evidence of this to date. The statutory consultation phases of the Local Plan held in 
2018 and 2019 have been undertaken in line with the Council’s ‘Statement of Community 
Involvement’ which includes measures are taken to ensure that hard to reach groups are 
engaged. A sustainability appraisal has also been undertaken, and has been updated through 
the process, which assesses the impact of the proposed policies and potential land allocations 
on a range of social, economic and environmental matters.  

 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 
N/A 
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
Not aware of this, every effort will be made to publicise relevant consultations on planning 
policy as it develops in line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement at the 
appropriate time 

 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 
No evidence to this effect 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
Ensure that the future consultations on planning policy and guidance are open to all. The 
Council’s agreed Statement of Community Involvement will be followed wherever practical to 
ensure this objective is achieved. 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
Yes, the Council will undertake further consultation in 2020 before submitting to the Planning 
Inspector who will appoint an examiner to examine the Local Plan. If he/she recommends 
‘Main Modifications’ (changes that materially affect the policies) in order to make the plan 
sound then further consultation would take place on those. 

 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
No 

 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 

Page 165



4 of 4 

This can be made available alongside the adopted plans 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
N/A 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
Next report to Cabinet 
 

 
Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 

 

Page 166



REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 13 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Susan Hedges, Legal Services Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Political Canvassing on Broadway Accrington and the 
Town Square Great Harwood 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To request Cabinet to remove any restrictions relating to political canvassing (the 

systematic initiation of direct contact with individuals commonly used during political 
campaigns) on (i) Broadway Accrington (“Broadway”) and (ii) the Town Square Great 
Harwood (“the Town Square”) both shown outlined in red on the attached plans; and 

 
1.2 To approve the use of Broadway and the Town Square for political canvassing. 
 
1.3 To authorise the Executive Director (Environment) to agree the operation and 

management of political canvassing on Broadway and the Town Square 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet agrees to the removal of the current restrictions prohibiting political 

canvassing on Broadway and the Town Square; and 
 
2.2 That Cabinet approves the use of Broadway and the Town Square for political 

canvassing; 
 
2.3 That Cabinet delegates to the Executive Director (Environment) authority to finalise the 

detail of how political canvassing will be managed and operated on Broadway and the 
Town Square including agreeing the process with the Company that the Council has 
appointed to manage Broadway. 

 
 
 
 

Page 167

Agenda Item 6.



3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Broadway and the Town Square are popular spaces and the Council wants to make 

the best use that it can of these areas to benefit the residents of Hyndburn.  
 
3.2 The Council is keen to encourage activities, events and entertainment on areas such 

as Broadway and the Town Square and now intends to widen the approved uses of 
both these areas.  Currently charitable and leisure activities are generally permitted in 
these areas, subject to having been given the appropriate permissions and licences. 

 
3.3 Political canvassing on Broadway and the Town Square has been prohibited for a 

number of years.  At the time that this decision was taken by the Council it was 
considered to be a proportionate and reasonable approach.  However as there are 
have been significant changes in the political climate over recent years it is not 
considered that the previous prohibition is still required. 

 
3.4 The Council has approached the Company that manages the letting of space on 

Broadway.  The detail as to how requests for political canvassing on Broadway will be 
processed and managed has not yet been agreed with the Company.  The Council’s 
Executive Director (Environment) will finalise this process in respect of both Broadway 
and the Town Square.   

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could continue to prohibit political canvassing on Broadway and the Town 

Square but this may mean not using these public spaces to their full potential. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There are no direct financial implications for 
the Council  

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Political Canvassing on Broadway and the 
Town Square will be subject to 
approval/permission from the Council or its 
contractor  

Assessment of risk 
 

The risks will be minimal provided that the 
process of obtaining permission is properly 
managed throughout 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 

 

Page 168

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1  Not applicable 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



El

5

8

Melbourne House

Bank

20
15

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

8a

29

2

5

ED
 B

dy

52 50

138.7m

2

9

Hote
l

Office

4

21

14

101
99

9
8

20

56

Chapel

136.9m

28

11

PH

9

1

T
C

B
s

5

5

INFANT STREET

18

7

31

6
W

ard B
dy

5

BURNLE
Y R

O
AD

Sub Sta

1

25

8

29
25

25

ED
 &

 W
ard B

dy

Market Hall

17

5

29a

19

1

22

1

1 to
 3 10

50

64

22

21

Bro
adway

Cornhill Arcade

136.6m

22
 t

o
 2

6

1

4

103

2

27

House

20

3

32

Multistorey

BACK W
ATER STREET

E
A

S
TG

A
TE

7

5

3

25a

Bank

60

STREET

2

(Pol Sta)

139.0m

6

16

Town Hall

TCB

17

7

10

PLEC
K

 R
O

A
D

56

10 8

17

11

1

10

48

16

3

46

54

8a

2

MASON

3

4

48

C
R

34

30
34

52

El Sub Sta 6

46

62

4

41

Bro
ad

way

10

28

1

13 to 17

11

Car Park

7

24

5

WATER STREET

1

U
N

IO
N

 STR
E

E
T

23

19

Arndale

Post

26
Corn

hill
 A

rc
ad

e

40

Club
P

E
E

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

25

18

11

13 to
 19

43

27

Bank

3

31

19

16

6

Date:05 November 2019

Title: Land at Broadway, Accrington

(c) Crown copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey LA 100022321 HBC

Produced using GGP. (C) Crown Copyright reserved. Scale: 1:1250

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



16

2
6

SQUARE

2

6

10

1

Old Town Hall

Enterprise

W
el

lin
g

to
n

TOWN GATE

TOWN

Centre

(P
H

)

4

CURATE STREET

18

15

TCB

9

2A

8

The PO

18a

6

3

HALL

7

1

School C
ott

118.0m

Memorial

16

119.5m

Building

121.0m

18

TCB

H
o

te
l

Mercer

Hall

8

Not HBC owned

Date:05 November 2019

Title: Land at Town Hall Square, Great Harwood

(c) Crown copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey LA 100022321 HBC

Produced using GGP. (C) Crown Copyright reserved. Scale: 1:500

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 6 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Paul Cox - Deputy Leader - Environmental 
Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Littering and Dog Fouling Enforcement - 12 month 
update 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To provide an update on the 12 month pilot agreement approved by Cabinet on 18th 

July 2018 and which commenced on 5th November 2018. 
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet approve the continued use of external enforcement services to tackle littering 

and dog fouling offenders and; 
  
2.2 Cabinet agrees to waive the Council’s contract procedures rules and approve an 

extension to the existing 12 month service level agreement with LA Services up to 31st 
March 2020 and; 

 
2.3 Cabinet request the Executive Director (Environment) to undertake a tendering 

exercise and delegate authority to him, following consultation with the Portfolio Holder, 
to agree terms with and appoint a suitably experienced external enforcement 
contractor as set out in paragraphs 3.12 and 3.13 of the report.  

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Following a review of the Council’s litter and dog fouling enforcement action, Cabinet 

requested officers to submit a proposal to tackle those irresponsible residents whose 
actions blemish the local environment.  

 
3.2 As there were insufficient resources in-house to undertake a major drive in tackling 

litter and dog fouling and in line with a wish to have enforcement officers on the ground 
for the opening of Accrington’s new Town Square, Kingdom Services Group was 

Page 175

Agenda Item 7.



 

appointed on a pilot 12 month service level agreement, (a subsequent review of its 
structure saw the enforcement side of Kingdom changed to ‘LA Support Ltd’).  

3.3 Enforcement staff were authorised by the Council to issue ‘on the spot fines’ through 
the use of Fixed Penalty Notices, (FPN’s) at an agreed value of £75, with 14 days to 
make the payment. Cabinet members requested a 2 week period of public education 
prior to the first FPN’s being issued, to raise public awareness of the need to dispose 
of litter responsibly and clean up after dogs. 

3.4 The 12 month pilot agreement would enable the Council to gain a better picture of its 
long-term operational and resource requirements for a service of this type and allow 
the Council to procure a service that meets its needs over the longer term. 

  
Results 

3.5 During the two week education period, four officers undertook 314 hours patrolling the 
town centre handing out around 500 letters advising offenders they could be issued 
with a FPN in future. 

 
3.6 The table below shows how many PFN’s were issued for each of the 11 months of the 

pilot. The reasons for the variances can be partly answered by; fluctuating staffing 
levels, FPN’s only starting to be issued from 19th November and no patrols over the 
Public Holiday periods. 

  
2018 2019 

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep 

           

128 178 184 230 284 160 159 217 177 208 219 

  
Under the agreement, the Council has access to view ‘live’ information on LA Services 
recording system and over the pilot period the following statistical information is 
available; 

  
 Gender/Age 

61% of FPN’s were issued to males and 39% to females. Of these;  
 

 4% -  under 20 years old 

 43% - 20 to 39  

 33% - 40 to 59 

 13% - 60+ 

 7% - unknown  
 
Ethnicity 

 88% - White North/South European 

 3.5% - Asian  

 0.5% - Chinese 

 0.5% - Arabic or North African 

 0.5% - Black 

 7% - unknown 
 

  

Page 176



 

Number and Location of all PFN’s Issued 
2,138 FPN’s have been issued over the pilot period and the locations are below; 
 

 990 - Accrington Town Centre 

 768 - Accrington 

 6 - Altham 

 1 - Baxenden 

 31 - Church 

 56 - Clayton Le Moors 

 139 - Great Harwood 

 22 - Huncoat 

 68 – Oswaldtwistle 

 57 – Rishton 
 
FPN Status 
Of the 2,138; 
 

 1,163 have been paid. 

 315 are still within the payment window period. 

 330 have been ‘written off’ (e.g. mental health reasons, incorrect details, 
unable/uneconomical to pursue). 

 60 were cancelled (e.g. age of offender, evidence shortfall, officer misconduct). 

 270 have been referred to the Council’s legal section for non-payment. 
 

Prosecutions 
Of the 270; 
 

 85 cases have been fined by the courts 

 7 have been served at court and are awaiting a hearing date 

 The remaining are being processed 
 
3.7 LA Support Ltd operates their own procedures and policies for issuing FPN’s and 

responding to complaints/contesting the FPN. Whilst the Council is not aware of those 
sent direct to LA Support, evidence from the system shows they are writing 
off/cancelling a number of the FPN’s following their own internal investigations.    

 
3.8 During the pilot period, eleven people have contacted the Council to complain/contest 

the use of FPN’s, none of which were actually denying the offence. Of these, the 
Portfolio Holder has watched the video footage in relation to four complaints which 
alleged inappropriate officer behaviour and he concluded the LA Support officer’s 
acted in a professional manner.  

 
3.9 The pilot agreement was based on LA Support retaining 90% of all FPN’s paid and the 

Council receiving the remaining 10%. The value of this income over the pilot period is 
reduced by the cost of LA Support officers providing the 2 weeks education 
programme as requested by Members. The Council will receive approximately £3,000 
which will be reinvested into the street cleansing service.  

 

Page 177



 

3.10 Where there is no payment within the initial 14 days period, LA Support will issue two 
reminder letters. If after these the FPN is still outstanding, the case is passed over to 
the Council’s legal services team to prosecute for non-payment. Any fines issued are 
retained by the courts with the Council only receiving minimal legal and investigation 
costs at the sole discretion of the court.  

 
3.11 It is difficult to gauge resident support for the enforcement action, other than in the 

local press/on social media, which have both positive and negative comments. 
However, officers have seen a reduction in litter complaints and cleansing operatives 
and Councillors have provided feedback on improvements in the level of street 
cleanliness.  

 
3.12 When approving the 12 month pilot agreement, Cabinet requested a further report to 

evaluate the success of the pilot before any decision is taken as to the long term 
continuation of a litter and dog fouling enforcement programme. Due to the timing of 
the report, and if Cabinet so wishes to continue tackling litter and dog fouling by 
external enforcement services, it will not possible to undertake a tender exercise 
before the pilot period expires. 

 
3.13 The 12 month pilot agreement expires on 4th November 2019. However, LA Services 

are in agreement to continue with the current pilot agreement/arrangements until 31 
March 2020. Extending the pilot agreement would allow sufficient time for a tender 
exercise to be undertaken for the provision of Litter and Dog Fouling Enforcement 
Services and would also include the option for enforcement action against litter being 
thrown from vehicles following new legislation that allows enforcement action to be 
taken against the vehicle’s registered keeper.  

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council no longer undertakes enforcement action against littering and dog fouling. 

This option is not recommended and would reverse the improvements seen in street 
cleansing as people would quickly become aware there was no longer the potential for 
being issued with a FPN if they dropped litter or did not clean up after their dog. 

  
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Portfolio Holder and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

The current agreement sees LA Support 
retaining 90% and the Council 10% of all FPN 
payments they receive. 
 
It is hoped the Council can enter into a similar 
revenue share/cost neutral service level 
agreement through the tender exercise. 

Legal and human rights The approval to extend the pilot agreement is 

Page 178



 

implications required in order for the Council to undertake 
and fulfil its legal obligations in relation to the 
timely procurement of a new contract without 
a break in the enforcement services.  
 
There are no human rights implications other 
than those addressed in the CFA annexed to 
the report in July 2018. 

Assessment of risk 
 

There is low financial risk as the tender will 
look to engage enforcement services on a 
similar revenue share/cost neutral service 
level agreement. 
 
Full Cabinet and cross party member support 
will ensure there is limited risk to the 
Council’s reputation. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

Provided with original Cabinet report 18th July 
2018. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet meeting 18th July 2018 and 6th June 2019.  

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on the 31st October 2019. 

Page 179

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 13 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Paul Cox - Deputy Leader - Environmental 
Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Accrington Markets – Review of Rents and Charges 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government Act 
1972, Schedule 12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To consider offering a discount on rents at the Market Hall to certain traders in return 

for these traders agreeing to new leases and working practices which will help the 
Council reduce its ongoing operating costs. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet approves the discount in rental charges for the indoor Market Hall set out 

in paragraphs 3.4 and 3.5 and subject to the conditions in paragraph 3.6 of this report 
with effect from 1st January 2020 for a period of 3 years; and 

 
2.2 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director (Environment) in 

consultation with the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to agree the  
terms and conditions of the leases between the Council and each individual indoor 
Market Hall tenant and to sign the same on behalf of the Council; and 

 
2.3 That in exceptional circumstances, authorisation be given to the Executive Director 

(Environment), following consultation with the Portfolio Holder responsible for the 
Markets and Leader of the Council, to negotiate and agree other or additional 
incentives with current market trader/s where the trader/s concerned is/are considered 
to contribute significantly to the appeal of all stall holders or footfall in the Market or 
otherwise brings significant added value to the Market as a whole; and 

 
2.4 That Cabinet notes the discount in rents will reduce income levels for the final quarter 

of the financial year 2019/20 and it is unlikely any efficiency savings will offset this 
immediately as they will take time to implement and filter through. 

 
2.5 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director (Environment) following 

consultation with Portfolio Holder responsible for the Markets to periodically review and 
amend the Council’s Market Regulations as they shall consider expedient. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 8.



 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Trading conditions on the high street continue to face unprecedented pressures from 

reduced footfall, on-line shopping and out of town centre retail centres/supermarkets. 
The indoor Market Hall has not been immune from these pressures, as shown by a 
number of traders recently leaving and current occupancy levels are at 55%. 

  
3.2 On 22 September 2017, the Council’s Estates Manager produced a Valuation Report 

recommending charges per square foot that could be used to determine the level of 
rents within Accrington Market. At its meeting on 29th August 2018, Cabinet agreed to 
a reduction in rents by 13.4%, and adjustments to service charges for the indoor 
Market Hall traders, phased in over a 12 month period from 1st October 2018 and gave 
authorisation to consider extended incentive terms/rates under exceptional 
circumstances for incoming indoor tenants that would provide significant added value 
to all stall holders. At that time, Cabinet was not asked to consider extended incentives 
terms/rates to current indoor tenants that would also continue to provide significant 
added value but it is now recognised this was an oversight. 

 
3.3 The indoor Market Hall traders, whilst acknowledging the 13.4% reduction, continued 

to make representations to Officers, the Portfolio Holder responsible for Markets and 
other Councillors, that the rents are too high compared to those being offered for other 
buildings around the town centre. A number of tenants that left to set up trading 
elsewhere cited high rents as the main factor and provided an example to the Portfolio 
Holder. A discount in rents could place the Markets in a stronger position to retain 
existing tenants and attract new traders, as well as an incentive for some outside 
traders to move into the indoor Market Hall. 

 
3.4 The proposal sets out a 30% discount in rental charges within the indoor Market Hall, 

which would reduce the current £19 sq. ft. charge to £13.30 sq. ft. There is no proposal 
to make any further adjustments to service charges and the following traders will not 
benefit from any discount in their rental charges. 

 

 Indoor Balcony traders – Current average weekly rent £35 

 Peel Street shops – Current average charge £19.44 sq. ft. 

 Pavilion Kiosks – Current average charge £18.52 sq. ft. 
 
3.5 The 30% discount would see the monthly rental charge for an average indoor Market 

Hall stall reduce from around £577 + VAT to around £405 + VAT. This is a decrease of 
£172 per month or £43 per week and would reduce rental income to the Council by 
approximately £54,000 per annum. Whilst this will place additional financial pressures 
on the Market’s current overspend forecast for 2019/20, for 2020/21 and beyond, most 
of this discount could be offset by the expected savings proposal.  

 
3.6 The discount offered to indoor Market Hall tenants is conditional that they sign a new 3 

year lease and make all monthly rent or other payments via Direct Debit, (DD) and 
adhere to the Council’s Market Regulations. Where a current indoor market trader is in 
arrears, no discount will be applied to the arrears and this must still be cleared within 
the previously agreed timescales. The 30% discount will only commence once the new 

Page 182



 

3 year lease has been signed by the tenant and the tenant has provided proof the DD 
mandate is in place. 

 
3.7 Any tenant not agreeing to these conditions will remain on the £19 sq. ft. rental charge.  
 
3.8 A review of the market staffing structure is currently underway and should be 

implemented before the end of the financial year. If approved and implemented, the 
proposals could have the potential to offer savings in the region of £50,000 per annum. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could leave the rents at the current level. This has been rejected because 

there is a political wish to see the Market Hall occupied and operating a range of 
traditional market stalls and no desire for lower occupancy levels. 

 
4.2 The Council could consider discounting a different rate. Property owners/landlords are 

offering substantially lower rents or 12 month free rent / service charges for 
comparable trading premises. Whilst the Council is not in a position to match long 
period rent free, there is a political wish to see the full efficiency savings offered up as 
the discount.  

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Portfolio Holder, Executive Director (Environment) and the Markets Manager have 

held meetings with the indoor traders in July and September 2019.  The strong views 
made at both meetings were the indoor Market Hall rental charges needed to be 
substantially reduced. 

 
5.2 Legal Services. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

Market income continues to show a downward 
trend with a current shortfall against the historic 
budget income level in the region of £180,000. 
The proposed 30% discount in rents within this 
report would reduce income further by 
approximately £54,000 per annum. However, 
the staffing review could have the potential to 
offer savings in the region of £50,000 per 
annum. Whilst not matching the whole figure, it 
could offset most the cost of the rents discount. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 

The majority of traders are holding over on 
their occupancy leases and therefore the 
Council will be requiring traders to sign up to 
new leases, approved by Legal Services staff 

Page 183



 

and sign up to all payments by DD to access 
the new charges proposed within this report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

This further discount attempts to bring the 
indoor Market Hall charges closer to 
comparable town centre rental charges. The 
risk from the decision is that the discount does 
not make any difference to the long term 
performance of the Market Hall, that the deficit 
continues to grow and the discount adds 
further pressures to the Council’s financial 
budget. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

N/A 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet report 29 August 2018: Accrington Market – Review of Charges 

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2368&Ver=4  

 
 Cabinet Report of the 14th of February 2018: - Market Hall Rents and Charges Review 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2192&Ver=4 

 

Page 184

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2368&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2192&Ver=4


1 of 4 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 13 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for 
Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Annual Ombudsman’s Letter 2019 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report informs Committee about the annual Local Government Ombudsman’s 

(LGO’s) letter for 2019 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Committee welcomes the Ombudsman’s letter and notes this report. 

 
 
3. Background and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1   The LGO has now published its annual complaint figures in respect of each local 

authority.  

3.2      The LGO receives a low level of complaints about Hyndburn, which makes it difficult to 
identify trends from the statistical information provided. The low level of complaints 
may however reflect good service delivery and / or a good internal complaint handling 
process.  

3.3    In summary, in 2018/19 the LGO received 8 complaints about the Council. The table 
below shows the service areas to which the complaints related and compares this to 
the position in the last two financial years: 

 

 

 

Page 185

Agenda Item 9.



2 of 4 

 

2018/19  2017/18  2016/17  

Benefits & CT 3 Benefits & CT 1 Benefits & CT 0 

Environmental 
Services 

1 Environmental 
Services 

4 Environmental 
Services 

2 

Housing                                                                1 Housing                                                                2 Housing                                                                1 

Planning                                                            3 Planning                                                            7 Planning                                                            2 

Corporate Services                            0 Corporate Services                            0 Corporate Services                            1 

Total  8 Total  14 Total  6 

 

 

3.4      During this period the LGO also determined 11 complaints about the Council. Details 
are set out in the table below, which also compares this to the position in the last 2 
financial years: 

2018/19  2017/18  2016/17  

Complaint not 
upheld                                            

4 Complaint not upheld                                            3 Complaint not upheld                                            0 

Sent back to HBC                     5 Sent back to HBC                     6 Sent back to HBC                     3 

Closed after initial 
enquiry        

2 Closed after initial 
enquiry        

2 Closed after initial 
enquiry        

3 

Upheld                                      0 Upheld                                      0 Upheld                                      1 

Total  11 Total  11 Total  7 

 

 

           Complaints will usually be referred back to the Council for resolution because the 
complaint to the Ombudsman was made before the complainant had been through the 
Council’s own complaints procedure. 

3.5      Most importantly, the Ombudsman’s letter does not flag up any areas of concern about 
either the Council’s services or its procedures for dealing with complaints. 

3.6   The table below shows a comparison between the Council’s position and that of 
neighbouring District Councils over the same period. This exercise also does not 
indicate any obvious cause for concern in respect of the Council, with Hyndburn 
receiving a comparable number of complaints to its neighbours: 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



3 of 4 

 

Council Complaints 
received 

Complaints 
decided 

Complaints upheld after 
detailed investigation 

Hyndburn 8 11 0 

Burnley 7 7 0 

Pendle 8 8 1 

Rossendale 18 19 2 

Ribble Valley 8 9 1 

Chorley 10 12 3 

South Ribble 16 15 0 

Preston 26 25 3 

West Lancs 9 11 1 

Lancaster 9 7 0 

 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 None. This is a report for information. 

5. Implications 
 

Issue 
 

Comments 

Financial (including 
mainstreaming) 
 

No costs identified. 
 

Legal 
 

No issues identified. 

The Ombudsman’s letter gives an indication of the 
Council’s approach to dealing with complaints. A fair and 
open complaint handling process is one indicator of the 
strength of the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. 

Assessment of Risk 
 

No risks identified. 

Equality 
 

No equality issues identified. 

 
6. Consultations 
 
6.1  None. 
 
 

Page 187



4 of 4 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 
List of Background Papers  

 
 Ombudsman’s letter dated 24th July 2019 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1      The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 13 November 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Wendy Redfern – Licensing Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and 
Procedures for Hackney carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing so as to extend the issue of a 6 month 
licence plate to vehicles up to the age of 10 years old. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet approves the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing.  
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Council are responsible for setting the vehicle testing frequency for hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicles, which in turn determines the period of the licence 
that is issued. Currently vehicles under the age of 2 years are tested annually and 
issued with a 12 month licence.  Vehicles between the age of 2 years and 7 years are 
tested every 6 months and issued with a 6 month licence and vehicles over the age of 
7 years are tested every 4 months and issued with a 4 month licence. A vehicle cannot 
remain licensed beyond the age of 15 years. 

 
3.2 Recently, when carrying out impromptu roadside inspections of licensed vehicles in 

conjunction with the police and officers from DVSA it has been noted that the 
standards of the vehicles being checked has risen and that less improvement notices 
are being issued.  The hackney carriage and private hire proprietors have taken on 
board guidance from licensing officers and have co-operated with them to ensure that 
the standards are raised.  

 
3.3 Officers now believe that the 6 month licence could be extended to include vehicles up 

to the age of 10 years.  This is because of the improvements as set out above and 

Page 189

Agenda Item 10.



 

 

because officers are now carrying out more frequent roadside inspections which would 
highlight any potential issues between tests. Blackburn Council which is our closest 
neighbour issues licences for 6 months and if Hyndburn do not consider doing the 
same, it is possible that vehicles will be taken to Blackburn to get a 6 month licence 
and then come back into Hyndburn to work.  If this were to happen we would have no 
authority over the standard of the vehicles. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could take no action and continue with the current policy and frequency of 

testing, however officers do not feel that there would be any additional benefit to public 
safety and in fact there could be a detrimental effect to public safety as owners migrate 
to neighbouring authorities to have vehicles tested and licensed then come back into 
this area to work leaving us with no control over the safety and comfort of the vehicles.   

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 There has been no formal consultation, however officers are aware that this is a move 

that is highly supported by members of the hackney carriage and private hire trade. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

 
None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

No specific risks have been identified.  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who 
don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

Page 190

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Cabinet in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process 
and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
Cabinet is advised to consider the Customer 
First Analysis and its obligations in respect 
of the public sector equality duty when 
making a decision in respect of the 
recommendations contained in this report.  

 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing. 
 
Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis. 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 193



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
Public Safety 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
 Licensing Officers/ Licensing Manager and the Executive Director of Legal and Democratic 
 Services. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Hackney carriage and Private Hire owners, members of the public and the Council 
   

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
  
 Failure to have regard to the policy when making decisions. 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Letters to all proprietors.  Publication of the updated policy on our website 
 
2. Evidence 
 
 Improved vehicle safety and standards 
 
3. Impact 
 
The policy will ensure that vehicles continue to be licensed in this authority and can be subject to 
proper enforcement and scrutiny by our officers 
 

 
Name:   Wendy Redfern                              Signed: _________________________ 
 
Service Area:  Licensing                          Dated: 25th September 2019 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 194



Page 1 of 4 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet  

DATE: 13 November  2019 

PORTFOLIO Housing & Regeneration 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen McCue-Melling Regeneration & Property 
Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Lease Renewal – Hyndburn Voluntary & Community 
Resource Centre, St James Old School Building, 
Cannon Street, Accrington. AMENDED REPORT 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval, taking into account amended financial implications (Part 6),  to 

accept the surrender of the existing lease of St James Old School Building, Cannon 
Street, Accrington from Hyndburn Voluntary & Community Resource Centre Ltd 
(HVCRC) and grant  them  a new  25 year lease.  

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to accept  the surrender of the current 10 year 

lease of St James Old School Building, Cannon Street, Accrington by  Hyndburn 
Voluntary & Community Resource Centre Ltd and agrees to grant a new 25 year lease 
to Hyndburn Voluntary and Community Centre Ltd for nil consideration  on the basis 
that, having considered part 3 of this report and the amended financial implications in 
part  6 of this report,  Cabinet is satisfied that the grant of the lease and the proposed 
usage of the building will continue to promote the social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing of the Borough. 

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
 
3.1 HVCRC currently hold a lease of St James Old School Building, Cannon Street, 

Accrington  which is due to expire on 18th September 2024. HVCRC have requested a 

Page 195

Agenda Item 11.



Page 2 of 4 
 

new 25 year lease on similar terms to the existing lease to satisfy conditions required 
in relation to a grant of  £165,708 from the Reaching Communities - Buildings  Big 
Lottery Fund (BLF). This lease will assist  HVCRC  to satisfy conditions of the grant 
offer from BLF by enabling  BLF to be provided with a satisfactory certificate of title 
from their solicitor, together with  a completed deed of dedication and evidence that  a 
restriction on the title of the land and buildings has been registered in favour of BLF. 

 
3.2    The offer of the grant of £165,708 from BLF has been made to the HVCRC in an offer 

letter dated 24th April 2018. HVCRC will be expected to deliver building works 
comprising  new, modern and accessible facilities, including new kitchens and toilets, 
redecoration and replacement of internal doors throughout, in addition to an automated 
door entry system at the main entrance of the building. This work aims to increase the 
number of activities and services, and number of people  attending them, who are 
elderly, disabled and indeed all members of the community, thus improving community 
cohesion, health and wellbeing and reducing social exclusion.  

 
3.3 The original lease of the building was granted for a term of 7 years less one day from 

20th September 2004. The replacement lease was for a term of 3 years to 19th 
September 2014. The current lease is for a period of 10 years from 19th September 
2014. All previous leases including the current one were granted subject to the tenant 
paying a nominal peppercorn rental. 

 
3.4 The lease will include a user clause which stipulates that the building should be used 

as a community resource centre in accordance with the tenant company’s charitable 
objectives.  

 
3.5  The building is currently used by a range of organisations delivering key services to a 

diverse range of groups and clients with over 300 people visiting the site weekly. A 
range of social activities take place including yoga, dance and fitness classes available 
to young and old, both during the day and in the evenings. The centre also hosts the 
Red Rose Recovery  and Smart Recovery Circle. Both groups work with vulnerable 
members of the community in helping them deal with addictions, behavioural issues, 
encourage self development and rebuild self esteem and confidence. They provide 
help and support through activities and  training and the groups work with multi-
agencies to  aid recovery and reduce dependency on drugs and  alcohol.  

  
3.6    The grant offer is conditional on BLF approving a Capital Delivery Plan and  Business 

Plan (which is currently a work in progress by HVCRC) and entering into a lease with 
the Council and this has been suggested by the BLF to be for a term of 25 years. 

 
3.7    The lease will include a full repair and maintenance clause and, as such, it is expected 

that income derived from the activities will be reinvested into the building for 
maintenance and repairs, including those identified in a recent condition survey of the 
building, and are not dependant on HVCRC receiving the grant from BLF. In 2017 
HVCRC reported to BLF a surplus of £29,018. 

 
 

Page 196



Page 3 of 4 
 

3.8     The tenant will, in accordance with the lease, be expected to ensure they comply will all 
relevant legislation whilst in occupation and provide the Council as landlord with 
evidence of that compliance.   

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The building could be used as offices with a potential annual rental income of 

£25,000.However, there is currently a surplus of office accommodation in the Borough 
and therefore this income is not guaranteed. 

 
4.2 If an alternative use were to be supported, the Council would need to bring the current 

lease to an end by serving the appropriate notice. It would then need to advertise the 
building available to let or for sale. There is already a surplus of vacant buildings in the 
town centre and the current proposal  supports the Council’s policy to transfer under 
used assets to suitable community groups where this is possible.  

 
4.3 The building could be opened up to other community groups, but the Council has not 

been approached by others to manage this building. In addition the current tenant has 
a good track record of providing community based activities and services from this 
building. Another group may not have the same success rate. 

 
4.4    The new 25 year lease is a prerequisite of the BLF providing £165,708 to HVCRC which 

will be used to upgrade the building and facilities. Not providing the lease will  
jeopardise this funding opportunity  and HVCRC would then be unlikely to be able to 
afford to carry out these improvements. This does not negate their liabilities under the 
terms of the lease to carry repairs and maintenance of the site. 

   
4.5   To charge market rent for the building could mean the tenant does not enter a new 

lease, the  BLF funding opportunity would be lost and vital services could cease.  
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Disposals Cabinet Working Group, the Chief Executive and the Leader have been 

consulted regarding the renewal of the lease at a pepper corn rent. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

On the basis that that the rental value of the 
building is £25,000 per annum for office use, 
letting the building for a term of 25 years at a 
£nil rental would result in an approximate 
opportunity cost of £625,000 loss of rental 
income. Rental values can increase or reduce 
over the next 25 years. 
The loss of income is offset by repairing and 
maintenance costs that will be picked up by 

Page 197



Page 4 of 4 
 

the tenant and the building will benefit from 
improvements made as a result of them 
receiving £165,708 from the BLF. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Any lease granted for a term of seven years 
or more must be at full market value in order 
to comply with Section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. The exception to this 
is where the proposed use falls within one of 
the “wellbeing grounds”  (i.e. that it promotes 
the economic, social, and environmental 
wellbeing of the Borough, or all or part of its 
residents) referred to in  
Circular 06/03: Local Government Act 1972 
General Disposal Consent (England) 2003. 
This is provided that the opportunity cost 
(loss) is less than £2million. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

The main risk of granting a 25 year business 
tenancy at £nil rental is financially significant 
but the value of the services provided at the 
building need to be considered and the 
impact if such services were lost. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

Attached 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet Reports: 20th May 2004; 14th September 2011; 30th July 2013, 20th March 

2019 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 

Page 198

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 3 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and narrowing 
inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and practices 
on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the meaning of the previous 
general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis before making the relevant policy 
decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of the 
analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written record will 
be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions which are relevant (or 
briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A meaningful Analysis will help 
the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the process 
if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 199



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 3 

Customer First Analysis 

 
1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
Enter into a new 25 year lease with  Hyndburn Voluntary & Community Resource Centre, 
Cannon Street, Accrington  
 
Who defines and manages it? 
 
The Hyndburn Voluntary & Community Resource Centre currently have a 10 year legal 
agreement with the Council to occupy and manage the former St James’ School, Cannon 
Street Accrington  for a range of activities, services and social groups. In order to qualify for 
£165,708 of Big Lottery Funding the HVCRC require a 25 year lease. The HVCRC intend to 
use the funding to carry out a programme of alterations and upgrades throughout the building 
including new toilets, kitchens, decorations and improve the main by way of installing an 
automated door system.  

 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 
Indirect financial savings – please see main report. 
All users of the facility and services 
The lease will secure the BLF funding which in turn will improve the facility that in  addition to 
carrying out physical improvements to the Council’s building will help keep the services 
delivered from here sustainable.  

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 
N/A 

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 
N/A 

 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 
 

The centre is already open to a wide variety of groups offering services to the elderly, those 
with behavioural issues and substance misuse in addition to exercise and other recreational 

Page 200



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

3 of 3 

activities held at the centre. The new lease will facilitate external funding that will improve the 
environment for those delivering and receiving vital services to the community. The new 
automated entrance door in particular will mean access to the building for those with mobility 
issues is made much easier than present. 
 

 
We are not aware of any group reporting discrimination or exclusion from the range of 
activities, clubs and services that have been running from the centre since 2004 

 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 

The current groups using the centre are benefitting.  To provide or assist in the provision of 
facilities in the interests of social welfare for recreation or other leisure time occupation of 
individuals, with a preference to young persons under the age of 25 years of age.”  The stated 
list of who the Charity helps (from Charity Commission website) is: children/young people; 
elderly/old people; people with disabilities; other charities or voluntary bodies; and the general 
public/mankind. 

 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 

 Do you need to consult further? 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

This decision would be in line with the Government’s Community Asset Transfer policy.  We 
will no longer have responsibility for the building or the activities that take place but we believe 
that this will provide greater benefit to the community. 
 
 

Name: Helen McCue-Melling                            Signed: _________________________ 
 
Service Area: Regeneration & Property          Dated:16/10/19 
 

If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 201

http://beta.charitycommission.gov.uk/charity-details/?regid=1158857&subid=0


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	5. Gypsy and Traveller Planning Policy (Local Plan Regulation 18(3) Consultation)
	Appendix 1 - Final GTAA
	Appendix 2 - Gypsy and Traveller Consultation
	Appendix 3 - Customer First Analysis - GTAA

	6. Political Canvassing on Broadway Accrington and Town Square Great Harwood
	Appendix 1 - Broadway Plan
	Appendix 2 - Town Square Plan

	7. Littering and Dog Fouling Enforcement - 12 Month Update
	8. Accrington Markets - Review of Rents and Charges
	9. Annual Ombudsman Letter 2019
	10. Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
	Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis - Licensing

	11. Lease Renewal - Hyndburn Voluntary & Community Resource Centre, St James Old School Building, Cannon Street, Accrington
	Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis - HVCRC


